DENTONS US LLP

Tania M. Moyron (admitted *pro hac vice*) Van C. Durrer, II (admitted *pro hac vice*) 601 S. Figueroa Street

Suite 2500

Los Angeles, CA 90017 Telephone: (213) 623-9300 Facsimile: (213) 623-9924

Email: tania.moyron@dentons.com
van.durrer@dentons.com

John D. Beck (admitted *pro hac vice*) Sarah M. Schrag (admitted *pro hac vice*) 1221 Avenue of the Americas

New York, NY 10020-1089 Telephone: (212) 768-6700 Facsimile: (212) 768-6800 Email: john.beck@dentons.com

sarah.schrag@dentons.com

Counsel for Debtors and Debtors in Possession

BROWN RUDNICK LLP

Robert J. Stark, Esq. Kenneth J. Aulet, Esq. Bennett S. Silverberg, Esq. Jeffrey L. Jonas, Esq. Seven Times Square New York, NY 10036

Telephone: (212) 209-4924 Facsimile: (212) 938-2924

Email: rstark@brownrudnick.com
kaulet@brownrudnick.com
bsilverberg@brownrudnick.com
jjonas@brownrudnick.com

Counsel for the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors

TOGUT, SEGAL & SEGAL LLP

Frank A. Oswald (admitted) 550 Broad Street Suite 1508

Newark, NJ 07102 Telephone: (212) 594-5000

Facsimile: (212) 967-4258 Email: frankoswald@teamtogut.com

Albert Togut (admitted pro has vise)

Albert Togut (admitted *pro hac vice*) Eitan Blander (admitted *pro hac vice*)

One Penn Plaza, Suite 3335
New York, New York 10119
Telephone: (212) 594-5000
Facsimile: (212) 967-4258
Email: altogut@teamtogut.com
eblander@teamtogut.com

Counsel for Debtors and Debtors in Possession

GENOVA BURNS LLC

Daniel M. Stolz (admitted)
Donald W. Clarke (admitted)
110 Allen Road, Suite 304
Basking Ridge, NJ 07920
Telephone: (973) 533-0777
Facsimile: (973) 814-4045
Email: dstolz@genovaburns.com

dclarke@genovaburns.com

Counsel for the Official Committee of Unsecured

Creditors

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Main Document Page 2 of 5

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

In re:	Chapter 11
Powin, LLC, et al.,1	Case No. 25-16137 (MBK)
Debtors.	(Jointly Administered)

NOTICE OF FILING OF AMENDED PLAN SUPPLEMENT

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on June 9, 2025 and thereafter (the "<u>Petition Date</u>"), Powin, LLC and its debtor affiliates, as debtors and debtors in possession (collectively, the "<u>Debtors</u>") in the above captioned chapter 11 cases (the "<u>Chapter 11 Cases</u>") filed voluntary petitions for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>") with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of New Jersey (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>").

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on October 14, 2025, the Bankruptcy Court entered an order [Docket No. 939] (the "Solicitation Procedures Order") (a) conditionally approving the *Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [Docket No. 914] (as may be amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time and including all exhibits and supplements thereto, the "Combined Plan and Disclosure Statement" or the "Plan"), solely as it relates to the disclosures contained therein, as containing "adequate information" pursuant to section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code, pending final approval at the Combined Hearing (as defined below); (b) authorizing the Debtors and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (together, the "Plan Proponents") to solicit acceptances for the Combined Plan and Disclosure Statement; (c) approving the solicitation materials and documents to be included in the solicitation packages (the "Solicitation Packages"); and (d) approving procedures for soliciting, noticing, receiving, and tabulating votes on the Plan and for filing objections to the Plan or final approval of the Disclosure Statement.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT, on November 7, 2025, the Debtors filed the Notice of Filing Plan Supplement [Docket No. 1036] (the "<u>Initial Plan Supplement</u>") in support of the Plan.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that as contemplated by the Plan and the Solicitation Procedures Order, the Debtors hereby file this first amendment to the Plan Supplement (the "Amended Plan

The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: (i) Powin Project LLC [1583]; (ii) Powin, LLC [0504]; (iii) PEOS Holdings, LLC [5476]; (iv) Powin China Holdings 1, LLC [1422]; (v) Powin China Holdings 2, LLC [9713]; (vi) Charger Holdings, LLC [15241]; (vii) Powin Energy Ontario Storage, LLC [8348]; (viii) Powin Energy Operating Holdings, LLC [2495]; (ix) Powin Energy Operating, LLC [6487]; (x) Powin Energy Storage 2, Inc. [9926]; (xi) Powin Energy Ontario Storage II LP [5787]; (xii) Powin Canada B.C. Ltd. [2239]; and (xiii) Powin EKS SellCo, LLC [9110]. The Debtors' mailing address is 20550 SW 115th Avenue Tualatin, OR 97062.

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Combined Plan and Disclosure Statement.

<u>Supplement</u>") with the Bankruptcy Court, which amends and supersedes the Initial Plan Supplement. The Amended Plan Supplement contains the following documents:

- **EXHIBIT A**: Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases
- **EXHIBIT B**: Schedule of Retained Causes of Action
- **EXHIBIT C**: Liquidating Trust Agreement
- **EXHIBIT D**: Direct Claims Trust Agreement
- **EXHIBIT E**: Service Provider Payments Schedule
- **EXHIBIT F**: Initial Trust Budget
- **EXHIBIT G**: Liquidation Analysis
- EXHIBIT H: Notice of Settled Priority Claim
- **EXHIBIT I**: Notice of Settlement of WARN Claims

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the hearing at which the Bankruptcy Court will consider final confirmation of the Combined Plan and Disclosure Statement (the "Combined Hearing") will commence on **November 25, 2025 at 11:30 a.m. (prevailing Eastern Time)**, or such other time that the Bankruptcy Court determines, before the Honorable Michael B. Kaplan, United States Bankruptcy Judge, Clarkson S. Fisher United States Courthouse, 402 East State Street, Second Floor, Courtroom 8, Trenton, NJ 08608.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the deadline for filing objections to the Combined Plan and Disclosure Statement or the adequacy of the disclosures contained therein is November 18, 2025 at 4:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern Time) (the "Confirmation Objection Deadline"). All objections to the relief sought at the Combined Hearing must: (a) be in writing; (b) state in particularity the basis of the objection; and (c) be filed with the Clerk of the Bankruptcy Court electronically by attorneys who regularly practice before the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with the General Order Regarding Electronic Means for Filing, Signing, and Verification of Documents dated March 27, 2002 (the "General Order") and the Commentary Supplementing Administrative Procedures dated as of March 2004 (the "Supplemental Commentary") (the General Order, the Supplemental Commentary and the User's Manual for the Electronic Case Filing System can be found at www.njb.uscourts.gov, the official website for the Bankruptcy Court) and, by all other parties-in-interest, if not otherwise filed with the Clerk of the Court electronically, via hard copy, and shall be served in accordance with the General Order and the Supplemental Commentary upon the following parties so as to be actually received on or before the Combined Objection Deadline:

- (a) The Debtors c/o Uzzi & Lall, One Liberty Plaza, 115 Broadway, 5th Floor, New York, NY 10006 (Attn: Gerard Uzzi, guzzi@uzzilall.com);
- (b) Counsel to the Debtors, Dentons US LLP, 601 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2500, Los Angeles, CA 90018 (Attn: Tania M. Moyron, tania.moyron@dentons.com, and Van C. Durrer II, van.durrer@dentons.com);
- (c) Counsel to the Debtors, Togut, Segal & Segal LLP, One Penn Plaza, Suite 3335, New York, NY 10119 (Attn: Frank A. Oswald, frankoswald@teamtogut.com);
- (d) Counsel for the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors, Brown Rudnick LLP, Seven Times Square, New York, NY 10036 (Attn: Robert J. Stark, rstark@brownrudnick.com, Kenneth Aulet, kaulet@brownrudnick.com, and Bennett S. Silverberg, bsilverberg@brownrudnick.com);

- (e) Counsel for the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors, Genova Burns LLC, 110 Allen Road, Suite 304, Basking Ridge, NJ 07920 (Attn: Daniel M. Stolz, dstolz@genovaburns.com); and
- (f) The Office of the United States Trustee, One Newark Center, 1085 Raymond Boulevard, Suite 2100, Newark, NJ 07102 (Attn: Jeffrey M. Sponder, jeffrey.m.sponder@usdoj.gov).

ONLY THOSE RESPONSES OR OBJECTIONS THAT ARE TIMELY FILED AND RECEIVED WILL BE CONSIDERED BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT. RESPONSES OR OBJECTIONS NOT TIMELY FILED AND SERVED IN THE MANNER SET FORTH ABOVE WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED AND WILL BE DEEMED OVERRULED.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that if you should have any questions about the Amended Plan Supplement, the Solicitation Package or if you would like to obtain paper copies or additional copies of the Plan, the Amended Plan Supplement or any other solicitation materials, please contact the Debtors' voting agent, Verita Global (the "Voting Agent") by: (a) visiting the Debtors' case website at: https://www.veritaglobal.net/powin (where you can obtain electronic copies of all documents filed with the Bankruptcy Court for free); (b) writing to the Voting Agent at Powin Ballot Processing c/o KCC d/b/a Verita Global, 222 N. Pacific Coast Highway, Suite 300, El Segundo, CA 90245; (c) calling the Voting Agent at (866) 507-8031 (U.S./Canada) or (781) 575-2122 (International); (d) emailing powininfo@veritaglobal.com (with "In re Powin, LLC – Solicitation Inquiry" in the subject line); or (e) submitting an inquiry to the Voting Agent at: https://www.veritaglobal.net/powin/inquiry. You may also obtain copies of any pleadings filed with the Court by visiting the Bankruptcy Court's website at https://njb.uscourts.gov/ (in accordance with the procedures and fees set forth therein). Please be advised that the Voting Agent is authorized to answer questions about, and provide additional copies of, solicitation materials, but may **not** advise you as to the Plan, the interpretation or meaning of any of the provisions contained therein, or whether you should vote to accept or reject the Plan, and will not provide you with any legal or financial advice in connection with the Plan.

SECTION 15.2 OF THE PLAN CONTAINS RELEASE, EXCULPATION, AND INJUNCTION PROVISIONS, AND SECTION 15.2(b) CONTAINS A THIRD-PARTY RELEASE.

YOU ARE ADVISED TO REVIEW AND CONSIDER THE PLAN CAREFULLY BECAUSE YOUR RIGHTS MIGHT BE AFFECTED.

THIS NOTICE IS BEING SET TO YOU FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.

BINDING NATURE OF THE PLAN

IF CONFIRMED, THE PLAN SHALL BIND ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, WHETHER OR NOT SUCH HOLDER RECEIVES OR RETAINS ANY PROPERTY OR INTEREST IN PROPERTY UNDER THE PLAN, HAS FILED A PROOF OF CLAIM IN THESE CHAPTER 11 CASES, FAILED TO VOTE TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN, VOTED TO REJECT THE PLAN, OR IS NOT ENTITLED TO VOTE ON THE PLAN.

Dated: November 8, 2025

POWIN, LLC, et al. Debtors and Debtors in Possession By their Counsel

DENTONS US LLP,

/s/ Tania M. Moyron

Tania M. Moyron (admitted *pro hac vice*) Van C. Durrer, II (admitted *pro hac vice*) 601 S. Figueroa Street #2500 Los Angeles, CA 90017 Telephone: (213) 623-9300

Telephone: (213) 623-9300 Facsimile: (213) 623-9924

John D. Beck (admitted *pro hac vice*) Sarah M. Schrag (admitted *pro hac vice*) 1221 Avenue of the America New York, NY 10020 Telephone: (212) 768-6700

Facsimile: (212) 768-6800 Email: john.beck@dentons.com sarah.schrag@dentons.com

- and -

TOGUT, SEGAL & SEGAL Frank A. Oswald 550 Broad Street Suite 1507 Newark, NJ 07102

Telephone: (212) 594-5000 Facsimile: (212) 967-4258

Email: frankoswald@teamtogut.com

Albert Togut (admitted *pro hac vice*) Eitan Blander (admitted *pro hac vice*) One Penn Plaza, Suite 3335

New York, NY 10119 Telephone: (212) 594-5000 Facsimile: (212) 967-4258 Email: <u>altogut@teamtogut.com</u>

eblander@teamtogut.com

EXHIBIT A

(Schedule of Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases)

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

In re:	Chapter 11
Powin, LLC, et al., 1	Case No. 25-16137 (MBK)
Debtors.	(Jointly Administered)

ASSUMED EXECUTORY CONTRACT AND UNEXPIRED LEASE LIST²

<u>Debtor Party</u>	<u>Counterparty Name</u>	<u>Contract Type</u>
Powin, LLC	activpayroll Ltd.	Master Services Agreement, all outstanding sales quotes, proposals or purchase orders, and all other service and ancillary agreements related thereto
Powin, LLC	CT Corporation System	Order Form - Term and Fees (Quote No. Q-07587) and all other outstanding sales quotes, proposals or purchase orders, including all other service and ancillary agreements related thereto

¹ The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: (i) Powin Project LLC [1583]; (ii) Powin, LLC [0504]; (iii) PEOS Holdings, LLC [5476]; (iv) Powin China Holdings 1, LLC [1422]; (v) Powin China Holdings 2, LLC [9713]; (vi) Charger Holdings, LLC [5241]; (vii) Powin Energy Ontario Storage, LLC [8348]; (viii) Powin Energy Operating Holdings, LLC [2495]; (ix) Powin Energy Operating, LLC [6487]; (x) Powin Energy Storage 2, Inc. [9926]; (xi) Powin Energy Ontario Storage II LP [5787]; (xii) Powin Canada B.C. Ltd. [2239]; and (xiii) Powin EKS SellCo, LLC [9110] . The Debtors' mailing address is 20550 SW 115th Avenue Tualatin, OR 97062.

² Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any Executory Contract on this Assumed Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease List, nor anything contained in the *Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [D.I. 914] (the "Plan"), shall constitute an admission by the Debtors or the Liquidating Trust, as applicable, that any contract is in fact an Executory Contract subject to assumption or rejection pursuant to section 365(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, or that any of the Debtors or the Liquidating Trust, as applicable, has any liability thereunder. The Debtors reserve all rights to amend and/or supplement this Assumed Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease List. Each Executory Contract on this list shall include any amendment, modification, or supplement thereto.

EXHIBIT B

(Schedule of Retained Causes of Action)

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-2 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit B - Schedule of Retained Causes of Action Page 2 of 5

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

Chapter 11
Case No. 25-16137 (MBK)
(Jointly Administered)

SCHEDULE OF RETAINED CAUSES OF ACTION

The Debtors reserve all rights to amend, revise, or supplement this Exhibit B to the Plan Supplement, and any of the documents and designations contained herein, at any time before the Effective Date of the *Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [D.I. 914] (the "Plan"),² or any such other date as may be provided for by the Plan or by order of the Bankruptcy Court.

Except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, including, without limitation, with respect to the Released Parties, all rights to commence and pursue any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, including, without limitation, Causes of Action that are not expressly identified in this Schedule of Retained Causes of Action, are reserved. Neither confirmation of the Plan nor the occurrence of the Effective Date shall in any way affect such rights.

Without in any way limiting the foregoing or the provisions of Section 15.5 of the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, the Liquidating Trustee shall have all rights to enforce, commence, and pursue, as appropriate, any and all Causes of Action, whether arising before or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in this Schedule of Retained Causes of Action, including, without limitation the right to commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action, which shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date. For the avoidance of doubt, such Causes of Action shall include, without limitation, the following:

¹ The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: (i) Powin Project LLC [1583]; (ii) Powin, LLC [0504]; (iii) PEOS Holdings, LLC [5476]; (iv) Powin China Holdings 1, LLC [1422]; (v) Powin China Holdings 2, LLC [9713]; (vi) Charger Holdings, LLC [5241]; (vii) Powin Energy Ontario Storage, LLC [8348]; (viii) Powin Energy Operating Holdings, LLC [2495]; (ix) Powin Energy Operating, LLC [6487]; (x) Powin Energy Storage 2, Inc. [9926]; (xi) Powin Energy Ontario Storage II LP [5787]; (xii) Powin Canada B.C. Ltd. [2239]; and (xiii) Powin EKS SellCo, LLC [9110] . The Debtors' mailing address is 20550 SW 115th Avenue Tualatin, OR 97062.

² Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning afforded in the Plan.

Item No.	Description	Nature of Action
1.	Any and all Avoidance Actions, and all other claims in avoidance, recovery, and/or subordination.	To be determined
2.	Any and all tort claims, including but not limited to breach of fiduciary duty claims, alter ego claims, aiding and abetting claims, against any party other than one released under the Plan.	To be determined
3.	Claim regarding CBP's HTS Code classification and country of origin ruling.	Customs Designation
4.	Claim by Powin regarding payments withheld under Texas 11, 12, and 23 Supply Agreements and the Big Beau project.	Dispute over Liquidated Damages
5.	All claims arising in connection with <i>Ameresco</i> , <i>Inc. and Kupono Solar, LLC v. Powin, LLC</i> , Case No. N24C-04-012 VLM (Del. C.P.).	Dispute over payments under certain contracts
6.	All claims arising from arbitration with C3 Controls (Case No. 1-25-0001-9527) (AAA).	Contract Dispute
7.	All claims arising from arbitration with <i>Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Ltd v. Powin, LLC</i> , Case No. 25-cv-00442 (District Court Arbitration).	Contract Dispute
8.	All claims arising in connection with <i>Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Ltd v. Powin, LLC</i> Case No. 24-cv-59255 (Wash. Cnty. Cir. Ct.).	Contract Dispute
9.	All claims arising from arbitration with <i>Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Ltd v. Powin, LLC,</i> Case No. HKIAC/PA24206 (Hong Kong International Arbitration).	Contract Dispute
10.	All claims arising in connection with action against Enel Produzione S.p.A, Case No. 35416/2022 (Court of Rome).	Breach of Supply and Services Contract
11.	All claims arising from arbitration with Honeywell/Saturn Power (Case No. 01-23-0004-3145) (AAA).	Dispute over insurance and property damage

12.	All claims arising in connection with <i>Jan Jacobson v. Powin, LLC, Powin Energy Corporation</i> , Case No. 24CV22016 (Or. Cir. Ct.).	Breach of Contract
13.	All claims arising in connection with <i>Powin Energy Corporation v. United States</i> , Case No. 23-00092 (Ct. Int'l Trade).	Customs Designation/ Import Designation/ Tariff Refunds
14.	All claims arising in connection with <i>Powin LLC v. United States</i> , Case No. 25-00020 (Ct. Int'l Trade).	Customs Designation/ Import Designation/ Tariff Refunds
15.	All claims arising from arbitration with <i>Prevalon/Hecate Energy Johanna Facility/Mistubishi v. Powin</i> , Case No. 01-24-0008-1077 (AAA).	Breach of LTSA
16.	All claims arising from arbitration with STEM, Case No. 1-25-0001-0138 (AAA).	Breach of Various Agreements
17.	All claims against The Sleeper Group.	Breach of Contract
18.	All claims against UQI Storage.	Claim for Demurrage Charges
19.	All claims against Wilson Fire Equipment & Service Co., Inc.	Breach of Contract Unpaid Invoices
20.	All claims against CIMC Energy Storage Technology Co., Ltd., CIMC Technology Co., Ltd., Qingdao CIMC Container Manufacture Co. Ltd., China International Marine Containers (Group) Co., Ltd., and any other affiliate entities.	To be determined
21.	All claims against any parties not released in the Plan, as set forth in the definitions therein.	To be determined
22.	All claims and causes of action arising in connection with recoveries on account of all unpaid accounts receivable.	To be determined
23.	All Direct Claims, as defined in the Plan, against Non-Debtor parties who are not Released Parties related to or in connection with these Chapter 11 Cases including those which may be asserted against the Debtors' Prepetition Lenders and their affiliates, or the former directors, officers, shareholders or insiders of the Debtors, or the prepetition advisors or professionals retained by the Debtors in each case to the extent they are not otherwise Released Parties.	To be determined

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-2 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit B - Schedule of Retained Causes of Action Page 5 of 5

24.	All claims in connection with turnover of cash collateral accounts securing bonds, credit card programs, and other financing obligations.	To be determined
25.	All claims arising in connection with the Energy Equipment Supply Agreement or escrow agreement with Pulse Clean Energy SPV Watt Limited.	To be determined
26.	All claims arising in connection with the Energy Equipment Supply Agreement or escrow agreement with DTE Energy.	To be determined

EXHIBIT C

(Liquidating Trust Agreement)

POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST

POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST AGREEMENT

Dated as of [●], 2025

Pursuant to the Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and
Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof
and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors

Dated October 15, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I AC	GREEMENT OF TRUST	3
1.1	Creation and Name	3
1.2	Purpose	3
1.3	Transfer of Assets	4
1.4	Acceptance of Assets and Assumption of Liabilities	6
ARTICLE II PO	OWERS, TRUST ADMINISTRATION, AND REPORTING	7
2.1	Powers	7
2.2	General Administration	10
2.3	Reporting	12
ARTICLE III A	ACCOUNTS, INVESTMENTS, AND PAYMENTS	13
3.1	Accounts	13
3.2	Investment Guidelines	14
3.3	Payment of Operating Expenses	14
3.4	Distributions to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries	15
ARTICLE IV T	RUSTEE; DELAWARE TRUSTEE	18
4.1	Number	18
4.2	Term of Service	18
4.3	Compensation and Expenses of the Trustee	20
4.4	Standard of Care; Exculpation	20

	4.5	Protective Provisions	222
	4.6	Indemnification	23
	4.7	Trustee Independence	25
	4.8	No Bond	25
	4.9	Burden of Proof	25
	4.10	Reliance by the Trustee	26
	4.11	Books and Records	27
	4.12	Delaware Trustee	27
	4.13	Trust Meetings	32
	4.14	Matters Requiring Consultation with TOC	34
	4.15	Matters Requiring Consent of TOC	34
	4.16	Trustee's and TOC's Employment of Professionals.	35
ARTI	CLE V TAX I	MATTERS	37
	5.1	Treatment of Settlement Consideration Transfer	37
	5.2	Income Tax Status	37
	5.3	Tax Returns	38
	5.4	Withholding of Taxes and Reporting Related to Liquidating Trust	
		Operations	39
	5.5	Valuation	40
	5.6	Expedited Determination of Taxes	41
	5.7	WARN Act Claim Reserve	41

ARTICLE VI LI	QUIDATING TRUST OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE	43
6.1	Members; Action by Members.	43
6.2	Duties	44
6.3	TOC Information Rights; Reports	44
6.4	[Reserved.]	45
6.5	Term of Office.	454
6.6	Appointment of Successor	46
6.7	Compensation and Expenses of the TOC	46
6.8	Procedures for Consultation with and Obtaining the Consent of the TO	OC. 47
ARTICLE VII G	ENERAL PROVISIONS	49
7.1	Irrevocability	49
7.2	Term; Termination	49
7.3	Amendments	50
7.4	Severability	51
7.5	Notices	51
7.6	Successors and Assigns	54
7.7	Limitation on Liquidating Trust Interests for Securities Laws Purpose	s54
7.8	Exemption from Registration	544
7.9	Entire Agreement; No Waiver	55
7.10	Headings	55
7.11	Governing Law	55
7.12	Dispute Resolution	56
7.13	Waiver of Conflicts	59

7.14	Effectiveness	59
7.15	Counterpart Signatures	598
7.16	Waiver of Trial by Jury	599
EXHIBIT 1 DEBTO	ORS WIND-DOWN ADMINISTRATION	63
EXHIBIT 2 CERTII	FICATE OF TRUST OF THE POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST	65
FXHIRIT 3 INVFS	TMENT GUIDELINES	67

POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST AGREEMENT

This Powin Liquidating Trust Agreement (this "Trust Agreement"), dated the date set forth on the signature page hereof and effective as of the Effective Date, is entered into pursuant to the Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors Docket No. [939] (as may be further amended or modified, the "Plan"), in Case No. 25-16137 (MBK) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware ("Bankruptcy Court") by the Trustee identified on the signature pages hereof (the "Trustee") and [______] (the "Delaware Trustee"), and the members of the Oversight Committee who are the individuals further identified on the signature page hereto (together with any successors serving in such capacity, the "TOC" and, together with the Trustee and the Delaware Trustee, the "Parties").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Plan contemplates the creation of the Powin Liquidating Trust (the "Liquidating Trust");

WHEREAS, the Confirmation Order has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Liquidating Trust is established to (i) receive and liquidate, sell, or dispose of the Liquidating Trust Assets as set forth in the Plan; (ii) cause all net proceeds of the Liquidating Trust Assets, including proceeds of Causes of Action on behalf of the

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have their respective meanings as set forth in the Plan, and such definitions are incorporated herein by reference. All capitalized terms not defined herein or in the Plan, but defined in the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules, shall have the meanings ascribed to them by the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules, and such definitions are incorporated herein by reference.

Liquidating Trust, to be deposited into the Liquidating Trust; (iii) initiate actions to resolve any remaining issues regarding the allowance and payment of Claims including, as necessary, initiation and/or participation in proceedings before the Court; (iv) to take such actions as are necessary or useful to maximize the recoveries to holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims (the "Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries" and the interests in the Liquidating Trust held by such Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, the "Liquidating Trust Interests"); (v) effectuate the wind-down of the Debtors as set forth in the Plan; and (vi) in its capacity as Distribution Agent, to make the payments and distributions ("Liquidating Trust Distributions") to Holders of Allowed Claims, including Holders of Allowed Administrative, Priority, and General Unsecured Claims in accordance with the Plan, the Confirmation Order and this Trust Agreement (the "Governing Documents") and otherwise implement the Plan;

WHEREAS, the Trustee shall administer the Liquidating Trust in accordance with the terms of the Governing Documents;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Liquidating Trust is intended to qualify as a "liquidating trust" within the meaning of Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations, and a "grantor trust" for United States federal income tax purposes, pursuant to Sections 671-679 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "**IRC**"), with the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries treated as the grantors of the Liquidating Trust, except with respect to any Disputed Ownership Fund pursuant to Section 5.3(c); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Trustee shall also serve in the capacity of Wind-Down Officer of the Debtors and their affiliated entities in accordance with the terms of the Confirmation Order, the Plan, and the terms set forth in **Exhibit 1**. **NOW, THEREFORE,** it is hereby agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I

AGREEMENT OF TRUST

1.1 Creation and Name

There is hereby created a trust known as the "Powin Liquidating Trust." The Trustee of the Liquidating Trust may transact the business and affairs of the Liquidating Trust in the name of the Liquidating Trust, and references herein to the Liquidating Trust shall include the Trustee acting on behalf of the Liquidating Trust. It is the intention of the Parties that the Liquidating Trust qualify as a "liquidating trust" within the meaning of Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations and that this Trust Agreement constitute the governing instrument of the Liquidating Trust, except with respect to any Disputed Ownership Fund. The Trustee and the Delaware Trustee are hereby authorized and directed to execute and file a Certificate of Trust with the Delaware Secretary of State in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit 2**.

1.2 **Purpose**

The purposes of the Liquidating Trust are to:

- (a) receive and liquidate the Liquidating Trust Assets pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the Confirmation Order;
- (b) pursue, and if applicable, resolve (by way of settlement, judgment, or otherwise) the Causes of Action, in accordance with the Plan;

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 11 of 74

- (c) hold, manage, protect and invest the Liquidating Trust Assets, together with any income or gain earned thereon and proceeds derived therefrom (collectively, the "**Trust Assets**"), and monetize any non-liquid Trust Assets, in accordance with the terms of the Governing Documents for the benefit of the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the liquidating purposes of the Liquidating Trust;
- (d) make distributions of Trust Assets to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Trust Agreement and the Plan;
- (e) qualify at all times as a "liquidating trust" within the meaning of Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations, except with respect to any Disputed Ownership Fund; and
- (f) engage in any lawful activity that is appropriate and in furtherance of the purposes of the Liquidating Trust to the extent consistent with the Governing Documents.

1.3 **Transfer of Assets**

Pursuant to, and in accordance with Article 13.3(c) of the Plan, the Liquidating Trust has received the Liquidating Trust Assets to fund the Liquidating Trust. The Liquidating Trust Assets and any other assets to be transferred to the Liquidating Trust under the Plan will be transferred to the Liquidating Trust free and clear of any liens or other claims by the Debtors, any creditor, or other entity.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in the Plan, the Liquidating Trust shall waive, and shall not pursue or seek to monetize, any and all preference actions, including which may be asserted pursuant to section 547 of the Bankruptcy Code, against any Contributing Direct

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 12 of 74

Claim Holder. For the avoidance of doubt, all preference actions against entities that are not a Contributing Direct Claim Holder shall not be waived.

The Direct Claims Trust and this Liquidating Trust have a common, joint interest in the Causes of Action. Pursuant to the terms of this Trust Agreement, the Trustee is authorized to utilize any privileged documents or communications in his or her capacity as Direct Claims Trustee, and the Trustee is authorized to utilize any privileged documents belonging to the Direct Claims Trust in his or her capacity as Trustee, in each case without any prior notification to the Contributing Direct Claim Holders, and the Trustee is authorized to receive and utilize any such privileged documents or communications in his or her discretion, in connection with the Causes of Action.

For purposes of this Section 1.3, "privilege" means attorney-client privilege or work product protection (or both as the case may be) as those terms are defined in Federal Rule of Evidence 502(g) or any other privilege or immunity available under any applicable law. All communications between the Trustee and the TOC shall be deemed privileged and confidential communications, it being acknowledged that the subject matter of such communications is with respect to common litigation interests. Such communications shall not be disclosed to any third parties except as may be required by an order of a court of competent jurisdiction upon prior notice to the Trustee or to the extent permitted under the cooperation provisions of this Section 1.3; provided, however, that the Trustee may reference or utilize such communications in a complaint or other court pleading; provided, further, that the Trustee takes customary precautions to preserve the confidentiality of such documents including but not limited to filing such complaints or other court pleadings under seal or redact references to such documents and/or communications, as appropriate, unless a court of competent jurisdiction orders otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt,

the TOC, each member serving on the TOC, and each Liquidating Trust Beneficiary shall have no right, title or interest in and/or to any privilege or immunity that the Contributing Direct Claim Holders transfer, assign, and deliver to the Direct Claims Trust and the Trustee in his or her capacity as the Direct Claims Trustee, and such privilege and immunity shall only be the Direct Claims Trust's and Trustee's in its capacity as the Direct Claims Trustee to preserve, assert or waive.

1.4 Acceptance of Assets and Assumption of Liabilities

- (a) In furtherance of the purposes of the Liquidating Trust, the Liquidating Trust hereby expressly accepts the transfer to the Liquidating Trust of the Liquidating Trust Assets in the time and manner as, and subject to the terms, contemplated in the Plan.
- (b) In furtherance of the purposes of the Liquidating Trust, except as otherwise provided in this Trust Agreement or the Plan, the Liquidating Trust shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses the Debtors had with respect to any Cause of Action immediately before the Effective Date to the extent necessary to administer such Cause of Action in accordance with this Trust Agreement and the Plan.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no provision herein shall be construed or implemented in a manner that would cause the Liquidating Trust to fail to qualify as a "liquidating trust" within the meaning of Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations.
- (d) In this Trust Agreement, the words "must," "will," and "shall" are intended to have the same mandatory force and effect, while the word "may" is intended to be permissive rather than mandatory.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 14 of 74

(e) The Bankruptcy Court shall have continuing jurisdiction over the Liquidating Trust, provided, however, that the courts of the State of Delaware, including any federal court located therein, shall also have jurisdiction over the Liquidating Trust.

ARTICLE II

POWERS, TRUST ADMINISTRATION, AND REPORTING

2.1 **Powers**

- (a) The Trustee is and shall act as a fiduciary to the Liquidating Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Governing Documents. The Trustee shall, at all times, administer the Liquidating Trust in accordance with the purposes set forth in Section 1.2 above and the Plan. Subject to the limitations set forth in the Governing Documents, the Trustee shall have the power to take any and all actions that, in the judgment of the Trustee, are necessary or proper to fulfil the purposes of the Liquidating Trust, including, without limitation, each power expressly granted in this Section 2.1, any power reasonably incidental thereto and not inconsistent with the requirements of Section 2.2 below, and any trust power now or hereafter permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware.
- (b) Except as required by applicable law or as otherwise specified herein or in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the Trustee need not obtain the order or approval of any court in the exercise of any power or discretion conferred hereunder.
- (c) Without limiting the generality of Section 2.1(a) above, and except as limited herein, including as set forth in Sections 4.14 and 4.15 of this Trust Agreement, or by the Plan, the Trustee shall have the power to:

- (i) receive and hold the Liquidating Trust Assets and exercise all rights with respect thereto;
- (ii) invest the monies held from time to time by the Liquidating Trust in accordance with the Investment Guidelines pursuant to Section 3.2 below;
- (iii) incur expenses and other obligations of the Liquidating Trust necessary to carry out the purposes of the Liquidating Trust in accordance with this Trust Agreement and the Plan, and pay or satisfy such obligations from the Liquidating Trust Assets as set forth in this Trust Agreement and the Plan;
- (iv) to borrow such sums of money or enter into litigation funding agreements, at any time and from time to time, for such periods of time, upon such terms and conditions, from such Persons, for such purposes as the Trustee deems reasonable;
- (v) establish such funds, reserves, and accounts within the Liquidating Trust, as the Trustee deems useful in carrying out the purposes of the Liquidating Trust;
- (vi) investigate, prosecute, settle, abandon or compromise any Causes of Actionthe Debtors held against any Entity;
- (vii) establish, supervise, and administer the Liquidating Trust and make distributions to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries pursuant to the terms of Governing Documents;
- (viii) appoint such officers and retain such consultants, advisors, independent contractors, experts and agents and engage in such legal, financial, administrative, accounting, investment, auditing, forecasting, and alternative dispute resolution services and activities as the Liquidating Trust requires, and delegate to such persons such powers and authorities as the fiduciary duties of the Trustee permit and as the Trustee, in his or her

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 16 of 74

discretion, deems advisable or necessary in order to carry out the terms of this Trust Agreement;

- (ix) pay reasonable compensation from the Liquidating Trust Assets for any of the Liquidating Trust's consultants, advisors, independent contractors, experts, and agents for legal, financial, administrative, accounting, investment, auditing, forecasting, and alternative dispute resolution services and activities as the Liquidating Trust requires, as well as the fees and expenses of the TOC and TOC Professionals, in each case, subject to the procedures set forth herein;
- (x) pay reasonable compensation from the Liquidating Trust Assets for the Trustee, the Delaware Trustee, consultants, advisors, independent contractors, experts and agents, and reimburse the Trustee and the Delaware Trustee for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by such persons in connection with the performance of their duties hereunder, in each case, subject to the procedures set forth herein;
- (xi) enter into such other arrangements with third parties as the Trustee deems useful in carrying out the purposes of the Liquidating Trust, provided such arrangements are not material and do not conflict with any other provision of this Trust Agreement or the Plan;
- (xii) in accordance with Section 4.4 below, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless (and purchase insurance indemnifying) the Trust Indemnified Parties (as defined in Section 4.4 below), to the fullest extent that a statutory trust organized under the laws of the State of Delaware is from time to time entitled to defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and/or insure its directors, trustees, officers, employees, consultants, advisors, agents, and

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 17 of 74

representatives. No party shall be indemnified in any way for any liability, expense, claim, damage, or loss for which he or she is liable under Section 4.4 below;

- (xiii) commence and pursue viable Causes of Action in accordance with the Plan and this Trust Agreement;
- (xiv) object to the Disputed Claims and prosecute, settle, compromise, withdraw or resolve in any manner approved by the Bankruptcy Court such objections; and
- (xv) exercise any and all other rights, and take any and all other actions as are permitted, of the Trustee in accordance with the terms of this Trust Agreement and the Plan.
- (d) The Liquidating Trust shall not have the power to guarantee any debt of other persons.
- (e) The Trustee shall endeavour to make timely distributions and not unduly prolong the duration of the Liquidating Trust.
- (f) The Trustee shall consult with the TOC on the matters set forth in Section 4.14 below. The Trustee shall obtain the consent of the TOC prior to taking action with respect to the matters set forth in Section 4.15 below, as and to the extent set forth therein.

2.2 **General Administration**

(a) The Trustee shall act in accordance with the Governing Documents. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Trust Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control. For the avoidance of doubt, this Trust Agreement shall be construed and implemented in accordance with the Plan, regardless of whether any provision herein explicitly references the Plan.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 18 of 74

- (b) The Trustee shall (i) timely file such tax returns and pay any taxes imposed on the Liquidating Trust in accordance with Section 5.3, (ii) comply with all applicable reporting and withholding obligations in accordance with Section 5.4, (iii) satisfy all requirements necessary to qualify and maintain qualification of the Liquidating Trust as a "liquidating trust" within the meaning of Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations, except with respect to any Disputed Ownership Fund, and (iv) take no action that could cause the Liquidating Trust to fail to qualify as a "liquidating trust" within the meaning of Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations, except with respect to any Disputed Ownership Fund or the WARN Act Claim Reserve.
- (c) Other than the obligations of the Trustee specifically set forth in the Governing Documents, the Trustee shall have no obligations of any kind or nature with respect to his or her position as such.
- (d) The Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust shall fully cooperate with each other with respect to their respective investigation and/or prosecution of any Causes of Action. As indicated in Article I, Section 1.3 of this Trust Agreement, cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, sharing and/or exchanging documents obtained in discovery and such other forms of mutual cooperation that, in the sole discretion of the Trustee is appropriate and in the best interest of the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust. Such cooperation shall be subject to all available common interest protection and/or privileges applicable to the foregoing investigation and/or prosecution.
- (e) In the event that (i) the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust prosecute related claims against a single defendant, (ii) a recovery is received related to such claims, and (iii)

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 19 of 74

the Trustee determines in his or her commercially reasonable judgment that there is no clear allocation of such recovery between claims brought by the Liquidating Trust and claims brought by the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee shall allocate such recovery to the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with the Direct Claims Trust Agreement.

2.3 **Reporting**

- (a) The Trustee shall timely prepare, file and distribute such statements, reports and submissions to the extent required by applicable law.
- (b) The Trustee shall cause to be prepared and filed with the Bankruptcy Court, no later than thirty-one (31) days after June 30 and December 31 of each calendar year, a semi-annual report (the "Semi-Annual Report") regarding the administration of property subject to its ownership and control pursuant to the Plan, distributions made by it and other matters relating to the implementation of the Plan.
- (c) The Trustee shall cause to be prepared and filed with the Bankruptcy Court, as soon as available, and in any event no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days following the end of each fiscal year, an annual report (the "Annual Report") containing special-purpose financial statements of the Liquidating Trust (including, without limitation, a special-purpose statement of assets, liabilities and net claimants' equity, a special-purpose statement of changes in net claimants' equity and a special-purpose statement of cash flows). The Trustee shall not be required to obtain an audit of the Annual Report by a firm of independent certified public accountants. The Annual Report shall be made available to the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries by means of actual notice, provided, however, the Trustee may post the Annual Report on a website maintained by

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 20 of 74

the Liquidating Trust in lieu of actual notice to each Liquidating Trust Beneficiary (unless otherwise required by law) (the "Website").

ARTICLE III

ACCOUNTS, INVESTMENTS, AND PAYMENTS

3.1 **Accounts**

- (a) The Trustee shall maintain one or more accounts (the "**Trust Accounts**") on behalf of the Liquidating Trust with one or more financial depository institutions (each a "**Financial Institution**").
- (b) The Trustee may replace any retained Financial Institution with a successor Financial Institution at any time, and such successor shall be subject to the considerations set forth in Section 3.1(a) above.
- (c) The Trustee may, from time to time, create such accounts and reasonable reserves within the Trust Accounts as authorized in this Section 3.1 and as he or she may deem necessary, prudent or useful in order to provide for distributions to the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries and may, with respect to any such account or reserve, restrict the use of money therein for a specified purpose (the "Trust Subaccounts"). Any such Trust Subaccounts established by the Trustee shall be held as Trust Assets and, except as specifically designated as such in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.3(c) or 5.7 below, are not intended to be subject to separate entity tax treatment as a "disputed claims reserve," a "disputed ownership fund," or a "qualified settlement fund" within the meaning of the IRC or Treasury Regulations.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 21 of 74

3.2 **Investment Guidelines**

- (a) The Trustee may invest the Trust Assets in accordance with the Investment Guidelines, attached hereto as **Exhibit 3** (the "**Investment Guidelines**").
- (b) In the event the Liquidating Trust holds any non-liquid assets, the Trustee shall own, protect, oversee, and monetize such non-liquid assets in accordance with the Governing Documents. This Section 3.2(b) is intended to modify the application to the Liquidating Trust of the "prudent person" rule, "prudent investor" rule and any other rule of law that would require the Trustee to diversify the Trust Assets.
- (c) Cash proceeds received by the Liquidating Trust in connection with its monetization of the non-liquid Trust Assets shall be invested in accordance with the Investment Guidelines until needed for the purposes of the Liquidating Trust as set forth in Section 1.2 above.

3.3 **Payment of Operating Expenses**

(a) All operating expenses of the Liquidating Trust shall be paid from the Liquidating Trust as provided in the Plan. The Direct Claims Trust expenses will be advanced by the Liquidating Trust and will be repaid upon realization of a recovery of Direct Claims Trust Assets before distribution of any proceeds to the beneficiaries of the Direct Claims Trust or any cooperation payment to the Liquidating Trust. None of the Trustee, Delaware Trustee, the TOC, the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, nor any of their officers, agents, advisors, professionals or employees shall be personally liable for the payment of any operating expense or other liability of the Liquidating Trust. Except as expressly set forth in the Plan, none of the Debtors, nor any of their officers, agents, advisors, professionals or employees shall be liable for the payment of any

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 22 of 74

operating expense or other liability of the Liquidating Trust, the Trustee, the Delaware Trustee or the TOC. To the extent that the Trustee determines that the Liquidating Trust is likely to incur a cash shortfall prior to the termination and winding up of the Liquidating Trust, the Trustee may determine to establish cash reserves from the corpus of the Liquidating Trust, which cash reserves shall be allocated equitably to the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries by the Trustee in his or her judgment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any fees and expenses attributable to the WARN Act Claim Reserve Account, as determined by the Liquidating Trustee in its reasonable discretion, shall be paid only out of assets held in the WARN Act Claim Reserve Account.

3.4 Distributions to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries

- (a) The Trustee will make distributions to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries in a fair, consistent and equitable manner in accordance with the Governing Documents.
- (b) Distributions to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries shall be made, as determined by the Trustee in his or her discretion subject to the terms of the Plan, provided, however, the Liquidating Trust must distribute at least annually to the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries its net income plus all net proceeds from the sale of assets, except that the Liquidating Trust may retain an amount of net proceeds or net income reasonably necessary to maintain the value of its assets or to meet claims and contingent liabilities (including disputed claims). To the extent there is not sufficient Cash transferred to the Liquidating Trust on the Effective Date to satisfy the Distributions required to be made to the holders of Allowed Administrative and Priority Claims, holders of such Allowed Claims shall be considered Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries (including, but not limited to, for purposes of Articles III, V, and VII) until such time as the shortfall is satisfied

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 23 of 74

and their Allowed Claims are paid in full in accordance with the Plan. Thereafter, distributions should be made pro rata based on their Liquidating Trust Interests.

- Person any and all amounts, determined in the Trustee's reasonable sole discretion, required by any law, regulation, rule, ruling, directive, or other governmental requirement (including, without limitation, tax withholding in accordance with Section 5.4 below). Any Trust Assets which are undistributable in accordance with this Section 3.4 as of the termination of the Liquidating Trust shall (i) revert to the Liquidating Trust (notwithstanding any applicable foreign, federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws to the contrary); (ii) the Allowed General Unsecured Claim with respect to such undistributable amount shall be released, settled, compromised and forever barred, and (iii) the undistributable amount shall be reallocated to the other Allowed General Unsecured Claims, in accordance with provisions of the Governing Documents.
- (d) The Trustee may retain a distribution agent for the effective administration and distribution of amounts payable to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries; provided, however, that such distribution agent shall have no greater authority than, and shall be subject to the same restrictions as, the Trustee under this Trust Agreement.
- (e) Subject to Bankruptcy Rule 9010, any distribution to a Liquidating Trust Beneficiary shall be made: (1) at the addresses set forth on the respective proofs of Claim filed by such holders; (2) at the address set forth in any written notices of address changes delivered to the Trustee after the date of any related proof of Claim; or (3) at the address reflected in the schedules if no proof of Claim is filed with the Trustee and the Trustee has not received a written notice of a

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 24 of 74

change of address. Except as set forth in the Plan, if any Liquidating Trust Distribution or other communication from the Liquidating Trust is returned as undeliverable, no further Liquidating Trust Distribution shall be made to such holder unless the Trustee is notified in writing of such holder's then current address. Undeliverable Liquidating Trust Distributions shall remain in the possession of the Trustee until the earlier of (i) such time as a Liquidating Trust Distribution becomes deliverable or (ii) such undeliverable Liquidating Trust Distribution becomes unclaimed property pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and this Trust Agreement. Except as required by law, the Trustee (or its duly authorized agent) shall have no obligation to locate any Liquidating Trust Beneficiary.

- (f) After final Liquidating Trust Distributions have been made in accordance with the Governing Documents, and adequate provision has been made for all final obligations of the Liquidating Trust, the Trustee shall have the authority to direct the remaining Trust Assets to a tax-exempt organization as selected by the Trustee in his or her discretion.
- (g) Checks issued to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries shall be null and void if not negotiated within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the date of issuance thereof. Requests for reissuance of any voided check shall be made directly to the Trustee by the Liquidating Trust Beneficiary to whom such check was originally issued. Any Allowed General Unsecured Claim in respect of such a voided check shall be made within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the date of issuance of such check. If no request is made as provided in the preceding sentence, the check shall be deemed undistributable and shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.4(c).

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 25 of 74

(h) Cash payments to foreign Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries may be made, at the

option of the Trustee, in such funds and by such means as are necessary or customary in the foreign

jurisdiction of such foreign holder.

(i) The Trustee shall have the discretion to determine the timing of Liquidating Trust

Distributions in the most efficient and cost-effective manner possible; provided, however, that the

Trustee's discretion may not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with any express requirements

of the Plan.

(j) Notwithstanding any provision in the Governing Documents to the contrary, the

Trustee, in the Trustee's sole discretion, may decline to make any distribution of \$100 or less, due

to the economic inefficiency of making a distribution of such a de minimis amount.

ARTICLE IV

TRUSTEE; DELAWARE TRUSTEE

4.1 **Number**

In addition to the Delaware Trustee appointed pursuant to Section 4.12 below, there shall

be one (1) Trustee who shall be the person named on the signature pages hereof.

4.2 **Term of Service**

(a) The Trustee shall serve from the Effective Date until the earliest of (i) his or her

death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 4.2(b) below, (iii) his or her removal pursuant

to Section 4.2(c) below, or (iv) the termination of the Liquidating Trust pursuant to Section 7.2

below.

18

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 26 of 74

- (b) The Trustee may resign at any time upon written notice filed with the Bankruptcy Court and delivered to the TOC. Such notice shall specify a date when such resignation shall take effect, which shall not be less than ninety (90) days after the date such notice is given, where practicable.
- (c) The Trustee may be removed by the Bankruptcy Court upon motion by the TOC in the event the Trustee becomes unable to discharge his or her duties hereunder due to accident, physical deterioration, mental incompetence or for other good cause. Other good cause shall include, without limitation, (i) fraud, self-dealing, intentional misrepresentation, wilful misconduct, indictment for or conviction of a felony, in each case whether or not connected to the Liquidating Trust, or (ii) a consistent pattern of neglect and failure to perform or participate in performing the duties of Trustee hereunder.
- (d) In the event of any vacancy in the office of the Trustee, including the death, resignation or removal of any Trustee, such vacancy shall be filled by the TOC as set forth herein. The TOC will nominate an individual to serve as successor Trustee. If the majority of the TOC then in office agree upon a successor Trustee, then, subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court, such individual shall become the Trustee. In the event that a majority of the TOC then in office cannot agree on a successor Trustee, the matter will be resolved pursuant to Section 7.12 below.
- (e) Immediately upon the appointment of any successor Trustee pursuant to Section 4.2(d) above, all rights, titles, duties, powers and authority of the predecessor Trustee hereunder shall be vested in and undertaken by the successor Trustee without any further act. No successor Trustee shall be liable personally for any act or omission of his or her predecessor Trustee. No

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 27 of 74

predecessor Trustee shall be liable personally for any act or omission of his or her successor Trustee. No successor Trustee shall have any duty to investigate the acts or omissions of his or her predecessor Trustee.

(f) Each successor Trustee shall serve until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 4.2(b) above, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 4.2(c) above, and (iv) the termination of the Liquidating Trust pursuant to Section 6.2 below.

4.3 Compensation and Expenses of the Trustee

- (a) The Trustee shall receive compensation on an hourly basis for its service as Trustee on matters related to the operation of the Trust. The hourly rate shall be the Trustee's usual and customary rate then in effect, which is currently \$855 per hour (subject to the consent of the TOC, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
 - (i) The Liquidating Trust will promptly reimburse the Trustee for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Trustee in connection with the performance of his or her duties hereunder.

4.4 Standard of Care; Exculpation

(a) As used herein, the term "**Trust Indemnified Party**" shall mean each of (i) the Trustee, (ii) the Delaware Trustee, (iii) the TOC and (iv) the officers, employees, consultants, advisors, and agents of each of the Liquidating Trust, the Trustee and the TOC, including the Trustee Professionals and the TOC Professionals.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 28 of 74

- (b) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Trust Indemnified Parties shall not have or incur any liability for actions taken or omitted in their capacities as Trust Indemnified Parties, or on behalf of the Liquidating Trust, except those acts found by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction ("Final Order") to be arising out of their wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud, and shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement for reasonable fees and expenses in defending any and all of their actions or inactions in their capacity as Trust Indemnified Parties, or on behalf of the Liquidating Trust, and for any other liabilities, losses, damages, claims, costs and expenses arising out of or due to the implementation or administration of the Plan or this Trust Agreement (other than taxes in the nature of income taxes imposed on compensation paid to such persons), in each case except for any actions or inactions found by Final Order to be arising out of their wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud. Any valid indemnification claim of any of the Trust Indemnified Parties shall be satisfied from the Liquidating Trust.
- (c) To the extent that, at law or in equity, the Trust Indemnified Parties have duties (including fiduciary duties) or liability related thereto, to the Liquidating Trust or the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, it is hereby understood and agreed by the Parties that such duties and liabilities are eliminated to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, and replaced by the duties and liabilities expressly set forth in this Trust Agreement with respect to the Trust Indemnified Parties; provided, however, that with respect to the Trust Indemnified Parties other than the Delaware Trustee the duties of care and loyalty are not eliminated but are limited and subject to the terms of this Trust Agreement, including but not limited to this Section 4.4 and its subparts.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 29 of 74

4.5 **Protective Provisions**

- (a) Every provision of this Trust Agreement relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to Trust Indemnified Parties shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 4.5.
- (b) In the event the Trustee retains counsel (including at the expense of the Liquidating Trust), the Trustee shall be afforded the benefit of the attorney-client privilege with respect to all communications with such counsel, and in no event shall the Trustee be deemed to have waived any right or privilege including, without limitation, the attorney-client privilege even if the communications with counsel had the effect of guiding the Trustee in the performance of duties hereunder. Such attorney-client privilege shall be vested solely in the Trustee, on behalf of the Liquidating Trust, and not in the TOC, or any other person, committee or subcomponent of the Liquidating Trust, or any other person (including counsel and other professionals) who has been engaged by, represents, or has represented any holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim. A successor Trustee shall succeed to and hold the same respective rights and benefits of the predecessor for purposes of privilege, including the attorney-client privilege. No Party or other person may raise any exception to the attorney-client privilege described herein as any such exceptions are hereby waived by all Parties.
- (c) No Trust Indemnified Party shall be personally liable under any circumstances, except for his or her own wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud as determined by a Final Order.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 30 of 74

- (d) No provision of this Trust Agreement shall require the Trust Indemnified Parties to expend or risk their own personal funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of their rights, duties and powers hereunder.
- (e) In the exercise or administration of the Liquidating Trust hereunder, the Trust Indemnified Parties (i) may act directly or through their respective agents or attorneys pursuant to agreements entered into with any of them, and the Trust Indemnified Parties shall not be liable for the default or misconduct of such agents or attorneys if such agents or attorneys have been selected by the Trust Indemnified Parties in good faith and with due care, and (ii) may consult with counsel, accountants and other professionals to be selected by them in good faith and with due care and employed by them, and shall not be liable for anything done, suffered or omitted in good faith by them in accordance with the advice or opinion of any such counsel, accountants or other professionals.

4.6 **Indemnification**

(a) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Trust Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement for reasonable fees and expenses (including attorneys' fees and costs but excluding taxes in the nature of income taxes imposed on compensation paid to the Trust Indemnified Parties) in defending any and all of their actions or inactions in their capacity as Trust Indemnified Parties, or on behalf of the Liquidating Trust, and for any other liabilities, losses, damages, claims, costs and expenses arising out of or due to the implementation or administration of the Plan or the Trust Agreement (other than taxes in the nature of income taxes imposed on compensation paid to such persons), in each case, except for any actions or inactions found by Final Order to be arising out of their wilful misconduct, bad faith,

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 31 of 74

gross negligence or fraud. Any valid indemnification claim of any of the Trust Indemnified Parties shall be satisfied from the Trust Assets.

- (b) Reasonable expenses, costs and fees (including attorneys' fees and costs) incurred by or on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties in connection with any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, administrative or arbitrative, from which they are indemnified by the Liquidating Trust shall be paid by the Liquidating Trust from the Liquidating Trust Assets in advance of the final disposition thereof upon receipt of an undertaking, by or on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties, to repay such amount in the event that it shall be determined ultimately by Final Order that the Trust Indemnified Parties or any other potential indemnitee are not entitled to be indemnified by the Liquidating Trust. The Trustee may, in his or her discretion, authorize an advance of reasonable expenses, costs and fees (including attorneys' fees and costs) to be incurred by or on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties, as set forth herein.
- (c) The Trustee shall purchase and maintain appropriate amounts and types of insurance on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties, as determined by the Trustee, which may include insurance with respect to liability asserted against or incurred by such individual in that capacity or arising from his or her status as a Trust Indemnified Party, and/or as an employee, agent, lawyer, advisor or consultant of any such person.
- (d) The indemnification provisions of this Trust Agreement with respect to any Trust Indemnified Party shall survive the termination of such Trust Indemnified Party from the capacity for which such Trust Indemnified Party is indemnified. Modification of this Trust Agreement shall not affect any indemnification rights or obligations in existence at such time. In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification of any Trust Indemnified Party

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 32 of 74

hereunder, the person, persons or entity making such determination shall presume that such Trust Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this Trust Agreement, and any person seeking to overcome such presumption shall have the burden of proof to overcome the presumption.

(e) The rights to indemnification hereunder are not exclusive of other rights which any Trust Indemnified Party may otherwise have at law or in equity, including common law rights to indemnification or contribution.

4.7 <u>Trustee Independence</u>

The Trustee shall not act as an attorney, agent, or other professional for any Liquidating Trust Beneficiary or any holder of any Allowed General Unsecured Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 4.7 shall not be applicable to the Delaware Trustee.

4.8 **No Bond**

Neither the Trustee nor the Delaware Trustee shall be required to post any bond or other form of surety or security unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

4.9 **Burden of Proof**

In any proceeding brought by any of the Debtors, or any other person who is bound by this Trust Agreement challenging any action, determination or failure to act of the Trustee in discharge of his or her duties under this Trust Agreement on the basis that such action, determination or failure constitutes gross negligence, wilful misconduct or fraud, the person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding shall have the burden of proving that such determination, action or failure to act

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 33 of 74

constituted gross negligence, wilful misconduct, or fraud. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Trust Agreement or any duty otherwise existing at law or equity, each determination, action or failure to act of the Trustee in the discharge of his or her duties under this Trust Agreement is, to the extent consistent with this Trust Agreement, hereby deemed to not constitute a breach of this Trust Agreement or any duty hereunder or existing at law, in equity or otherwise.

4.10 Reliance by the Trustee

The Trustee may absolutely rely, and shall be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting if he or she relies upon any resolution, statement, certificate, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order or other instrument or document that he or she has no reasonable belief to be other than genuine and to have been signed or presented other than by the proper party or parties or, in the case of facsimile transmissions, to have been sent other than by the proper party or parties, in each case without obligation to satisfy itself that the same was given in good faith and without responsibility for errors in delivery, transmission or receipt. In the absence of gross negligence, wilful misconduct, or fraud in respect of the Trustee's duties as found by a final and non-appealable court of competent jurisdiction, or material breach of this Trust Agreement, the Trustee may rely as to the truth of statements and correctness of the facts and opinions expressed therein and shall be fully protected personally in acting (or, if applicable, not acting) thereon. The Trustee shall have the right at any time to seek and rely upon instructions from the Bankruptcy Court concerning this Trust Agreement, the Plan or any other document executed in connection therewith, and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon such instructions in acting or failing to act and shall not be liable for any act taken or not taken in reliance thereon.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 34 of 74

4.11 Books and Records

Upon notice to the Bankruptcy Court and the TOC, the Trustee shall be free, in his or her discretion to abandon, destroy or otherwise dispose of any books and records in his possession that the Trustee deems not necessary for the continued administration of the Plan and not required to be retained under applicable law, without the need for any order of the Bankruptcy Court, and shall have no liability for same. This notice provision shall not create any right by any third party to access to privileged or confidential information held by the Liquidating Trust.

4.12 **Delaware Trustee**

- (a) There shall at all times be a Delaware Trustee to serve in accordance with the requirements of the Act. The Delaware Trustee shall either be (i) a natural person who is at least twenty-one (21) years of age and a resident of the State of Delaware or (ii) a legal entity that has its principal place of business in the State of Delaware, otherwise meets the requirements of applicable Delaware law to be eligible to serve as the Delaware Trustee, and shall act through one or more persons authorized to bind such entity. If at any time the Delaware Trustee shall cease to be eligible to serve as Delaware Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Section 4.12, it shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect hereinafter specified in Section 4.12(c) below. For the avoidance of doubt, the Delaware Trustee will only have such rights, duties and obligations as expressly provided by reference to the Delaware Trustee hereunder. The Trustee shall have no liability for the acts or omissions of any Delaware Trustee.
- (b) The Delaware Trustee shall not be entitled to exercise any powers, nor shall the Delaware Trustee have any of the duties and responsibilities of the Trustee set forth herein. The Delaware Trustee shall be a trustee of the Liquidating Trust for the sole and limited purpose of

fulfilling the requirements of Section 3807(a) of Chapter 38 of title 12 of the Delaware Code, 12 Del. C. Section 3801 et seq. (the "Act") and for taking such actions as are required to be taken by a Delaware Trustee under the Act. The duties (including fiduciary duties), liabilities and obligations of the Delaware Trustee shall be limited to accepting legal process served on the Liquidating Trust in the State of Delaware and the execution of any certificates required to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware that the Delaware Trustee is required to execute under Section 3811 of the Act. There shall be no other duties (including fiduciary duties) or obligations, express or implied, at law or in equity, of the Delaware Trustee. These duties shall be deemed purely ministerial in nature, and the Delaware Trustee shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Trust Agreement against the Delaware Trustee. To the extent that, at law or in equity, the Delaware Trustee has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating to the Liquidating Trust or the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, such duties and liabilities are replaced by the duties and liabilities of the Delaware Trustee expressly set forth in this Trust Agreement. The Delaware Trustee shall have no liability for the acts or omissions of any Trustee. Any permissive rights of the Delaware Trustee to do things enumerated in this Trust Agreement shall not be construed as a duty and, with respect to any such permissive rights, the Delaware Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud. The Delaware Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this Trust Agreement at the request or direction of the Trustee or any other person pursuant to the provisions of this Trust Agreement unless the Trustee or such other person shall have offered to the Delaware Trustee security or indemnity (satisfactory to the Delaware Trustee in its discretion) against the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by it in compliance with such request or Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 36 of 74

direction. The Delaware Trustee shall be entitled to request and receive written instructions from the Trustee and shall have no responsibility or liability for any losses or damages of any nature that may arise from any action taken or not taken by the Delaware Trustee in accordance with the written direction of the Trustee. The Delaware Trustee may conclusively rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, debenture, note, other evidence of indebtedness or other paper or document believed by them to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties, not only as to due execution, validity and effectives, but also as to the truth and accuracy of any information contained therein. The Delaware Trustee may, at the expense of the Liquidating Trust, request, rely on and act in accordance with officer's certificates and/or opinions of counsel, and shall incur no liability and shall be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting in accordance with such officer's certificates and opinions of counsel.

Delaware Trustee or the Delaware Trustee resigns and a successor Delaware Trustee is appointed by the Trustee in accordance with the terms of Section 4.12(d) below. The Delaware Trustee may resign at any time upon the giving of at least sixty (60) days' advance written notice to the Trustee; provided that such resignation shall not become effective unless and until a successor Delaware Trustee shall have been appointed by the Trustee in accordance with Section 4.12(d) below; provided further that if any amounts due and owing to the Delaware Trustee hereunder remain unpaid for more than ninety (90) days, the Delaware Trustee shall be entitled to resign immediately by giving written notice to the Trustee. If the Trustee does not act within such sixty (60) day period, the Delaware Trustee, at the expense of the Liquidating Trust, may apply to the Court of Chancery

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 37 of 74

of the State of Delaware or any other court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Delaware Trustee.

- (d) Upon the resignation or removal of the Delaware Trustee, the Trustee shall appoint a successor Delaware Trustee by delivering a written instrument to the outgoing Delaware Trustee. Any successor Delaware Trustee must satisfy the requirements of Section 3807 of the Act. Any resignation or removal of the Delaware Trustee and appointment of a successor Delaware Trustee shall not become effective until a written acceptance of appointment is delivered by the successor Delaware Trustee to the outgoing Delaware Trustee and the Trustee, and any fees and expenses due to the outgoing Delaware Trustee are paid. Following compliance with the preceding sentence, the successor Delaware Trustee shall become fully vested with all of the rights, powers, duties and obligations of the outgoing Delaware Trustee under this Trust Agreement, with like effect as if originally named as Delaware Trustee, and the outgoing Delaware Trustee shall be discharged of his or her duties and obligations under this Trust Agreement. The successor Delaware Trustee shall make any related filings required under the Act, including filing a Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Trust of the Liquidating Trust in accordance with Section 3810 of the Act.
- (e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any business entity into which the Delaware Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated or any entity resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Delaware Trustee shall be a party, or any entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the corporate trust business of the Delaware Trustee, shall be the successor of the Delaware Trustee hereunder, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 38 of 74

- (f) The Delaware Trustee shall be entitled to compensation for its services as agreed pursuant to a separate fee agreement between the Liquidating Trust and the Delaware Trustee, which compensation shall be paid by the Liquidating Trust. Such compensation is intended for the Delaware Trustee's services as contemplated by this Trust Agreement. The terms of this paragraph shall survive termination of this Trust Agreement and/or the earlier resignation or removal of the Delaware Trustee.
- The Delaware Trustee shall neither be responsible for, nor chargeable with, (g) knowledge of the terms and conditions of any other agreement, instrument, or document, other than this Trust Agreement, whether or not, an original or a copy of such agreement has been provided to the Delaware Trustee. The Delaware Trustee shall have no duty to know or inquire as to the performance or non-performance of any provision of any other agreement, instrument or document, other than this Trust Agreement. Neither the Delaware Trustee nor any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or affiliates shall be responsible for nor have any duty to monitor the performance or any action of the Liquidating Trust, the Trustee or any other person, or any of their directors, members, officers, agents, affiliates or employee, nor shall it have any liability in connection with the malfeasance or nonfeasance by such party. The Delaware Trustee may assume performance by all such persons of their respective obligations. The Delaware Trustee shall have no enforcement or notification obligations relating to breaches of representations or warranties of any other person. The Delaware Trustee shall have no responsibilities (except as expressly set forth herein) as to the validity, sufficiency, value, genuineness, ownership or transferability of any Trust Asset, written instructions, or any other documents in connection therewith, and will not be regarded as making, nor be required to make, any representations thereto.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 39 of 74

- (h) The Delaware Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Trust Agreement arising out of, or caused, directly or indirectly, by circumstances beyond its control, including without limitation, any act or provision of any present or future law or regulation or governmental authority; acts of God; earthquakes; fires; floods; wars; terrorism; civil or military disturbances; sabotage; epidemics; riots; interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, computer (hardware or software) or communications service; accidents; labor disputes; acts of civil or military authority or governmental actions; or the unavailability of the Federal Reserve Bank wire or telex or other wire or communication facility.
- (i) In no event shall the Delaware Trustee be responsible or liable for special, indirect, punitive, incidental or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including, but not limited to, loss of profit) irrespective of whether the Delaware Trustee has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action.

4.13 **Trust Meetings.**

- (a) **Regular Meeting**. Unless otherwise agreed to by the TOC, The Trustee shall hold regular Liquidating Trust meetings with the TOC not less than quarterly, which may be held at such times and at such places (including remotely by phone or video conference) as may be determined from time to time by the Trustee, in consultation with the TOC. For the avoidance of doubt, the Delaware Trustee shall not be required or permitted to attend any meetings of the Trustee contemplated by this Section 4.13.
- (b) **Special Meetings**. Special meetings of the Trustee may be called by the Trustee by giving written notice to the TOC not less than one (1) Business Day prior to the date of the meeting. Any such notice shall include the time, place, and purpose of the meeting, given by

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 40 of 74

overnight courier, personal delivery, facsimile, electronic mail or other similar means of communication. Notice shall be addressed or delivered to the address as shown upon the records of the Trust or as may have been given to the Trustee for purposes of notice. Notice by overnight courier shall be deemed to have been given one (1) Business Day after the time that written notice is provided to such overnight courier. Any other written notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time it is personally delivered to the recipient or actually transmitted by the person giving the notice by electronic means to the recipient.

- (c) Participation in Meetings by Telephone Conference. The Trustee may convene, and persons may participate in, a meeting by conference telephone or similar communications equipment (which shall include virtual meetings via video conferencing software), as long as all persons participating in such meeting can hear one another. Participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 4.13(c) shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
- (d) Waiver of Notice. Notice of a meeting need not be given to any person who signs a waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting. All such waivers shall be filed with the Trust records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting. Attendance at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any Trust meeting need be specified in any waiver of notice.
- (e) **Adjournment**. A meeting may be adjourned by the Trustee to another time and place.

4.14 Matters Requiring Consultation with TOC

The Trustee shall consult with the TOC on any extraordinary circumstance which could have a material impact on the Liquidating Trust, including without limitation, entering into arrangements not specified in Section 2.1(c) with third parties that the Trustee may deem useful in carrying out the purposes of the Liquidating Trust, subject in all respects to such arrangements not conflicting with any other provision of this Trust Agreement or the Plan.

4.15 <u>Matters Requiring Consent of TOC</u>

The Trustee shall obtain the consent of the TOC, or, otherwise, Bankruptcy Court approval in the event of a dispute in accordance with Section 7.12 hereof, for the items listed below:

- (a) Any proposed procedures to ensure that decisions are made consistent with the respective fiduciary duties owed to the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust in the event of a conflict between the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust with respect to litigation strategy, settlement or resource allocation;
- (b) Settlement, abandonment, or dismissal of any Claim or Cause of Action asserted by the Liquidating Trust in an amount greater than \$2,500,000;
- (c) Settlement of (i) any disputed General Unsecured Claim against the Estates in an amount that is either greater than or reduces the face amount of such Claim by \$5,000,000, or (ii) an asserted Administrative Claim or Priority Claim in an amount greater than \$1,000,000 or outside the anticipated range provided by the Committee's financial advisor on the Effective Date, provided that the TOC has the power to increase but not reduce these requirements if they prove to be too low;

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 42 of 74

- (d) Any Distribution on Claims other than those required on the Effective Date under claim settlements;
- (e) Any proposed modification to the indemnification provisions of the Trust Agreement;
- (f) Any proposed sale, transfer or exchange of Liquidating Trust Assets above \$5,000,000 (any proposed sale of Liquidating Trust Assets below such amount shall not require TOC consent);
- (g) Retention of litigation professionals to pursue Claims and Causes of Action on behalf of the Liquidating Trust, other than Liquidating Trust general/local counsel, and terms of such retention;
 - (h) To borrow such sums of money or enter into litigation funding agreements;
 - (i) Any proposed material modifications to the Trust Agreement; and
- (j) Any proposed modification to the compensation of the Trustee other than routine hourly rate increases.

The consent of the TOC shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.

4.16 <u>Trustee's and TOC's Employment of Professionals.</u>

(a) Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4.15 of this Agreement, the Trustee may, but is not required to, retain and/or consult accountants, appraisers, auditors, forecasters, experts, financial and investment advisors, and such other parties (the "**Trustee Professionals**")

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 43 of 74

deemed appropriate by the Trustee to assist in matters for the Liquidating Trust within the Trustee's purview.

- (b) The TOC may, but is not required to, retain and/or consult, legal counsel and such other parties deemed appropriate by the TOC to assist in matters within the TOC's purview (the "TOC Professionals," and with Trustee Professionals, the "Liquidating Trust Professionals") where such retention of separate professionals (other than existing Trust professionals) is necessary to discharge the TOC's duties, provided that no TOC Professionals may be retained to act on behalf of any holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim. The fees of such counsel, if retained, shall be reasonable and shall not exceed \$15,000 on a monthly basis in the absence of a dispute.
- (c) Prior to payment of any fees of a professional retained by the Truste or the TOC, the professional shall circulate a monthly fee statement detailing the compensation sought, including time records with a description of the tasks performed, and expenses incurred for which reimbursement is sought to the Trustee and the TOC. The Trustee and the TOC shall have 10 days to review and dispute such monthly fee statements, and following such review the Trustee is authorized to pay any undisputed portion of such fee statements. If any amount is disputed and cannot be resolved consensually, the Bankruptcy Court shall resolve the disputed fees on motion by the professional, the Trustee, or the TOC.

ARTICLE V

TAX MATTERS

5.1 Treatment of Settlement Consideration Transfer

For all United States federal income tax purposes, all Parties shall treat the transfer of the Liquidating Trust Assets to the Liquidating Trust as (i) a transfer of the Liquidating Trust Assets (subject to any obligations related to those assets) directly to the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, followed by (ii) the transfer by such Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries of such Liquidating Trust Assets to the Liquidating Trust in exchange for Liquidating Trust Interests (other than the Trust Assets held as a "disputed ownership fund" within the meaning of Section 1.468B-9 of the Treasury Regulations, if any ("Disputed Ownership Fund")). Accordingly, the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries shall be treated for United States federal income tax purposes (and, to the extent permitted, for state and local income tax purposes) as the grantors and owners of their respective shares of the Liquidating Trust Assets (other than the Trust Assets allocable to the Disputed Ownership Fund, if any).

5.2 **Income Tax Status**

(a) For United States federal income tax purposes (and for purposes of all state, local and other jurisdictions to the extent applicable) and other than as provided pursuant to Section 5.3(c), this Liquidating Trust shall be treated as a liquidating trust pursuant to Section 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations and as a grantor trust pursuant to Sections 671-679 of the IRC. To the extent consistent with Revenue Procedure 94-45 and not otherwise inconsistent with this Trust Agreement, this Trust Agreement shall be construed so as to satisfy the requirements for liquidating trust status.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 45 of 74

(b) The Liquidating Trust shall at all times to be administered so as to constitute a domestic trust for United States federal income tax purposes.

5.3 Tax Returns

In accordance with Section 6012 of the IRC and Section 1.671-4(a) of the Treasury (a) Regulations, the Trustee shall file with the IRS annual tax returns for the Liquidating Trust on Form 1041 as a grantor trust pursuant to Section 1.671-4(a) of the Treasury Regulations. In addition, the Trustee shall file in a timely manner for the Liquidating Trust such other tax returns, including any state and local tax returns, as are required by applicable law and pay any taxes shown as due thereon. Allocations of Liquidating Trust taxable income among the holders of Liquidating Trust Interests (other than taxable income allocable to, or retained on account of, a disputed claims reserve or disputed ownership fund) shall be determined by reference to the manner in which an amount of cash representing such taxable income would be distributed (were such cash permitted to be distributed at such time) if, immediately prior to such deemed distribution, the Liquidating Trust had distributed all of its assets (valued at their tax book values, and other than assets allocable to any disputed claims reserve) to the holders of the Liquidating Trust Interests, adjusted for prior taxable income and loss and taking into account all prior and concurrent distributions from the Liquidating Trust. Similarly, taxable loss of the Liquidating Trust will be allocated by reference to the manner in which an economic loss would be borne immediately after a hypothetical liquidation distribution of the remaining Liquidating Trust Assets. The tax book value of the Liquidating Trust Assets for this purpose shall equal their fair market value on the Effective Date, or, if later, the date such assets were acquired by the Liquidating Trust, adjusted in accordance with tax accounting principles prescribed by the IRC, applicable Treasury Regulations, and other

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 46 of 74

applicable administrative and judicial authorities and pronouncements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5.3(a), the Trustee shall be entitled to make such adjustments to allocations of Liquidating Trust taxable income and taxable loss as it believes would be fair and equitable to reflect the sharing of economics among the holders of Liquidating Trust Interests.

- (b) The Liquidating Trust shall be responsible for payment, from the Liquidating Trust Assets, of any taxes imposed on the Liquidating Trust (including any taxes imposed on the Disputed Ownership Fund) or the Liquidating Trust Assets. In accordance therewith, any taxes imposed on the Disputed Ownership Fund or its assets will be paid from the Liquidating Trust Assets.
- (c) The Trustee may timely elect to treat any Liquidating Trust Assets allocable to Disputed General Unsecured Claims to a Disputed Ownership Fund, and to the extent permitted by applicable law, shall report consistently for state and local income tax purposes. If a Disputed Ownership Fund election is made, all parties (including the Trustee and the holders of Liquidating Trust Interests) shall report for U.S. federal, state and local income tax purposes consistently with the foregoing. The Liquidating Trust shall file all income tax returns with respect to any income attributable to the Disputed Ownership Fund and shall pay from the Liquidating Trust Assets all U.S. federal, state and local income taxes attributable to such Disputed Ownership Fund based on the items of income, deduction, credit, or loss allocable thereto.

5.4 Withholding of Taxes and Reporting Related to Liquidating Trust Operations

The Liquidating Trust shall comply with all withholding, deduction and reporting requirements imposed by any federal, state, local or foreign taxing authority, and all distributions made by the Liquidating Trust shall be subject to any applicable withholding, deduction and

reporting requirements. The Trustee shall be authorized to take any and all actions that may be necessary or appropriate to comply with any such withholding, deduction, payment, and reporting requirements. All amounts properly withheld or deducted from distributions to a Liquidating Trust Beneficiary as required by applicable law and paid over to the applicable taxing authority for the account of such Liquidating Trust Beneficiary shall be treated as part of the Liquidating Trust Distribution to such Liquidating Trust Beneficiary. To the extent that the operation of the Liquidating Trust or the liquidation of the Liquidating Trust Assets creates a tax liability imposed on the Liquidating Trust, the Liquidating Trust shall timely pay such tax liability and any such payment shall be considered a cost and expense of the operation of the Liquidating Trust payable without Bankruptcy Court order. Any federal, state or local withholding taxes or other amounts required to be withheld under applicable law shall be deducted from distributions hereunder. All Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries shall be required to provide any information necessary to effect the withholding and reporting of such taxes. The Trustee may require each Liquidating Trust Beneficiary to furnish to the Liquidating Trust (or its designee) its social security number or employer or taxpayer identification number as assigned by the IRS and complete any related documentation (including but not limited to a Form W-8BEN, Form W-8BENE-E, or Form W-9) (the "Tax Documents"). The Trustee may condition any and all distributions to any Liquidating Trust Beneficiary upon the timely receipt of properly executed Tax Documents and receipt of such other documents as the Trustee reasonably requests, and in accordance with the Plan.

5.5 Valuation

Within 180 days after the Effective Date, the Trustee shall make a good faith valuation of the Liquidating Trust Assets. Such valuation shall be made available from time to time, to the

extent relevant, and used consistently by all parties for all United States federal income tax purposes. The Trustee also shall file (or cause to be filed) any other statements, returns or disclosures relating to the Liquidating Trust that are required by any governmental unit.

5.6 **Expedited Determination of Taxes**

The Trustee may request an expedited determination of taxes of the Liquidating Trust, under Section 505 of the Bankruptcy Code for all returns filed for, or on behalf of, the Liquidating Trust for all taxable periods through the termination of the Liquidating Trust.

5.7 **WARN Act Claim Reserve**

The Trustee shall deposit into the WARN Act Claim Reserve an aggregate amount of \$500,000 in net recoveries from the liquidation and monetization of the Liquidating Trust Assets. Such deposit shall be distributed to the class representative for the benefit of members of the class as described in the Plan Supplement following the Effective Date on the occurrence of certain milestone events disclosed in the Plan Supplement until the WARN Act Claims are satisfied in full.

The WARN Act Claim Reserve is intended to qualify as a "qualified settlement fund" within the meaning of Section 1.468B-1 of the U.S. Treasury Regulations (the "QSF Regulations"). The Trustee shall be the "administrator" of the Trust within the meaning of Section 1.468B-2(k)(3) of the Treasury Regulations and, in such capacity, such administrator shall (i) prepare and timely file, or cause to be prepared and timely filed, such income tax and other tax returns and statements required to be filed and shall timely pay all taxes required to be paid by the WARN Act Claim Reserve, which

assets may be sold by the Trustee to the extent necessary to satisfy such tax liabilities, (ii) comply with all applicable tax reporting and withholding obligations, (iii) satisfy all requirements necessary to qualify and maintain qualification of Trust as a qualified settlement fund, within the meaning of the QSF Regulations, and (iv) take no action that could cause the Trust to fail to qualify as a qualified settlement fund within the meaning of the QSF Regulations.

The Trustee shall be authorized to take any and all actions that may be necessary or appropriate to comply with any applicable tax withholding, deduction, payment, and reporting requirements. All amounts properly withheld or deducted from distributions made out of the WARN Act Claim Reserve and paid over to the applicable taxing authority for the account of a holder of an Allowed WARN Act Claim shall be treated as part of the Distribution to such holder. Any federal, state or local withholding taxes or other amounts required to be withheld under applicable law shall be deducted from distributions hereunder. All holders of Allowed WARN Act Claims shall be required to provide any information necessary to effect the withholding and reporting of such taxes, including but not limited to any Tax Documents. The Trustee may condition any and all distributions to any holder of an Allowed WARN Act Claim upon the timely receipt of properly executed Tax Documents and receipt of such other documents as the Trustee reasonably requests, and in accordance with the Plan.

If the Trustee determines it would be cost effective to retain the services of a third-party administrator to administer the distributions to the holders of Allowed WARN Act Claims, then, in consultation with the counsel for such holders, the Trustee may retain the services of a settlement administrator (the "Settlement Administrator"). The Settlement Administrator shall be responsible for handling class noticing and all aspects of the administration of the distribution of

the WARN Act Claim Reserve and any other amounts distributable to the holders of WARN Act Claims pursuant to the Plan, including, but not limited to: (a) the formation of a qualified settlement fund as authorized by Treasury Regulation 1.486B-1(c) to accept, distribute, and otherwise administer the WARN Act Claim Reserve; (b) the preparation and mailing of settlement checks to each Class member; (c) the preparation and mailing of all W-2 and 1099 Forms and the compliance with any tax withholding obligations imposed by applicable law with respect to distributions to Class Members; (d) the processing of returned settlement checks as undeliverable, including re-mailing to forwarding addresses and tracing of current addresses; and (e) any other duties of the WARN Act Claims Administrator as set forth in the Plan.

ARTICLE VI

LIQUIDATING TRUST OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

6.1 **Members; Action by Members.**

The TOC shall be composed of five (5) members appointed to represent the interests of holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims. The initial TOC members shall be the following: ACE Engineering & Co., Ltd., Celestica LLC, Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited, JMS Wind Energy, LLC and GreEnergy Resources LLC. Except as otherwise set forth in the Governing Documents, the TOC shall act by majority vote of TOC members then serving, provided, however, the TOC may continue to act in the event of one or more vacancies on the TOC, in which case majority vote of the TOC members then serving shall be required for action by the TOC.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 51 of 74

6.2 **Duties.**

The members of the TOC shall serve in a fiduciary capacity representing holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims. The TOC shall not have any fiduciary duties or responsibilities to any party other than Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries. Except for the duties and obligations expressed in this Trust Agreement, there shall be no other duties (including fiduciary duties) or obligations, express or implied, at law or in equity, of the TOC. To the extent that, at law or in equity, the TOC has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating thereto to the Liquidating Trust, the other parties hereto, or any Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, such duties and liabilities are replaced by the duties and liabilities of the TOC expressly set forth in this Trust Agreement.

6.3 **TOC Information Rights; Reports**

- (a) The TOC shall have reasonable access to the Liquidating Trust's consultants and other advisors retained by the Liquidating Trust and its staff (if any), and information available to the Trustee, which access shall be made available as determined by the Trustee in his or her discretion.
- (b) The TOC shall receive monthly reports concerning professional fees charged and annual reports on the Liquidating Trust's budget. Any disputes concerning same shall be brought before the Bankruptcy Court.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 52 of 74

6.4 [Reserved.]

6.5 **Term of Office.**

- (a) Each member of the TOC shall serve until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 6.5(b) below, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 6.5(c) below, and (iv) the termination of the Trust pursuant to Section 7.2 below.
- (b) A member of the TOC may resign at any time by written notice to the other members of the TOC and the Trustee. Such notice shall specify a date when such resignation shall take effect, which shall not be less than thirty (30) days after the date such notice is given, where practicable.
- (c) A member of the TOC may be removed in the event that he or she becomes unable to discharge his or her duties hereunder due to accident, physical deterioration, mental incompetence, or for other good cause, provided the member of the TOC has received reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard. Other good cause shall mean, without limitation, fraud, self-dealing, intentional misrepresentation, wilful misconduct, indictment for or conviction of a felony in each case whether or not connected to the Liquidating Trust or a consistent pattern of neglect and failure to perform or to participate in performing the duties of such member hereunder, such as repeated non-attendance at scheduled meetings. Such removal shall require the majority vote of the other members of the TOC and such removal shall take effect only upon the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

6.6 **Appointment of Successor.**

- (a) In the event of a TOC member vacancy, the remaining TOC members shall propose an individual as successor, subject to the approval of the Trustee, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld. In the event a successor TOC member is not appointed within sixty (60) days following the occurrence of such vacancy, the Bankruptcy Court may appoint a successor TOC member upon motion of the Trustee.
- (b) Each successor member of the TOC shall serve until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 6.5(b) above, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 6.5(c) above, and (iv) the termination of the Trust pursuant to Section 7.2 below.
- (c) No successor TOC member shall be liable personally for any act or omission of his or her predecessor TOC member. No successor TOC member shall have any duty to investigate the acts or omissions of his or her predecessor TOC member. No TOC member shall be required to post any bond or other form of surety or security unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

6.7 <u>Compensation and Expenses of the TOC.</u>

The members of the TOC shall not be entitled to compensation for their services but shall be reimbursed promptly for all reasonable and documented ordinary and customary out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of their duties hereunder (which, for the avoidance of doubt, will not include professionals retained by an individual member of the TOC to advise such member). The Trust shall include a description of the amounts paid under this

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 54 of 74

Section 6.7 in the Annual Report to be filed with the Bankruptcy Court and posted on the Trust's Website.

6.8 Procedures for Consultation with and Obtaining the Consent of the TOC.

(a) Consultation Process.

- (i) In the event the Trustee is required to consult with the TOC pursuant to Section 4.14 above, the Trustee shall provide the TOC with written advance notice of the matter under consideration, to the extent practicable, and with all relevant information and documents concerning the matter as is reasonably practicable under the circumstances. The Trustee shall also provide the TOC with such reasonable access to the consultants and other advisors retained by the Liquidating Trust and its staff (if any) as the TOC may reasonably request during the time that the Trustee is considering such matter, and shall also provide the TOC the opportunity, at reasonable times and for reasonable periods of time, to discuss and comment on such matter with the Trustee, to the extent practicable.
- (ii) In determining when to take definitive action on any matter subject to the consultation procedures set forth in this Section 6.8(a), the Trustee shall take into consideration the time required for the TOC to meet and consult as to such matter. In any event, the Trustee shall not take definitive action on any such matter until at least five (5) Business Days after providing the TOC with the initial written notice that such matter is under consideration by the Trustee, unless such time period is waived in writing by the TOC or at a meeting where the TOC and Trustee are present, or the Trustee determines in his reasonable discretion that definitive action is required earlier. Notwithstanding the

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 55 of 74

foregoing, the TOC shall have the authority to waive the consultation procedure or any component thereof set forth in this Section 6.8(a).

(b) <u>Consent Process</u>.

- (i) In the event the Trustee is required to obtain the consent of the TOC pursuant to the Governing Documents or Section 4.15 hereof, the Trustee shall provide the TOC with a written notice stating that its consent is being sought, describing in detail the nature and scope of the action the Trustee proposes to take, and explaining in detail the reasons why the Trustee desires to take such action. The Trustee shall provide the TOC as much relevant additional information concerning the proposed action as is requested by the TOC and as is reasonably practicable under the circumstances. The Trustee shall also provide the TOC with such reasonable access to the Liquidating Trust consultants and other advisors retained by the Liquidating Trust and its staff (if any) as the TOC may reasonably request during the time that the Trustee is considering such action, and shall also provide the TOC the opportunity, at reasonable times and for reasonable periods of time, to discuss and comment on such action with the Trustee.
 - (ii) For matters requiring the consent of the TOC:
 - (A) The TOC must consider in good faith and in a timely fashion any request for its consent by the Trustee, and must in any event advise the Trustee, in writing, of its consent or its objection to the proposed action within five (5) Business Days of receiving the original request for consent from the Trustee, unless the Trustee extends the time for such response. The TOC may not withhold its consent unreasonably.

 If the TOC decides to withhold its consent, it must explain in detail

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 56 of 74

its objections to the proposed action. If the TOC does not advise the Trustee, in writing, of its consent or its objections to the action within five (5) Business Days of receiving notice regarding such request (or within such additional time as may be granted by the Trustee in his or her discretion), the TOC's consent to the proposed actions shall be deemed to have been affirmatively granted.

- (B) If, after following the procedures specified in this Section 6.8(b), the TOC continues to object to the proposed action and to withhold its consent to the proposed action, the Trustee and the TOC shall resolve their dispute pursuant to Section 7.12 below, provided, however in that event the TOC shall have the burden of proof to show the validity of the TOC's objection.
- (c) <u>Disputes</u>. Any disputes between the TOC and the Trustee shall be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court.

ARTICLE VII

GENERAL PROVISIONS

7.1 **Irrevocability**

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Liquidating Trust is irrevocable.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 57 of 74

7.2 **Term; Termination**

- (a) The term for which the Liquidating Trust is to exist shall commence on the date of the filing of the Certificate of Trust and shall terminate pursuant to the provisions of this Section 7.2.
- (b) The Trustee shall make continuing efforts to monetize any non-liquid Liquidating Trust Assets.
- (c) The Trustee and the Liquidating Trust shall be discharged or dissolved, as the case may be, at such time as (a) the Trustee determines that there is no longer a need to initiate actions to resolve any remaining issues regarding the allowance and payment of Claims, or (b) all distributions of Cash and other Liquidating Trust Assets required to be made by the Trustee under the Plan and this Trust Agreement have been made in accordance with provisions of the Plan and this Trust Agreement, provided, however, that in no event shall the Liquidating Trust be dissolved later than five (5) years from the Effective Date unless the Bankruptcy Court, upon motion made by a party in interest within the six (6) month period prior to such fifth (5th) anniversary (and, in the event of further extension, at least six (6) months prior to the end of any extension period), determines that a fixed period extension is necessary to facilitate or complete the recovery on and liquidation of the Liquidating Trust Assets (the "Dissolution Date").
- (d) On the Dissolution Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, after the wind-up of the affairs of the Liquidating Trust by the Trustee and payment of all of the liabilities have been provided for as required by applicable law including Section 3808 of the Act, all monies remaining in the Liquidating Trust shall be distributed or disbursed in accordance with Section 3.4 and Section 5.3(c) above.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 58 of 74

(e) Following the dissolution and distribution of the assets of the Liquidating Trust, the Liquidating Trust shall terminate, and the Trustee shall execute and cause a Certificate of Cancellation of the Certificate of Trust of the Liquidating Trust to be filed in accordance with the Act. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Trust Agreement, the existence of the Liquidating Trust as a separate legal entity shall continue until the filing of such Certificate of Cancellation. A certified copy of the Certificate of Cancellation shall be given to the Delaware Trustee for its records promptly following such filing.

7.3 **Amendments**

Any amendment to or modification of this Trust Agreement may be made in writing and only with the consent of the Trustee, the TOC (which consent in each case shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court; provided, however, the Trustee may amend this Trust Agreement from time to time without the consent, approval or other authorization of, but with notice to, the Bankruptcy Court, to make: (i) minor modifications or clarifying amendments necessary to enable the Trustee to effectuate the provisions of this Trust Agreement; or (ii) modifications to satisfy any requirements, conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, statute, ruling or regulation of any federal, state or foreign governmental entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment or modification of this Trust Agreement shall modify this Trust Agreement in a manner that is inconsistent with the Plan or the Confirmation Order other than to make minor modifications or clarifying amendments as necessary to enable the Trustee to effectuate the provisions of this Trust Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither this Trust Agreement, nor any Exhibit to this Trust Agreement, shall be modified or amended in any way that could jeopardize, impair, or

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 59 of 74

modify the Liquidating Trust's "liquidating trust" status. Any amendment affecting the rights,

duties, immunities or liabilities of the Delaware Trustee shall require the Delaware Trustee's

written consent. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Trust Agreement, no material

modifications may be made to this Section 7.3 of this Trust Agreement without the consent of the

Trustee, the unanimous consent of the TOC, and subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

7.4 **Severability**

Should any provision in this Trust Agreement be determined to be unenforceable, such

determination shall in no way limit or affect the enforceability and operative effect of any and all

other provisions of this Trust Agreement.

7.5 **Notices**

(a) Notices to Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries shall be given in accordance with such

person's claims form submitted to the Liquidating Trust.

(b) Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder to the

following Parties shall be in writing and delivered to the addresses or e-mail addresses designated

below, or to such other addresses or e-mail addresses as may hereafter be furnished in writing to

each of the other Parties listed below in compliance with the terms hereof.

To the Liquidating Trust:

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

52

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 60 of 74

[]
To the Delaware Trustee:
[]
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
[]
To the TOC:
ACE Engineering & Co., Ltd.
[]
Celestica LLC
[]
Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited
[]
JMS Wind Energy, LLC
[]
GreEnergy Resources LLC

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 61 of 74

(c) All such notices and communications if mailed shall be effective when physically delivered at the designated addresses or, if electronically transmitted, when the communication is received at the designated addresses.

7.6 **Successors and Assigns**

The provisions of this Trust Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Liquidating Trust, the Delaware Trustee, the Trustee, the TOC and their respective successors and assigns, except that neither the Liquidating Trust, the Delaware Trustee, nor the Trustee, may assign or otherwise transfer any of their rights or obligations, if any, under this Trust Agreement except in the case of the Delaware Trustee in accordance with Section 4.12 (d), and in the case of the Trustee in accordance with Section 4.2(d) above.

7.7 Limitation on Liquidating Trust Interests for Securities Laws Purposes

Liquidating Trust Interest (a) shall not be assigned, conveyed, hypothecated, pledged, or otherwise transferred, voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, except by will, under the laws of descent and distribution or otherwise by operation of law; (b) shall not be evidenced by a certificate or other instrument; (c) shall not possess any voting rights; and (d) shall not be entitled to receive any dividends or interest.

7.8 **Exemption from Registration**

The Parties hereto intend that the interests of the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries under this Trust Agreement shall not be "securities" under applicable laws, but none of the Parties hereto represent or warrant that such rights shall not be securities or shall be entitled to exemption from registration under applicable securities laws. If it should be determined that any such interests

constitute "securities," the Parties hereto intend that the exemption provisions of Section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code will be satisfied and the offer and sale under the Plan of the Liquidating Trust Interests will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act, all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and all applicable state and local securities laws and regulations.

7.9 Entire Agreement; No Waiver

The entire agreement of the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Trust Agreement is contained herein, and in the documents referred to herein (including the Plan), and this Trust Agreement and such documents supersede any prior oral or written agreements concerning the subject matter hereof. No failure to exercise or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege hereunder preclude any further exercise thereof or of any other right, power, or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and are not exclusive of rights under law or in equity.

7.10 **Headings**

The headings used in this Trust Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a portion of this Trust Agreement, nor in any manner affect the construction of the provisions of this Trust Agreement.

7.11 **Governing Law**

The validity and construction of this Trust Agreement and all amendments hereto and thereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, and the rights of all Parties hereto and the effect of every provision hereof shall be subject to and construed according to the laws of

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 63 of 74

the State of Delaware without regard to the conflicts of law provisions thereof that would purport to apply the law of any other jurisdiction; provided, however, that the Parties hereto intend that the provisions hereof shall control and there shall not be applicable to the Liquidating Trust, the Trustee, the Delaware Trustee, or this Trust Agreement, any provision of the laws (statutory or common) of the State of Delaware pertaining to trusts that relate to or regulate in a manner inconsistent with the terms hereof: (a) the filing with any court or governmental body or agency of Trustee accounts or schedules of Trustee fees and charges; (b) affirmative requirements to post bonds for the Trustee, officers, agents, or employees of a trust; (c) the necessity for obtaining court or other governmental approval concerning the acquisition, holding, or disposition of real or personal property; (d) fees or other sums payable to the Trustee, officers, agents, or employees of a trust; (e) the allocation of receipts and expenditures to income or principal; (f) restrictions or limitations on the permissible nature, amount, or concentration of trust investments or requirements relating to the titling, storage, or other manner of holding of trust assets; (g) the existence of rights or interests (beneficial or otherwise) in trust assets; (h) the ability of beneficial owners or other persons to terminate or dissolve a trust; or (i) the establishment of fiduciary or other standards or responsibilities or limitations on the acts or powers of the Trustee or beneficial owners that are inconsistent with the limitations on liability or authorities and powers of the Trustee, the TOC or the Delaware Trustee set forth or referenced in this Trust Agreement. Section 3540 of the Act shall not apply to the Liquidating Trust.

7.12 **Dispute Resolution**

(a) Unless otherwise expressly provided for herein, the dispute resolution procedures of this Section 7.12 shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve any dispute arising under or with

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 64 of 74

respect to this Trust Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 7.12 shall not apply to the Delaware Trustee in any respect.

- (b) Informal Dispute Resolution. Any dispute under this Trust Agreement shall first be the subject of informal negotiations. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen when a disputing party sends to the counterparty or counterparties a written notice of dispute ("Notice of Dispute"). Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute. The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed thirty (30) days from the date the Notice of Dispute is received by the counterparty or counterparties, unless that period is modified by written agreement of the disputing party and counterparty or counterparties. If the disputing party and the counterparty or counterparties cannot resolve the dispute by informal negotiations, then the disputing party may invoke the formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below.
- resolution procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding subparagraph, by serving on the counterparty or counterparties a written statement of position regarding the matter in dispute ("Statement of Position"). The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis or opinion supporting the disputing party's position and any supporting documentation and legal authorities relied upon by the disputing party. Each counterparty shall serve its Statement of Position within thirty (30) days of receipt of the disputing party's Statement of Position, which shall also include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis or opinion supporting the counterparty's position and any supporting documentation and legal authorities relied upon by the counterparty. If the disputing party and the counterparty or counterparties are unable to consensually resolve the dispute within thirty (30) days after the last

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 65 of 74

of all counterparties have served its Statement of Position on the disputing party, the disputing party may file with the Bankruptcy Court a motion for judicial review of the dispute in accordance with Section 7.12(d) below.

- (d) **Judicial Review**. The disputing party may seek judicial review of the dispute by filing with the Bankruptcy Court (or, if the Bankruptcy Court shall not have jurisdiction over such dispute, such court as has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 1.4 above) and serving on the counterparty or counterparties and the Trustee, a motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the last counterparty's Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding subparagraph. The motion shall contain a written statement of the disputing party's position on the matter in dispute, including any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, documentation and legal authorities, and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly administration of the Liquidating Trust. Each counterparty shall respond to the motion within the time period allowed by the rules of the court, and the disputing party may file a reply memorandum, to the extent permitted by the rules of the court.
- (e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Trust Agreement, the Liquidating Trust shall bear the reasonable costs and expenses of the TOC in connection with any material dispute that arises under this Trust Agreement.

7.13 Waiver of Conflicts

To the extent that the Trustee or the TOC seek to retain any Liquidating Trust Professionals, the Parties agree to waive any conflict of interest claims against such professionals related to such

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 66 of 74

professionals' prior representation of the Committee or any individual member of the Committee during the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases.

7.14 **Effectiveness**

This Trust Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date.

7.15 <u>Counterpart Signatures</u>

This Trust Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different Parties on separate counterparts (including by PDF transmitted by e-mail), and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

7.16 Waiver of Trial by Jury

Each of the parties hereto hereby waives the right to trial by jury with respect to any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this Trust Agreement.

Case 25-16137-MBK	Doc 1038-3	Filed 11/08/25	Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41	Desc
Exhibi	t C - Liquidatir	ng Trust Agreeme	ent Page 67 of 74	

		ve executed this Trust Agreement this day
of	, 2025.	
	,	TRUSTEE
	-	
]	Brian F. Gleason

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 68 of 74

DELAWARE TRUSTEE

[]	
By:		
Name:		
Title:		

TOC WIEWIDER	
Ву:	
TOC MEMBER	
Ву:	
TOC MEMBER	
Ву:	
TOC MEMBER	
By:	
TOC MEMBER	
Bv:	

EXHIBIT 1

DEBTORS WIND-DOWN ADMINISTRATIONThe individual designated as the Trustee under this Trust Agreement shall also perform duties related to the Wind-Down of the Debtors, in his or her capacity as a Wind-Down Officer. The Wind-Down Officer shall be named as an insured in connection with his or her role as Wind-Down Officer during the wind down period of the Debtors' Estate or until the termination of the Debtors' corporate or other existence, with such insurance to provide a tail period thereafter for the Wind-Down Officer.

- A. **Administration of the Wind-Down**. Post-Effective Date the Trustee, in his or her capacity as Wind-Down Officer, shall administer the responsibilities of the Debtors, including, but not limited to:
 - effectuating the process to wind down, dissolve and liquidate the Estates and distribute any remaining assets in accordance with the Plan, including taking any steps to dissolve, liquidate, bankrupt or take other similar action with respect to the Debtors and any direct or indirect subsidiary of a Debtor, if and to the extent necessary, including by terminating the corporate or organizational existence of the Debtors and each such subsidiary;
 - ii. implementing, enforcing, complying with and effectuating, as applicable, all provisions of the Plan and the obligations under the Plan;
 - iii. preparing and filing appropriate tax returns and other reports on behalf of the Debtors and paying taxes or other obligations owed by the Debtors;
 - iv. entering into and consummating any transactions for the purpose of dissolving the Debtors;
 - v. winding down the affairs of the Debtors, if and to the extent necessary, including establishing any administrative reserves necessary, and taking any steps to dissolve, liquidate, bankrupt, or take other similar action with respect to the Debtors, including by terminating the corporate or organizational existence of the Debtors;
 - vi. taking such actions as are necessary or appropriate to close the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases;
 - vii. maintaining the books and records and accounts of the Debtors and resolving issues pertaining to the retention or disposal of the books and records of the Debtors;
 - viii. providing periodic reports and updates to the Liquidating Trust, no less than quarterly, regarding the status of the administration of the Wind-Down of the Debtors;
 - ix. to the extent not made on or prior to the Effective Date, making distributions on behalf of the Debtors, including through the disbursing agents, to all parties that are entitled to distributions pursuant to the Plan from funds of the Debtors, including to the Liquidating Trust and/or the Direct Claims Trust as set forth in the Plan; and
 - x. paying the expenses of the Wind-Down from the Debtors' assets, including insurance for the Wind-Down Officer.
- B. **Books and Records of Wind-Down**. The Trustee, in his or her capacity as Wind-Down Officer, shall maintain, in respect of the Wind-Down of the Debtors' Estates, all books and

- records of the Debtors, in such detail and for such period of time as may be necessary to enable it to make full and proper reports in respect thereof.
- C. **Tax Reporting and Payments for Wind-Down**. The Trustee, in his or her capacity as Wind-Down Officer, may request an expedited determination of taxes of the Debtors, under section 505(b) of the Bankruptcy Code for all tax returns filed for, or on behalf of, the Debtors for all taxable periods through dissolution.
- D. **Wind-Down Fees**. The Trustee, in his or her capacity as Wind-Down Officer, shall be entitled to charge his or her standard hourly rates for time spent performing duties related to the Wind-Down of the Debtors. Fees charged for time spent performing duties related to the Wind-Down of the Debtors shall be paid in addition to fees charged for time spent performing duties related to the Liquidating Trust.

EXHIBIT 2

CERTIFICATE OF TRUST OF THE

POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST

This Certificate of Trust of the POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST (the "*Trust*") is being duly executed and filed by the undersigned Trustees of the Trust, to form a statutory trust under the Delaware Statutory Trust Act (12 Del. Code § 3801 *et seq.*) (the "*Act*").

Name. The name of the statutory trust formed hereby is:

POWIN LIQUIDATING TRUST

<u>Delaware Trustee</u>. The name and business address of the Delaware Trustee of the Trust in the State of Delaware is:

[•] Effective Date. This Certificate of Trust shall be effective on ______, 2025.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-3 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit C - Liquidating Trust Agreement Page 73 of 74

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, being all of the trustees of the Trust, have

e with Section 3811(a) of the Act.
[•], not in its individual capacity, but solely as Delaware Trustee
By:d Name:

Title:

not individually.

EXHIBIT 3

INVESTMENT GUIDELINES

Consistent with the provisions of Rev. Proc. 94-45 and notwithstanding any other provision of the Trust Agreement, the investment powers of the Trustee, other than those reasonably necessary to maintain the value of the assets and to further the liquidating purpose of the trust, must be limited to powers to invest in demand and time deposits, such as short-term certificates of deposit, in banks or other savings institutions, or other temporary, liquid investments, such as Treasury bills.

EXHIBIT D

(Direct Claims Trust Agreement)

POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST

POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST AGREEMENT

Dated as of [●], 2025

Pursuant to the Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and
Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof
and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors

Dated October 15, 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ARTICLE I AG	REEMENT OF TRUST	2
1.1	Creation and Name	2
1.2	Purpose	3
1.3	Transfer of Assets	3
1.4	Acceptance of Assets and Assumption of Liabilities	5
ARTICLE II PO	OWERS, TRUST ADMINISTRATION, AND REPORTING	6
2.1	Powers	6
2.2	General Administration	9
2.3	Reporting	11
ARTICLE III A	CCOUNTS, INVESTMENTS, AND PAYMENTS	12
3.1	Accounts	12
3.2	Investment Guidelines	12
3.3	Payment of Operating Expenses	13
3.4	Distributions to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries	14
ARTICLE IV T	RUSTEE; DELAWARE TRUSTEE	17
4.1	Number	17
4.2	Term of Service	17
4.3	Compensation and Expenses of the Trustee	18
4.4	Standard of Care; Exculpation	19

	4.5	Protective Provisions	20
	4.6	Indemnification	22
	4.7	Trustee Independence	23
	4.8	No Bond	24
	4.9	Burden of Proof	24
	4.10	Reliance by the Trustee	24
	4.11	Books and Records	25
	4.12	Delaware Trustee	25
	4.13	Trust Meetings	31
	4.14	Matters Requiring Consultation with TOC	32
	4.15	Matters Requiring Consent of TOC	32
	4.16	Trustee's and TOC's Employment of Professionals.	34
ARTI	CLE V TAX N	MATTERS	35
	5.1	Treatment of Direct Claims Transfer	35
	5.2	Income Tax Status	35
	5.3	Tax Returns	35
	5.4	Withholding of Taxes and Reporting Related to Direct Claims Trust	
		Operations	36
ARTI	CLE VI DIRE	CT CLAIMS TRUST OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE	37
	6.1	Members; Action by Members	37
	6.2	Duties	37
	6.3	TOC Information Rights; Reports	38
	6.4	[Reserved.]	38

6.5	Term of Office.	38
6.6	Appointment of Successor	39
6.7	Compensation and Expenses of the TOC.	40
6.8	Procedures for Consultation with and Obtaining the Consent of the T	OC.
		400
ARTICLE VII O	GENERAL PROVISIONS	43
7.1	Irrevocability	43
7.2	Term; Termination	43
7.3	Amendments	44
7.4	Severability	45
7.5	Notices	45
7.6	Successors and Assigns	47
7.7	Limitation on Direct Claims Trust Interests for Securities Laws Purpo	oses 47
7.8	Exemption from Registration	48
7.9	Entire Agreement; No Waiver	48
7.10	Headings	49
7.11	Governing Law	49
7.12	Dispute Resolution	50
7.13	Waiver of Conflicts	52
7.13	Effectiveness	52
7.14	Counterpart Signatures	52
7.15	Waiver of Trial by Jury	52
EXHIBIT 1 CER	RTIFICATE OF TRUST OF THE POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST	56

Case 25-16137-MBK D	Ooc 1038-4	Filed 11/08/25	Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41	Desc
Exhibit D) - Direct Clai	ms Trust Agreer	nent Page 7 of 65	
EXHIBIT 2 INVESTMEN	T GUIDELIN	ES		58

POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST AGREEMENT

This Powin Direct Claims Trust Agreement (this "Trust Agreement"), dated the date set forth on the signature page hereof and effective as of the Effective Date, is entered into pursuant to the Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors Docket No. [939] (as may be further amended or modified, the "Plan"), in Case No. 25-16137 (MBK) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware ("Bankruptcy Court") by the Trustee identified on the signature pages hereof (the "Trustee") and [______] (the "Delaware Trustee"), and the members of the Oversight Committee who are the individuals further identified on the signature page hereto (together with any successors serving in such capacity, the "TOC" and, together with the Trustee and the Delaware Trustee, the "Parties").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Plan contemplates the creation of the Powin Direct Claims Trust (the "Direct Claims Trust");

WHEREAS, the Confirmation Order has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Direct Claims Trust is established to receive and monetize the Direct Claims Trust Assets;

All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have their respective meanings as set forth in the Plan, and such definitions are incorporated herein by reference. All capitalized terms not defined herein or in the Plan, but defined in the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules, shall have the meanings ascribed to them by the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules, and such definitions are incorporated herein by reference.

WHEREAS, the Trustee shall administer the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with the terms of the Plan, the Confirmation Order and this Trust Agreement (the "Governing Documents"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Direct Claims Trust is intended to qualify as a "grantor trust" for United States federal income tax purposes, pursuant to Sections 671-679 of the Internal Revenue Code (the "IRC"), with the contributors of Direct Claims to the Direct Claims Trust (the "Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries" and the interests in the Direct Claims Trust held by such Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries, the "Direct Claims Trust Interests") treated as the grantors of the Direct Claims Trust.

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed as follows:

ARTICLE I

AGREEMENT OF TRUST

1.1 Creation and Name

There is hereby created a trust known as the "Powin Direct Claims Trust." The Trustee of the Direct Claims Trust may transact the business and affairs of the Direct Claims Trust in the name of the Direct Claims Trust, and references herein to the Direct Claims Trust shall include the Trustee acting on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust. It is the intention of the Parties that the Direct Claims Trust qualify as a "grantor trust" within the meaning of Sections 671-677 of the IRC and that this Trust Agreement constitute the governing instrument of the Direct Claims Trust. The Trustee and the Delaware Trustee are hereby authorized and directed to execute and file a Certificate of Trust with the Delaware Secretary of State in the form attached hereto as **Exhibit 1**.

1.2 **Purpose**

The purposes of the Direct Claims Trust are to:

- (a) receive and monetize the Direct Claims Trust Assets pursuant to the terms of the Plan and the Confirmation Order;
- (b) pursue, and if applicable, resolve (by way of settlement, judgment, or otherwise) the Direct Claims which constitute Direct Claims Trust Assets;
- hold, manage, protect and invest the Direct Claims Trust Assets, together with any income or gain earned thereon and proceeds derived therefrom (collectively, the "**Trust Assets**"), and monetize any non-liquid Trust Assets, in accordance with the terms of the Governing Documents for the benefit of the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries, with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust;
- (d) make distributions of Trust Assets ("**Direct Claims Trust Distributions**") to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries in accordance with and subject to the terms of this Trust Agreement and the Plan; and
- (e) engage in any lawful activity that is appropriate and in furtherance of the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust to the extent consistent with the Governing Documents.

1.3 **Transfer of Assets**

Pursuant to, and in accordance with Article 13.3(b)(ii) of the Plan, the Direct Claims Trust has received the Direct Claims Trust Assets. The Direct Claims Trust Assets and any other assets

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 11 of 65

to be transferred to the Direct Claims Trust under the Plan will be transferred to the Direct Claims

Trust free and clear of any liens or other claims by the Debtors, any creditor, or other entity.

The Contributing Direct Claim Holders shall automatically be deemed to transfer, assign, and deliver to the Direct Claims Trust, or the Trustee on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust, all of their respective rights, title and interests in and to their Direct Claims and any privilege or immunity attaching to any document or communications (whether written or oral) associated with any of the contributed Direct Claims, provided, however, that such Contributing Direct Claim Holders shall retain a co-equal interest in any assigned privilege or immunity and shall not waive such privilege or immunity without such Contributing Direct Claim Holders' consent. Contributing Direct Claim Holders shall only be permitted to withdraw their Direct Claims from the Direct Claims Trust by providing written notice to the Trustee prior to the Effective Date of the Plan, where upon such withdrawal such previously Contributing Direct Claim Holder shall no longer be a Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary.

The Liquidating Trust and this Direct Claims Trust have a common, joint interest in the Causes of Action. Pursuant to the terms of this Trust Agreement, the Trustee is authorized to utilize any privileged documents or communications in his or her capacity as Liquidating Trustee, and the Trustee is authorized to utilize any privileged documents belonging to the Liquidating Trust in his or her capacity as Trustee, in each case without any prior notification to the Liquidating Trust Beneficiaries, and the Trustee is authorized to receive and utilize any such privileged documents or communications in his or her discretion, in connection with the Causes of Action.

For purposes of this Section 1.3, "privilege" means attorney-client privilege or work product protection (or both as the case may be) as those terms are defined in Federal Rule of

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 12 of 65

Evidence 502(g) or any other privilege or immunity available under any applicable law. All communications between the Trustee and the TOC shall be deemed privileged and confidential communications, it being acknowledged that the subject matter of such communications is with respect to common litigation interests. Such communications shall not be disclosed to any third parties except as may be required by an order of a court of competent jurisdiction upon prior notice to the Trustee or to the extent permitted under the cooperation provisions of this Section 1.3; provided, however, that the Trustee may reference or utilize such communications in a complaint or other court pleading; provided, further, that the Trustee takes customary precautions to preserve the confidentiality of such documents including but not limited to filing such complaints or other court pleadings under seal or redact references to such documents and/or communications, as appropriate, unless a court of competent jurisdiction orders otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, the TOC, each member serving on the TOC, and each Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary shall have no right, title or interest in and/or to any privilege or immunity that the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries transfer, assign, and deliver to the Direct Claims Trust and the Trustee in his or her capacity as the Trustee, and such privilege and immunity shall only be the Direct Claims Trust's and Trustee's in its capacity as the Trustee to preserve, assert or waive.

1.4 Acceptance of Assets and Assumption of Liabilities

(a) In furtherance of the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust, the Direct Claims Trust hereby expressly accepts the transfer to the Direct Claims Trust of the Direct Claims Trust Assets in the time and manner as, and subject to the terms, contemplated in the Plan.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 13 of 65

- (b) In this Trust Agreement, the words "must," "will," and "shall" are intended to have the same mandatory force and effect, while the word "may" is intended to be permissive rather than mandatory.
- (c) The Bankruptcy Court shall have continuing jurisdiction over the Direct Claims Trust, provided, however, that the courts of the State of Delaware, including any federal court located therein, shall also have jurisdiction over the Direct Claims Trust.

ARTICLE II

POWERS, TRUST ADMINISTRATION, AND REPORTING

2.1 **Powers**

- (a) The Trustee is and shall act as a fiduciary to the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with the provisions of the Governing Documents. The Trustee shall, at all times, administer the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with the purposes set forth in Section 1.2 above and the Plan. Subject to the limitations set forth in the Governing Documents, the Trustee shall have the power to take any and all actions that, in the judgment of the Trustee, are necessary or proper to fulfil the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust, including, without limitation, each power expressly granted in this Section 2.1, any power reasonably incidental thereto and not inconsistent with the requirements of Section 2.2 below, and any trust power now or hereafter permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware.
- (b) Except as required by applicable law or as otherwise specified herein or in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the Trustee need not obtain the order or approval of any court in the exercise of any power or discretion conferred hereunder.

- (c) Without limiting the generality of Section 2.1(a) above, and except as limited herein, including as set forth in Sections 4.14 and 4.15 of this Trust Agreement, or by the Plan, the Trustee shall have the power to:
 - (i) receive and monetize the Direct Claims Trust Assets and exercise all rights with respect thereto;
 - (ii) invest the monies held from time to time by the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with the Investment Guidelines pursuant to Section 3.2 below;
 - (iii) incur expenses and other obligations of the Direct Claims Trust necessary to carry out the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with this Trust Agreement and the Plan, and arrange for such expenses to be advanced by the Liquidating Trust as set forth in this Trust Agreement and the Plan;
 - (iv) to borrow such sums of money or enter into litigation funding agreements, at any time and from time to time, for such periods of time, upon such terms and conditions, from such Persons, for such purposes as the Trustee deems reasonable;
 - (v) establish such funds, reserves, and accounts within the Direct Claims Trust,as the Trustee deems useful in carrying out the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust;
 - (vi) commence, pursue, investigate, prosecute, settle and resolve any of theDirect Claims which constitute Direct Claims Trust Assets;
 - (vii) establish, supervise, and administer the Direct Claims Trust and make distributions to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries pursuant to the terms of Governing Documents;
 - (viii) appoint such officers and retain such consultants, advisors, independent contractors, experts and agents and engage in such legal, financial, administrative,

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 15 of 65

accounting, investment, auditing, forecasting, and alternative dispute resolution services and activities as the Direct Claims Trust requires, and delegate to such persons such powers and authorities as the fiduciary duties of the Trustee permit and as the Trustee, in his or her discretion, deems advisable or necessary in order to carry out the terms of this Trust Agreement;

- (ix) pay reasonable compensation for any of the Direct Claims Trust's consultants, advisors, independent contractors, experts, and agents for legal, financial, administrative, accounting, investment, auditing, forecasting, and alternative dispute resolution services and activities as the Direct Claims Trust requires, as well as the fees and expenses of the TOC and TOC Professionals, in each case, subject to the procedures set forth herein;
- (x) pay reasonable compensation for the Trustee, the Delaware Trustee, consultants, advisors, independent contractors, experts and agents, and reimburse the Trustee and the Delaware Trustee for all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by such persons in connection with the performance of their duties hereunder, in each case, subject to the procedures set forth herein;
- (xi) enter into such other arrangements with third parties as the Trustee deems useful in carrying out the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust, provided such arrangements are not material and do not conflict with any other provision of this Trust Agreement or the Plan;
- (xii) in accordance with Section 4.4 below, defend, indemnify, and hold harmless (and purchase insurance indemnifying) the Trust Indemnified Parties (as defined in Section 4.4 below), to the fullest extent that a statutory trust organized under the laws of the State

of Delaware is from time to time entitled to defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and/or insure its directors, trustees, officers, employees, consultants, advisors, agents, and representatives. No party shall be indemnified in any way for any liability, expense, claim, damage, or loss for which he or she is liable under Section 4.4 below; and

- (xiii) exercise any and all other rights, and take any and all other actions as are permitted, of the Trustee in accordance with the terms of this Trust Agreement and the Plan.
- (d) The Direct Claims Trust shall not have the power to guarantee any debt of other persons.
- (e) The Trustee shall endeavour to make timely distributions and not unduly prolong the duration of the Direct Claims Trust.
- (f) The Trustee shall consult with the TOC on the matters set forth in Section 4.14 below. The Trustee shall obtain the consent of the TOC prior to taking action with respect to the matters set forth in Section 4.15 below, as and to the extent set forth therein.

2.2 General Administration

- (a) The Trustee shall act in accordance with the Governing Documents. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Trust Agreement and the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control. For the avoidance of doubt, this Trust Agreement shall be construed and implemented in accordance with the Plan, regardless of whether any provision herein explicitly references the Plan.
- (b) The Trustee shall (i) timely file such tax returns and pay any taxes imposed on the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with Section 5.3, (ii) comply with all applicable reporting and

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 17 of 65

withholding obligations in accordance with Section 5.4, and (iii) satisfy all requirements necessary to qualify and maintain qualification of the Direct Claims Trust as a "grantor trust" pursuant to Sections 671-677 of the IRC.

- (c) Other than the obligations of the Trustee specifically set forth in the Governing Documents, the Trustee shall have no obligations of any kind or nature with respect to his or her position as such.
- (d) The Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust shall fully cooperate with each other with respect to their respective investigation and/or prosecution of any Causes of Action. As indicated in Article I, Section 1.3 of this Trust Agreement, cooperation shall include, but not be limited to, sharing and/or exchanging documents obtained in discovery and such other forms of mutual cooperation that, in the sole discretion of the Trustee is appropriate and in the best interest of the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust. Such cooperation shall be subject to all available common interest protection and/or privileges applicable to the foregoing investigation and/or prosecution.
- (e) In the event that (i) the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust prosecute related claims against a single defendant, (ii) a recovery is received related to such claims, and (iii) the Trustee determines in his or her commercially reasonable judgment that there is no clear allocation of such recovery between claims brought by the Liquidating Trust and claims brought by the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee shall in its discretion allocate between 40-60% of such recovery to the Trust with the remainder to be allocated to the Liquidating Trust.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 18 of 65

2.3 **Reporting**

- (a) The Trustee shall timely prepare, file and distribute such statements, reports and submissions to the extent required by applicable law.
- (b) The Trustee shall cause to be prepared and filed with the Bankruptcy Court, no later than thirty-one (31) days after June 30 and December 31 of each calendar year, a semi-annual report (the "Semi-Annual Report") regarding the administration of property subject to its ownership and control pursuant to the Plan, distributions made by it and other matters relating to the implementation of the Plan.
- (c) The Trustee shall cause to be prepared and filed with the Bankruptcy Court, as soon as available, and in any event no later than one hundred and twenty (120) days following the end of each fiscal year, an annual report (the "Annual Report") containing special-purpose financial statements of the Direct Claims Trust (including, without limitation, a special-purpose statement of assets, liabilities and net claimants' equity, a special-purpose statement of changes in net claimants' equity and a special-purpose statement of cash flows). The Trustee shall not be required to obtain an audit of the Annual Report by a firm of independent certified public accountants. The Annual Report shall be made available to the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries by means of actual notice, provided, however, the Trustee may post the Annual Report on a website maintained by the Direct Claims Trust in lieu of actual notice to each Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary (unless otherwise required by law) (the "Website").

ARTICLE III

ACCOUNTS, INVESTMENTS, AND PAYMENTS

3.1 Accounts

- (a) The Trustee shall maintain one or more accounts (the "**Trust Accounts**") on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust with one or more financial depository institutions (each a "**Financial Institution**").
- (b) The Trustee may replace any retained Financial Institution with a successor Financial Institution at any time, and such successor shall be subject to the considerations set forth in Section 3.1(a) above.
- (c) The Trustee may, from time to time, create such accounts and reasonable reserves within the Trust Accounts as authorized in this Section 3.1 and as he or she may deem necessary, prudent or useful in order to provide for distributions to the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries and may, with respect to any such account or reserve, restrict the use of money therein for a specified purpose (the "**Trust Subaccounts**"). Any such Trust Subaccounts established by the Trustee shall be held as Trust Assets and are not intended to be subject to separate entity tax treatment as a "disputed claims reserve," a "disputed ownership fund," or a "qualified settlement fund" within the meaning of the IRC or Treasury Regulations.

3.2 **Investment Guidelines**

(a) The Trustee may invest the Trust Assets in accordance with the Investment Guidelines, attached hereto as **Exhibit 2** (the "**Investment Guidelines**").

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 20 of 65

- (b) In the event the Direct Claims Trust holds any non-liquid assets, the Trustee shall own, protect, oversee, and monetize such non-liquid assets in accordance with the Governing Documents. This Section 3.2(b) is intended to modify the application to the Direct Claims Trust of the "prudent person" rule, "prudent investor" rule and any other rule of law that would require the Trustee to diversify the Trust Assets.
- (c) Cash proceeds received by the Direct Claims Trust in connection with its monetization of the non-liquid Trust Assets shall be invested in accordance with the Investment Guidelines until needed for the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust as set forth in Section 1.2 above.

3.3 **Payment of Operating Expenses**

(a) All operating expenses of the Direct Claims Trust shall be paid by the Trustee from the proceeds of Trust Assets in accordance with this Trust Agreement. In the event that amounts need to be advanced to the Direct Claims Trust by the Liquidating Trust in order to pay Trust expenses, such advances shall be repaid to the Liquidating Trust in full upon realization of a recovery of Direct Claims Trust Assets before distribution of any proceeds to the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries.² None of the Trustee, Delaware Trustee, the TOC, the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries, nor any of their officers, agents, advisors, professionals or employees shall be personally liable for the payment of any operating expense or other liability of the Direct Claims Trust. Except as expressly set forth in the Plan, none of the Debtors, nor any of their officers, agents, advisors, professionals or employees shall be liable for the payment of any operating

² The Direct Claims Trust will not make any additional payments the Liquidating Trust, including but not limited to cooperation payments as referenced in the Plan, without the approval of the TOC.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 21 of 65

expense or other liability of the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee, the Delaware Trustee or the TOC. To the extent that the Trustee determines that the Direct Claims Trust is likely to incur a cash shortfall prior to the termination and winding up of the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee may determine to establish cash reserves from the corpus of the Direct Claims Trust, which cash reserves shall be allocated equitably to the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries by the Trustee in his or her judgment.

(b) Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries who incur out-of-pocket expenses from and after the Effective Date in connection with the Trust's pursuit of their Direct Claims, including out-of-pocket expenses for producing documents, sitting for depositions, or testifying at trial, shall be reimbursed their reasonable costs, subject to review and objection by the Trustee and TOC.

3.4 <u>Distributions to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries</u>

- (a) The Trustee will make distributions to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries in a fair, consistent and equitable manner in accordance with the Governing Documents.
- (b) Distributions to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries shall be made, as determined by the Trustee in his or her discretion subject to the terms of the Plan, provided, however, the Direct Claims Trust must distribute at least annually to the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries its net income plus all net proceeds from the sale of assets, except that the Direct Claims Trust may retain an amount of net proceeds or net income reasonably necessary to maintain the value of its assets or to meet claims and contingent liabilities (including disputed claims). Such distributions shall be made to the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries pro rata in proportion to the amount of their Allowed Claims.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 22 of 65

- (c) The Direct Claims Trust may withhold or deduct from amounts distributable to any Person any and all amounts, determined in the Trustee's reasonable sole discretion, required by any law, regulation, rule, ruling, directive, or other governmental requirement (including, without limitation, tax withholding in accordance with Section 5.4 below).
- (d) The Trustee may retain a distribution agent for the effective administration and distribution of amounts payable to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries; provided, however, that such distribution agent shall have no greater authority than, and shall be subject to the same restrictions as, the Trustee under this Trust Agreement.
- (e) Subject to Bankruptcy Rule 9010, any distribution to a Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary shall be made: (1) at the addresses set forth on the respective proofs of Claim filed by such holders; (2) at the address set forth in any written notices of address changes delivered to the Trustee after the date of any related proof of Claim; or (3) at the address reflected in the schedules if no proof of Claim is filed with the Trustee and the Trustee has not received a written notice of a change of address. Except as set forth in the Plan, if any Direct Claims Trust Distribution or other communication from the Direct Claims Trust is returned as undeliverable, no further Direct Claims Trust Distribution shall be made to such holder unless the Trustee is notified in writing of such holder's then current address. Undeliverable Direct Claims Trust Distributions shall remain in the possession of the Trustee until the earlier of (i) such time as a Direct Claims Trust Distribution becomes deliverable or (ii) such undeliverable Direct Claims Trust Distribution becomes unclaimed property pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and this Trust Agreement. Except as required by law, the Trustee (or its duly authorized agent) shall have no obligation to locate any Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 23 of 65

- (f) After final Direct Claims Trust Distributions have been made in accordance with the Governing Documents, and adequate provision has been made for all final obligations of the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee shall have the authority to direct the remaining Trust Assets to a tax-exempt organization as selected by the Trustee in his or her discretion.
- (g) Checks issued to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries shall be null and void if not negotiated within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the date of issuance thereof. Requests for reissuance of any voided check shall be made directly to the Trustee by the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary to whom such check was originally issued. Any Direct Claim in respect of such a voided check shall be made within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the date of issuance of such check. If no request is made as provided in the preceding sentence, the check shall be deemed undistributable and shall be subject to the provisions of Section 3.4(c).
- (h) Cash payments to foreign Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries may be made, at the option of the Trustee, in such funds and by such means as are necessary or customary in the foreign jurisdiction of such foreign holder.
- (i) The Trustee shall have the discretion to determine the timing of Direct Claims Trust Distributions in the most efficient and cost-effective manner possible; provided, however, that the Trustee's discretion may not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with any express requirements of the Plan.
- (j) Notwithstanding any provision in the Governing Documents to the contrary, the Trustee, in the Trustee's sole discretion, may decline to make any distribution of \$100 or less, due to the economic inefficiency of making a distribution of such a de minimis amount.

ARTICLE IV

TRUSTEE; DELAWARE TRUSTEE

4.1 Number

In addition to the Delaware Trustee appointed pursuant to Section 4.12 below, there shall be one (1) Trustee who shall be the person named on the signature pages hereof.

4.2 **Term of Service**

- (a) The Trustee shall serve from the Effective Date until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 4.2(b) below, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 4.2(c) below, or (iv) the termination of the Direct Claims Trust pursuant to Section 7.2 below.
- (b) The Trustee may resign at any time upon written notice filed with the Bankruptcy Court and delivered to the TOC. Such notice shall specify a date when such resignation shall take effect, which shall not be less than ninety (90) days after the date such notice is given, where practicable.
- (c) The Trustee may be removed by the Bankruptcy Court upon motion by the TOC in the event the Trustee becomes unable to discharge his or her duties hereunder due to accident, physical deterioration, mental incompetence or for other good cause. Other good cause shall include, without limitation, (i) fraud, self-dealing, intentional misrepresentation, wilful misconduct, indictment for or conviction of a felony, in each case whether or not connected to the Direct Claims Trust, or (ii) a consistent pattern of neglect and failure to perform or participate in performing the duties of Trustee hereunder.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 25 of 65

- (d) In the event of any vacancy in the office of the Trustee, including the death, resignation or removal of any Trustee, such vacancy shall be filled by the TOC as set forth herein. The TOC will nominate an individual to serve as successor Trustee. If the majority of the TOC then in office agree upon a successor Trustee, then, subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court, such individual shall become the Trustee. In the event that a majority of the TOC then in office cannot agree on a successor Trustee, the matter will be resolved pursuant to Section 7.12 below.
- (e) Immediately upon the appointment of any successor Trustee pursuant to Section 4.2(d) above, all rights, titles, duties, powers and authority of the predecessor Trustee hereunder shall be vested in and undertaken by the successor Trustee without any further act. No successor Trustee shall be liable personally for any act or omission of his or her predecessor Trustee. No predecessor Trustee shall be liable personally for any act or omission of his or her successor Trustee. No successor Trustee shall have any duty to investigate the acts or omissions of his or her predecessor Trustee.
- (f) Each successor Trustee shall serve until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 4.2(b) above, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 4.2(c) above, and (iv) the termination of the Direct Claims Trust pursuant to Section 6.2 below.

4.3 Compensation and Expenses of the Trustee

(a) The Trustee shall receive compensation on an hourly basis for its service as Trustee on matters related to the operation of the Trust. The hourly rate shall be the Trustee's usual and customary rate then in effect, which currently range from \$855 per hour (subject to the consent of the TOC, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 26 of 65

(b) The Direct Claims Trust will promptly reimburse the Trustee for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by the Trustee in connection with the performance of his or her duties hereunder.

4.4 Standard of Care; Exculpation

- (a) As used herein, the term "**Trust Indemnified Party**" shall mean each of (i) the Trustee, (ii) the Delaware Trustee, (iii) the TOC and (iv) the officers, employees, consultants, advisors, and agents of each of the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee and the TOC, including the Trustee Professionals and the TOC Professionals.
- (b) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Trust Indemnified Parties shall not have or incur any liability for actions taken or omitted in their capacities as Trust Indemnified Parties, or on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust, except those acts found by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction ("Final Order") to be arising out of their wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud, and shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement for reasonable fees and expenses in defending any and all of their actions or inactions in their capacity as Trust Indemnified Parties, or on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust, and for any other liabilities, losses, damages, claims, costs and expenses arising out of or due to the implementation or administration of the Plan or this Trust Agreement (other than taxes in the nature of income taxes imposed on compensation paid to such persons), in each case except for any actions or inactions found by Final Order to be arising out of their wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud. Any valid indemnification claim of any of the Trust Indemnified Parties shall be satisfied from the Direct Claims Trust.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 27 of 65

(c) To the extent that, at law or in equity, the Trust Indemnified Parties have duties (including fiduciary duties) or liability related thereto, to the Direct Claims Trust or the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries, it is hereby understood and agreed by the Parties that such duties and liabilities are eliminated to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, and replaced by the duties and liabilities expressly set forth in this Trust Agreement with respect to the Trust Indemnified Parties; provided, however, that with respect to the Trust Indemnified Parties other than the Delaware Trustee the duties of care and loyalty are not eliminated but are limited and subject to the terms of this Trust Agreement, including but not limited to this Section 4.4 and its subparts.

4.5 **Protective Provisions**

- (a) Every provision of this Trust Agreement relating to the conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to Trust Indemnified Parties shall be subject to the provisions of this Section 4.5.
- (b) In the event the Trustee retains counsel (including at the expense of the Direct Claims Trust), the Trustee shall be afforded the benefit of the attorney-client privilege with respect to all communications with such counsel, and in no event shall the Trustee be deemed to have waived any right or privilege including, without limitation, the attorney-client privilege even if the communications with counsel had the effect of guiding the Trustee in the performance of duties hereunder. Such attorney-client privilege shall be vested solely in the Trustee, on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust, and not in the TOC, or any other person, committee or subcomponent of the Direct Claims Trust, or any other person (including counsel and other professionals) who has been engaged by, represents, or has represented any holder of Direct Claim. A successor Trustee shall

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 28 of 65

succeed to and hold the same respective rights and benefits of the predecessor for purposes of privilege, including the attorney-client privilege. No Party or other person may raise any exception to the attorney-client privilege described herein as any such exceptions are hereby waived by all Parties.

- (c) No Trust Indemnified Party shall be personally liable under any circumstances, except for his or her own wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud as determined by a Final Order.
- (d) No provision of this Trust Agreement shall require the Trust Indemnified Parties to expend or risk their own personal funds or otherwise incur financial liability in the performance of their rights, duties and powers hereunder.
- (e) In the exercise or administration of the Direct Claims Trust hereunder, the Trust Indemnified Parties (i) may act directly or through their respective agents or attorneys pursuant to agreements entered into with any of them, and the Trust Indemnified Parties shall not be liable for the default or misconduct of such agents or attorneys if such agents or attorneys have been selected by the Trust Indemnified Parties in good faith and with due care, and (ii) may consult with counsel, accountants and other professionals to be selected by them in good faith and with due care and employed by them, and shall not be liable for anything done, suffered or omitted in good faith by them in accordance with the advice or opinion of any such counsel, accountants or other professionals.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 29 of 65

4.6 **Indemnification**

- (a) To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, the Trust Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement for reasonable fees and expenses (including attorneys' fees and costs but excluding taxes in the nature of income taxes imposed on compensation paid to the Trust Indemnified Parties) in defending any and all of their actions or inactions in their capacity as Trust Indemnified Parties, or on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust, and for any other liabilities, losses, damages, claims, costs and expenses arising out of or due to the implementation or administration of the Plan or the Trust Agreement (other than taxes in the nature of income taxes imposed on compensation paid to such persons), in each case, except for any actions or inactions found by Final Order to be arising out of their wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud. Any valid indemnification claim of any of the Trust Indemnified Parties shall be satisfied from the Trust Assets.
- (b) Reasonable expenses, costs and fees (including attorneys' fees and costs) incurred by or on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties in connection with any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, administrative or arbitrative, from which they are indemnified by the Direct Claims Trust shall be paid by the Direct Claims Trust from the Direct Claims Trust Assets in advance of the final disposition thereof upon receipt of an undertaking, by or on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties, to repay such amount in the event that it shall be determined ultimately by Final Order that the Trust Indemnified Parties or any other potential indemnitee are not entitled to be indemnified by the Direct Claims Trust. The Trustee may, in his or her discretion, authorize an advance of reasonable expenses, costs and fees (including attorneys' fees and costs) to be incurred by or on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties, as set forth herein.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 30 of 65

- (c) The Trustee shall purchase and maintain appropriate amounts and types of insurance on behalf of the Trust Indemnified Parties, as determined by the Trustee, which may include insurance with respect to liability asserted against or incurred by such individual in that capacity or arising from his or her status as a Trust Indemnified Party, and/or as an employee, agent, lawyer, advisor or consultant of any such person.
- Indemnified Party shall survive the termination of such Trust Indemnified Party from the capacity for which such Trust Indemnified Party is indemnified. Modification of this Trust Agreement shall not affect any indemnification rights or obligations in existence at such time. In making a determination with respect to entitlement to indemnification of any Trust Indemnified Party hereunder, the person, persons or entity making such determination shall presume that such Trust Indemnified Party is entitled to indemnification under this Trust Agreement, and any person seeking to overcome such presumption shall have the burden of proof to overcome the presumption.
- (e) The rights to indemnification hereunder are not exclusive of other rights which any Trust Indemnified Party may otherwise have at law or in equity, including common law rights to indemnification or contribution.

4.7 **Trustee Independence**

The Trustee shall not act as an attorney, agent, or other professional for any Direct Claims

Trust Beneficiary or any holder of a Direct Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 4.7 shall not be applicable to the Delaware Trustee.

4.8 **No Bond**

Neither the Trustee nor the Delaware Trustee shall be required to post any bond or other form of surety or security unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

4.9 **Burden of Proof**

In any proceeding brought by any of the Debtors, or any other person who is bound by this Trust Agreement challenging any action, determination or failure to act of the Trustee in discharge of his or her duties under this Trust Agreement on the basis that such action, determination or failure constitutes gross negligence, wilful misconduct or fraud, the person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding shall have the burden of proving that such determination, action or failure to act constituted gross negligence, wilful misconduct, or fraud. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Trust Agreement or any duty otherwise existing at law or equity, each determination, action or failure to act of the Trustee in the discharge of his or her duties under this Trust Agreement is, to the extent consistent with this Trust Agreement, hereby deemed to not constitute a breach of this Trust Agreement or any duty hereunder or existing at law, in equity or otherwise.

4.10 Reliance by the Trustee

The Trustee may absolutely rely, and shall be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting if he or she relies upon any resolution, statement, certificate, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order or other instrument or document that he or she has no reasonable belief to be other than genuine and to have been signed or presented other than by the proper party or parties or, in the case of facsimile transmissions, to have been sent other than by the proper

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 32 of 65

party or parties, in each case without obligation to satisfy itself that the same was given in good faith and without responsibility for errors in delivery, transmission or receipt. In the absence of gross negligence, wilful misconduct, or fraud in respect of the Trustee's duties as found by a final and non-appealable court of competent jurisdiction, or material breach of this Trust Agreement, the Trustee may rely as to the truth of statements and correctness of the facts and opinions expressed therein and shall be fully protected personally in acting (or, if applicable, not acting) thereon. The Trustee shall have the right at any time to seek and rely upon instructions from the Bankruptcy Court concerning this Trust Agreement, the Plan or any other document executed in connection therewith, and the Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon such instructions in acting or failing to act and shall not be liable for any act taken or not taken in reliance thereon.

4.11 **Books and Records**

Upon notice to the Bankruptcy Court and the TOC, the Trustee shall be free, in his or her discretion to abandon, destroy or otherwise dispose of any books and records in his possession that the Trustee deems not necessary for the continued administration of the Plan and not required to be retained under applicable law, without the need for any order of the Bankruptcy Court, and shall have no liability for same. This notice provision shall not create any right by any third party to access to privileged or confidential information held by the Direct Claims Trust.

4.12 **Delaware Trustee**

(a) There shall at all times be a Delaware Trustee to serve in accordance with the requirements of the Act. The Delaware Trustee shall either be (i) a natural person who is at least twenty-one (21) years of age and a resident of the State of Delaware or (ii) a legal entity that has its principal place of business in the State of Delaware, otherwise meets the requirements of

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 33 of 65

applicable Delaware law to be eligible to serve as the Delaware Trustee, and shall act through one or more persons authorized to bind such entity. If at any time the Delaware Trustee shall cease to be eligible to serve as Delaware Trustee in accordance with the provisions of this Section 4.12, it shall resign immediately in the manner and with the effect hereinafter specified in Section 4.12(c) below. For the avoidance of doubt, the Delaware Trustee will only have such rights, duties and obligations as expressly provided by reference to the Delaware Trustee hereunder. The Trustee shall have no liability for the acts or omissions of any Delaware Trustee.

(b) The Delaware Trustee shall not be entitled to exercise any powers, nor shall the Delaware Trustee have any of the duties and responsibilities of the Trustee set forth herein. The Delaware Trustee shall be a trustee of the Direct Claims Trust for the sole and limited purpose of fulfilling the requirements of Section 3807(a) of Chapter 38 of title 12 of the Delaware Code, 12 Del. C. Section 3801 et seq. (the "Act") and for taking such actions as are required to be taken by a Delaware Trustee under the Act. The duties (including fiduciary duties), liabilities and obligations of the Delaware Trustee shall be limited to accepting legal process served on the Direct Claims Trust in the State of Delaware and the execution of any certificates required to be filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware that the Delaware Trustee is required to execute under Section 3811 of the Act. There shall be no other duties (including fiduciary duties) or obligations, express or implied, at law or in equity, of the Delaware Trustee. These duties shall be deemed purely ministerial in nature, and the Delaware Trustee shall not be liable except for the performance of such duties, and no implied covenants or obligations shall be read into this Trust Agreement against the Delaware Trustee. To the extent that, at law or in equity, the Delaware Trustee has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating to the Direct Claims Trust or the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries, such duties and liabilities are replaced by the duties and liabilities of the Delaware Trustee expressly set forth in this Trust Agreement. The Delaware Trustee shall have no liability for the acts or omissions of any Trustee. Any permissive rights of the Delaware Trustee to do things enumerated in this Trust Agreement shall not be construed as a duty and, with respect to any such permissive rights, the Delaware Trustee shall not be answerable for other than its wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or fraud. The Delaware Trustee shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights or powers vested in it by this Trust Agreement at the request or direction of the Trustee or any other person pursuant to the provisions of this Trust Agreement unless the Trustee or such other person shall have offered to the Delaware Trustee security or indemnity (satisfactory to the Delaware Trustee in its discretion) against the costs, expenses and liabilities that may be incurred by it in compliance with such request or direction. The Delaware Trustee shall be entitled to request and receive written instructions from the Trustee and shall have no responsibility or liability for any losses or damages of any nature that may arise from any action taken or not taken by the Delaware Trustee in accordance with the written direction of the Trustee. The Delaware Trustee may conclusively rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, debenture, note, other evidence of indebtedness or other paper or document believed by them to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties, not only as to due execution, validity and effectives, but also as to the truth and accuracy of any information contained therein. The Delaware Trustee may, at the expense of the Direct Claims Trust, request, rely on and act in accordance with officer's certificates and/or opinions of counsel, and shall incur no liability and shall be fully protected in acting or refraining from acting in accordance with such officer's certificates and opinions of counsel.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 35 of 65

- (c) The Delaware Trustee shall serve until such time as the Trustee removes the Delaware Trustee or the Delaware Trustee resigns and a successor Delaware Trustee is appointed by the Trustee in accordance with the terms of Section 4.12(d) below. The Delaware Trustee may resign at any time upon the giving of at least sixty (60) days' advance written notice to the Trustee; provided that such resignation shall not become effective unless and until a successor Delaware Trustee shall have been appointed by the Trustee in accordance with Section 4.12(d) below; provided further that if any amounts due and owing to the Delaware Trustee hereunder remain unpaid for more than ninety (90) days, the Delaware Trustee shall be entitled to resign immediately by giving written notice to the Trustee. If the Trustee does not act within such sixty (60) day period, the Delaware Trustee, at the expense of the Direct Claims Trust, may apply to the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or any other court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Delaware Trustee.
- (d) Upon the resignation or removal of the Delaware Trustee, the Trustee shall appoint a successor Delaware Trustee by delivering a written instrument to the outgoing Delaware Trustee. Any successor Delaware Trustee must satisfy the requirements of Section 3807 of the Act. Any resignation or removal of the Delaware Trustee and appointment of a successor Delaware Trustee shall not become effective until a written acceptance of appointment is delivered by the successor Delaware Trustee to the outgoing Delaware Trustee and the Trustee, and any fees and expenses due to the outgoing Delaware Trustee are paid. Following compliance with the preceding sentence, the successor Delaware Trustee shall become fully vested with all of the rights, powers, duties and obligations of the outgoing Delaware Trustee under this Trust Agreement, with like effect as if originally named as Delaware Trustee, and the outgoing Delaware Trustee shall be discharged of his or her duties and obligations under this Trust Agreement. The successor Delaware Trustee shall

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 36 of 65

make any related filings required under the Act, including filing a Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Trust of the Direct Claims Trust in accordance with Section 3810 of the Act.

- (e) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any business entity into which the Delaware Trustee may be merged or converted or with which it may be consolidated or any entity resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Delaware Trustee shall be a party, or any entity succeeding to all or substantially all of the corporate trust business of the Delaware Trustee, shall be the successor of the Delaware Trustee hereunder, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of the parties hereto.
- (f) The Delaware Trustee shall be entitled to compensation for its services as agreed pursuant to a separate fee agreement between the Direct Claims Trust and the Delaware Trustee, which compensation shall be paid by the Direct Claims Trust. Such compensation is intended for the Delaware Trustee's services as contemplated by this Trust Agreement. The terms of this paragraph shall survive termination of this Trust Agreement and/or the earlier resignation or removal of the Delaware Trustee.
- (g) The Delaware Trustee shall neither be responsible for, nor chargeable with, knowledge of the terms and conditions of any other agreement, instrument, or document, other than this Trust Agreement, whether or not, an original or a copy of such agreement has been provided to the Delaware Trustee. The Delaware Trustee shall have no duty to know or inquire as to the performance or non-performance of any provision of any other agreement, instrument or document, other than this Trust Agreement. Neither the Delaware Trustee nor any of its directors, officers, employees, agents or affiliates shall be responsible for nor have any duty to monitor the performance or any action of the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee or any other person, or any of

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 37 of 65

their directors, members, officers, agents, affiliates or employee, nor shall it have any liability in connection with the malfeasance or nonfeasance by such party. The Delaware Trustee may assume performance by all such persons of their respective obligations. The Delaware Trustee shall have no enforcement or notification obligations relating to breaches of representations or warranties of any other person. The Delaware Trustee shall have no responsibilities (except as expressly set forth herein) as to the validity, sufficiency, value, genuineness, ownership or transferability of any Trust Asset, written instructions, or any other documents in connection therewith, and will not be regarded as making, nor be required to make, any representations thereto.

- (h) The Delaware Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any failure or delay in the performance of its obligations under this Trust Agreement arising out of, or caused, directly or indirectly, by circumstances beyond its control, including without limitation, any act or provision of any present or future law or regulation or governmental authority; acts of God; earthquakes; fires; floods; wars; terrorism; civil or military disturbances; sabotage; epidemics; riots; interruptions, loss or malfunctions of utilities, computer (hardware or software) or communications service; accidents; labor disputes; acts of civil or military authority or governmental actions; or the unavailability of the Federal Reserve Bank wire or telex or other wire or communication facility.
- (i) In no event shall the Delaware Trustee be responsible or liable for special, indirect, punitive, incidental or consequential loss or damage of any kind whatsoever (including, but not limited to, loss of profit) irrespective of whether the Delaware Trustee has been advised of the likelihood of such loss or damage and regardless of the form of action.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 38 of 65

4.13 Trust Meetings.

- (a) **Regular Meeting**. Unless otherwise agreed to by the TOC, the Trustee shall hold regular Direct Claims Trust meetings with the TOC not less than quarterly, which may be held at such times and at such places (including remotely by phone or video conference) as may be determined from time to time by the Trustee, in consultation with the TOC. For the avoidance of doubt, the Delaware Trustee shall not be required or permitted to attend any meetings of the Trustee contemplated by this Section 4.13.
- (b) **Special Meetings**. Special meetings of the Trustee may be called by the Trustee by giving written notice to the TOC not less than one (1) Business Day prior to the date of the meeting. Any such notice shall include the time, place, and purpose of the meeting, given by overnight courier, personal delivery, facsimile, electronic mail or other similar means of communication. Notice shall be addressed or delivered to the address as shown upon the records of the Trust or as may have been given to the Trustee for purposes of notice. Notice by overnight courier shall be deemed to have been given one (1) Business Day after the time that written notice is provided to such overnight courier. Any other written notice shall be deemed to have been given at the time it is personally delivered to the recipient or actually transmitted by the person giving the notice by electronic means to the recipient.
- (c) **Participation in Meetings by Telephone Conference**. The Trustee may convene, and persons may participate in, a meeting by conference telephone or similar communications equipment (which shall include virtual meetings via video conferencing software), as long as all persons participating in such meeting can hear one another. Participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 4.13(c) shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 39 of 65

- (d) Waiver of Notice. Notice of a meeting need not be given to any person who signs a waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting. All such waivers shall be filed with the Trust records or made a part of the minutes of the meeting. Attendance at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any Trust meeting need be specified in any waiver of notice.
- (e) **Adjournment**. A meeting may be adjourned by the Trustee to another time and place.

4.14 Matters Requiring Consultation with TOC

The Trustee shall consult with the TOC on any extraordinary circumstance which could have a material impact on the Direct Claims Trust, including without limitation, entering into arrangements not specified in Section 2.1(c) with third parties that the Trustee may deem useful in carrying out the purposes of the Direct Claims Trust, subject in all respects to such arrangements not conflicting with any other provision of this Trust Agreement or the Plan.

4.15 Matters Requiring Consent of TOC

The Trustee shall obtain the consent of the TOC, or, otherwise, Bankruptcy Court approval in the event of a dispute in accordance with Section 7.12 hereof, for the items listed below:

(a) Any proposed procedures to ensure that decisions are made consistent with the respective fiduciary duties owed to the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust in the event of a conflict between the Liquidating Trust and the Direct Claims Trust with respect to litigation strategy, settlement or resource allocation;

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 40 of 65

- (b) Settlement, abandonment, or dismissal of any Claim or Cause of Action asserted by the Direct Claims Trust in an amount greater than \$2,500,000;
- (c) Any Distribution on Claims other than those required on the Effective Date under claim settlements;
- (d) Any proposed modification to the indemnification provisions of the Trust Agreement;
- (e) Any proposed sale, transfer or exchange of Direct Claims Trust Assets above \$5,000,000 (any proposed sale of Direct Claims Trust Assets below such amount shall not require TOC consent);
- (f) Retention of litigation professionals to pursue Claims and Causes of Action on behalf of the Direct Claims Trust, other than Direct Claims Trust general/local counsel, and terms of such retention;
 - (g) To borrow such sums of money or enter into litigation funding agreements;
 - (h) Any proposed material modifications to the Trust Agreement; and
- (i) Any proposed modification to the compensation of the Trustee other than routine hourly rate increases.

The consent of the TOC shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned, or delayed.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 41 of 65

4.16 Trustee's and TOC's Employment of Professionals.

- (a) Subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4.15 of this Agreement, the Trustee may, but is not required to, retain and/or consult accountants, appraisers, auditors, forecasters, experts, financial and investment advisors, and such other parties (the "**Trustee Professionals**") deemed appropriate by the Trustee to assist in matters for the Direct Claims Trust within the Trustee's purview.
- (b) The TOC may, but is not required to, retain and/or consult, legal counsel and such other parties deemed appropriate by the TOC to assist in matters within the TOC's purview (the "TOC Professionals," and with Trustee Professionals, the "Direct Claims Trust Professionals") where such retention of separate professionals (other than existing Trust professionals) is necessary to discharge the TOC's duties, provided that no TOC Professionals may be retained to act on behalf of any holder of a Direct Claim. The fees of such counsel, if retained, shall be reasonable and shall not exceed \$15,000 on a monthly basis in the absence of a dispute.
- (c) Prior to payment of any fees of a professional retained by the Truste or the TOC, the professional shall circulate a monthly fee statement detailing the compensation sought, including time records with a description of the tasks performed, and expenses incurred for which reimbursement is sought to the Trustee and the TOC. The Trustee and the TOC shall have 10 days to review and dispute such monthly fee statements, and following such review the Trustee is authorized to pay any undisputed portion of such fee statements. If any amount is disputed and cannot be resolved consensually, the Bankruptcy Court shall resolve the disputed fees on motion by the professional, the Trustee, or the TOC.

ARTICLE V

TAX MATTERS

5.1 Treatment of Direct Claims Transfer

For all United States federal income tax purposes, all Parties shall treat the transfer of the Direct Claims Trust Assets to the Direct Claims Trust, including any amounts or other assets subsequently transferred to the Direct Claims Trust, as the transfer by such persons, as grantors, to the Direct Claims Trust in exchange for Direct Claims Trust Interests.

5.2 **Income Tax Status**

- (a) For United States federal income tax purposes (and for purposes of all state, local and other jurisdictions to the extent applicable) this Direct Claims Trust shall be treated as a grantor trust pursuant to IRC Sections 671-677.
- (b) The Direct Claims Trust shall at all times to be administered so as to constitute a domestic trust for United States federal income tax purposes.

5.3 **Tax Returns**

In accordance with Section 6012 of the IRC and Section 1.671-4(a) of the Treasury Regulations, the Trustee shall file with the IRS annual tax returns for the Direct Claims Trust on Form 1041 as a grantor trust pursuant to Section 1.671-4(a) of the Treasury Regulations. In addition, the Trustee shall file in a timely manner for the Direct Claims Trust such other tax returns, including any state and local tax returns, as are required by applicable law and pay any taxes shown as due thereon. Within a reasonable time following the end of the taxable year, the Direct Claims

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 43 of 65

Trust shall send to each Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary a separate statement setting forth such Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary's share of items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit and will instruct each such Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary to report such items on his or her applicable income tax return.

5.4 Withholding of Taxes and Reporting Related to Direct Claims Trust Operations

The Direct Claims Trust shall comply with all withholding, deduction and reporting requirements imposed by any federal, state, local or foreign taxing authority, and all distributions made by the Direct Claims Trust shall be subject to any applicable withholding, deduction and reporting requirements. The Trustee shall be authorized to take any and all actions that may be necessary or appropriate to comply with any such withholding, deduction, payment, and reporting requirements. All amounts properly withheld or deducted from distributions to a Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary as required by applicable law and paid over to the applicable taxing authority for the account of such Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary shall be treated as part of the Direct Claims Trust Distribution to such Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary. To the extent that the operation of the Direct Claims Trust creates a tax liability imposed on the Direct Claims Trust, the Direct Claims Trust shall timely pay such tax liability and any such payment shall be considered a cost and expense of the operation of the Direct Claims Trust payable without Bankruptcy Court order. Any federal, state or local withholding taxes or other amounts required to be withheld under applicable law shall be deducted from distributions hereunder. All Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries shall be required to provide any information necessary to effect the withholding and reporting of such taxes. The Trustee may require each Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary to furnish to the Direct Claims Trust (or its designee) its social security number or employer or taxpayer identification number as assigned by the IRS and complete any related documentation (including but not limited

to a Form W-8BEN, Form W-8BENE-E, or Form W-9) (the "**Tax Documents**"). The Trustee may condition any and all distributions to any Direct Claims Trust Beneficiary upon the timely receipt of properly executed Tax Documents and receipt of such other documents as the Trustee reasonably requests, and in accordance with the Plan.

ARTICLE VI

DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

6.1 <u>Members; Action by Members.</u>

The TOC shall be composed of five (5) members appointed to represent the interests of holders of Direct Claims. The initial TOC members shall be the following: ACE Engineering & Co., Ltd., Celestica LLC, Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited, JMS Wind Energy, LLC and GreEnergy Resources LLC. Except as otherwise set forth in the Governing Documents, the TOC shall act by majority vote of TOC members then serving, provided, however, the TOC may continue to act in the event of one or more vacancies on the TOC, in which case majority vote of the TOC members then serving shall be required for action by the TOC.

6.2 **Duties.**

The members of the TOC shall serve in a fiduciary capacity representing holders of Direct Claims. The TOC shall not have any fiduciary duties or responsibilities to any party other than Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries. Except for the duties and obligations expressed in this Trust Agreement, there shall be no other duties (including fiduciary duties) or obligations, express or implied, at law or in equity, of the TOC. To the extent that, at law or in equity, the TOC has duties (including fiduciary duties) and liabilities relating thereto to the Direct Claims Trust, the other

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 45 of 65

parties hereto, or any Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries, such duties and liabilities are replaced by the duties and liabilities of the TOC expressly set forth in this Trust Agreement.

6.3 **TOC Information Rights; Reports**

- (a) The TOC shall have reasonable access to the Direct Claims Trust's consultants and other advisors retained by the Direct Claims Trust and its staff (if any), and information available to the Trustee, which access shall be made available as determined by the Trustee in his or her discretion.
- (b) The TOC shall receive monthly reports concerning professional fees charged and annual reports on the Direct Claims Trust's budget. Any disputes concerning same shall be brought before the Bankruptcy Court.

6.4 [Reserved.]

6.5 **Term of Office.**

- (a) Each member of the TOC shall serve until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 6.5(b) below, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 6.5(c) below, and (iv) the termination of the Trust pursuant to Section 7.2 below.
- (b) A member of the TOC may resign at any time by written notice to the other members of the TOC and the Trustee. Such notice shall specify a date when such resignation shall take effect, which shall not be less than thirty (30) days after the date such notice is given, where practicable.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 46 of 65

(c) A member of the TOC may be removed in the event that he or she becomes unable to discharge his or her duties hereunder due to accident, physical deterioration, mental incompetence, or for other good cause, provided the member of the TOC has received reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard. Other good cause shall mean, without limitation, fraud, self-dealing, intentional misrepresentation, wilful misconduct, indictment for or conviction of a felony in each case whether or not connected to the Direct Claims Trust or a consistent pattern of neglect and failure to perform or to participate in performing the duties of such member hereunder, such as repeated non-attendance at scheduled meetings. Such removal shall require the majority vote of the other members of the TOC and such removal shall take effect only upon the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

6.6 **Appointment of Successor.**

- (a) In the event of a TOC member vacancy, the remaining TOC members shall propose an individual as successor, subject to the approval of the Trustee, which approval may not be unreasonably withheld. In the event a successor TOC member is not appointed within sixty (60) days following the occurrence of such vacancy, the Bankruptcy Court may appoint a successor TOC member upon motion of the Trustee.
- (b) Each successor member of the TOC shall serve until the earliest of (i) his or her death, (ii) his or her resignation pursuant to Section 6.5(b) above, (iii) his or her removal pursuant to Section 6.5(c) above, and (iv) the termination of the Trust pursuant to Section 7.2 below.
- (c) No successor TOC member shall be liable personally for any act or omission of his or her predecessor TOC member. No successor TOC member shall have any duty to investigate the acts or omissions of his or her predecessor TOC member. No TOC member shall be required

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 47 of 65

to post any bond or other form of surety or security unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

6.7 Compensation and Expenses of the TOC.

The members of the TOC shall not be entitled to compensation for their services but shall be reimbursed promptly for all reasonable and documented ordinary and customary out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the performance of their duties hereunder (which, for the avoidance of doubt, will not include professionals retained by an individual member of the TOC to advise such member). The Trust shall include a description of the amounts paid under this Section 6.7 in the Annual Report to be filed with the Bankruptcy Court and posted on the Trust's Website.

6.8 **Procedures for Consultation with and Obtaining the Consent of the TOC.**

(a) Consultation Process.

(i) In the event the Trustee is required to consult with the TOC pursuant to Section 4.14 above, the Trustee shall provide the TOC with written advance notice of the matter under consideration, to the extent practicable, and with all relevant information and documents concerning the matter as is reasonably practicable under the circumstances. The Trustee shall also provide the TOC with such reasonable access to the consultants and other advisors retained by the Direct Claims Trust and its staff (if any) as the TOC may reasonably request during the time that the Trustee is considering such matter, and shall also provide the TOC the opportunity, at reasonable times and for reasonable periods of time, to discuss and comment on such matter with the Trustee, to the extent practicable.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 48 of 65

(ii) In determining when to take definitive action on any matter subject to the consultation procedures set forth in this Section 6.8(a), the Trustee shall take into consideration the time required for the TOC to meet and consult as to such matter. In any event, the Trustee shall not take definitive action on any such matter until at least five (5) Business Days after providing the TOC with the initial written notice that such matter is under consideration by the Trustee, unless such time period is waived in writing by the TOC or at a meeting where the TOC and Trustee are present, or the Trustee determines in his reasonable discretion that definitive action is required earlier. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the TOC shall have the authority to waive the consultation procedure or any component thereof set forth in this Section 6.8(a).

(b) Consent Process.

(i) In the event the Trustee is required to obtain the consent of the TOC pursuant to the Governing Documents or Section 4.15 hereof, the Trustee shall provide the TOC with a written notice stating that its consent is being sought, describing in detail the nature and scope of the action the Trustee proposes to take, and explaining in detail the reasons why the Trustee desires to take such action. The Trustee shall provide the TOC as much relevant additional information concerning the proposed action as is requested by the TOC and as is reasonably practicable under the circumstances. The Trustee shall also provide the TOC with such reasonable access to the Direct Claims Trust consultants and other advisors retained by the Direct Claims Trust and its staff (if any) as the TOC may reasonably request during the time that the Trustee is considering such action, and shall also provide the TOC the opportunity, at reasonable times and for reasonable periods of time, to discuss and comment on such action with the Trustee.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 49 of 65

- (ii) For matters requiring the consent of the TOC:
 - (A) The TOC must consider in good faith and in a timely fashion any request for its consent by the Trustee, and must in any event advise the Trustee, in writing, of its consent or its objection to the proposed action within five (5) Business Days of receiving the original request for consent from the Trustee, unless the Trustee extends the time for such response. The TOC may not withhold its consent unreasonably. If the TOC decides to withhold its consent, it must explain in detail its objections to the proposed action. If the TOC does not advise the Trustee, in writing, of its consent or its objections to the action within five (5) Business Days of receiving notice regarding such request (or within such additional time as may be granted by the Trustee in his or her discretion), the TOC's consent to the proposed actions shall be deemed to have been affirmatively granted.
 - (B) If, after following the procedures specified in this Section 6.8(b), the TOC continues to object to the proposed action and to withhold its consent to the proposed action, the Trustee and the TOC shall resolve their dispute pursuant to Section 7.12 below, provided, however in that event the TOC shall have the burden of proof to show the validity of the TOC's objection.
- (c) <u>Disputes</u>. Any disputes between the TOC and the Trustee shall be resolved by the Bankruptcy Court.

ARTICLE VII

GENERAL PROVISIONS

7.1 **Irrevocability**

To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Direct Claims Trust is irrevocable.

7.2 **Term; Termination**

- (a) The term for which the Direct Claims Trust is to exist shall commence on the date of the filing of the Certificate of Trust and shall terminate pursuant to the provisions of this Section 7.2.
- (b) The Trustee shall make continuing efforts to monetize the Direct Claims Trust Assets.
- (c) The Trustee and the Direct Claims Trust shall be discharged or dissolved, as the case may be, at such time as (a) the Trustee determines that there is no longer a need to initiate actions to resolve any remaining issues regarding the allowance and payment of Claims, or (b) all distributions of Cash and other Direct Claims Trust Assets required to be made by the Trustee under the Plan and this Trust Agreement have been made in accordance with provisions of the Plan and this Trust Agreement, provided, however, that in no event shall the Direct Claims Trust be dissolved later than five (5) years from the Effective Date unless the Bankruptcy Court, upon motion made by a party in interest within the six (6) month period prior to such fifth (5th) anniversary (and, in the event of further extension, at least six (6) months prior to the end of any extension period), determines that a fixed period extension is necessary to facilitate or complete the recovery on and liquidation of the Direct Claims Trust Assets (the "Dissolution Date").

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 51 of 65

- (d) On the Dissolution Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, after the wind-up of the affairs of the Direct Claims Trust by the Trustee and payment of all of the liabilities have been provided for as required by applicable law including Section 3808 of the Act, all monies remaining in the Direct Claims Trust shall be distributed or disbursed in accordance with Section 3.4.
- (e) Following the dissolution and distribution of the assets of the Direct Claims Trust, the Direct Claims Trust shall terminate, and the Trustee shall execute and cause a Certificate of Cancellation of the Certificate of Trust of the Direct Claims Trust to be filed in accordance with the Act. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Trust Agreement, the existence of the Direct Claims Trust as a separate legal entity shall continue until the filing of such Certificate of Cancellation. A certified copy of the Certificate of Cancellation shall be given to the Delaware Trustee for its records promptly following such filing.

7.3 **Amendments**

Any amendment to or modification of this Trust Agreement may be made in writing and only with the consent of the Trustee, the TOC (which consent in each case shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) and subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court; provided, however, the Trustee may amend this Trust Agreement from time to time without the consent, approval or other authorization of, but with notice to, the Bankruptcy Court, to make: (i) minor modifications or clarifying amendments necessary to enable the Trustee to effectuate the provisions of this Trust Agreement; or (ii) modifications to satisfy any requirements, conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion, directive, order, statute, ruling or regulation of any federal, state or foreign governmental entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment or

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 52 of 65

modification of this Trust Agreement shall modify this Trust Agreement in a manner that is inconsistent with the Plan or the Confirmation Order other than to make minor modifications or clarifying amendments as necessary to enable the Trustee to effectuate the provisions of this Trust Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither this Trust Agreement, nor any Exhibit to this Trust Agreement, shall be modified or amended in any way that is inconsistent the nature and purpose of the Trust set forth in Section 1.2 hereof. Any amendment affecting the rights, duties, immunities or liabilities of the Delaware Trustee shall require the Delaware Trustee's written consent. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Trust Agreement, no material modifications may be made to this Section 7.3 of this Trust Agreement without the consent of the Trustee, the unanimous consent of the TOC, and subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

7.4 **Severability**

Should any provision in this Trust Agreement be determined to be unenforceable, such determination shall in no way limit or affect the enforceability and operative effect of any and all other provisions of this Trust Agreement.

7.5 **Notices**

- (a) Notices to Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries shall be given in accordance with such person's claims form submitted to the Direct Claims Trust.
- (b) Any notices or other communications required or permitted hereunder to the following Parties shall be in writing and delivered to the addresses or e-mail addresses designated below, or to such other addresses or e-mail addresses as may hereafter be furnished in writing to each of the other Parties listed below in compliance with the terms hereof.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 53 of 65

To the Direct Claims Trust:
[]
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
[]
To the Delaware Trustee:
[]
With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
[]
To the TOC:
ACE Engineering & Co., Ltd.
[]
Celestica LLC
[]
Contemporary Amperex Technology Co., Limited

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 54 of 65

JMS Wind Energy, LLC
[]
GreEnergy Resources LLC
[

(c) All such notices and communications if mailed shall be effective when physically delivered at the designated addresses or, if electronically transmitted, when the communication is received at the designated addresses.

7.6 **Successors and Assigns**

The provisions of this Trust Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Direct Claims Trust, the Delaware Trustee, the Trustee, the TOC and their respective successors and assigns, except that neither the Direct Claims Trust, the Delaware Trustee, nor the Trustee, may assign or otherwise transfer any of their rights or obligations, if any, under this Trust Agreement except in the case of the Delaware Trustee in accordance with Section 4.12 (d), and in the case of the Trustee in accordance with Section 4.2(d) above.

7.7 <u>Limitation on Direct Claims Trust Interests for Securities Laws Purposes</u>

Direct Claims Trust Interest (a) shall not be assigned, conveyed, hypothecated, pledged, or otherwise transferred, voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, except by will, under the laws of descent and distribution or otherwise by operation of law; (b) shall not be evidenced by a certificate or other instrument; (c) shall not possess any voting rights; and (d) shall not be entitled to receive any dividends or interest.

7.8 **Exemption from Registration**

The Parties hereto intend that the interests of the Direct Claims Trust Beneficiaries under this Trust Agreement shall not be "securities" under applicable laws, but none of the Parties hereto represent or warrant that such rights shall not be securities or shall be entitled to exemption from registration under applicable securities laws. If it should be determined that any such interests constitute "securities," the Parties hereto intend that the exemption provisions of Section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code will be satisfied and the offer and sale under the Plan of the Direct Claims Trust Interests will be exempt from registration under the Securities Act, all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and all applicable state and local securities laws and regulations.

7.9 Entire Agreement; No Waiver

The entire agreement of the Parties relating to the subject matter of this Trust Agreement is contained herein, and in the documents referred to herein (including the Plan), and this Trust Agreement and such documents supersede any prior oral or written agreements concerning the subject matter hereof. No failure to exercise or delay in exercising any right, power, or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right, power, or privilege hereunder preclude any further exercise thereof or of any other right, power, or privilege. The rights and remedies herein provided are cumulative and are not exclusive of rights under law or in equity.

7.10 **Headings**

The headings used in this Trust Agreement are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a portion of this Trust Agreement, nor in any manner affect the construction of the provisions of this Trust Agreement.

7.11 **Governing Law**

The validity and construction of this Trust Agreement and all amendments hereto and thereto shall be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware, and the rights of all Parties hereto and the effect of every provision hereof shall be subject to and construed according to the laws of the State of Delaware without regard to the conflicts of law provisions thereof that would purport to apply the law of any other jurisdiction; provided, however, that the Parties hereto intend that the provisions hereof shall control and there shall not be applicable to the Direct Claims Trust, the Trustee, the Delaware Trustee, or this Trust Agreement, any provision of the laws (statutory or common) of the State of Delaware pertaining to trusts that relate to or regulate in a manner inconsistent with the terms hereof: (a) the filing with any court or governmental body or agency of Trustee accounts or schedules of Trustee fees and charges; (b) affirmative requirements to post bonds for the Trustee, officers, agents, or employees of a trust; (c) the necessity for obtaining court or other governmental approval concerning the acquisition, holding, or disposition of real or personal property; (d) fees or other sums payable to the Trustee, officers, agents, or employees of a trust; (e) the allocation of receipts and expenditures to income or principal; (f) restrictions or limitations on the permissible nature, amount, or concentration of trust investments or requirements relating to the titling, storage, or other manner of holding of trust assets; (g) the existence of rights or interests (beneficial or otherwise) in trust assets; (h) the ability of beneficial

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 57 of 65

owners or other persons to terminate or dissolve a trust; or (i) the establishment of fiduciary or other standards or responsibilities or limitations on the acts or powers of the Trustee or beneficial owners that are inconsistent with the limitations on liability or authorities and powers of the Trustee, the TOC or the Delaware Trustee set forth or referenced in this Trust Agreement. Section 3540 of the Act shall not apply to the Direct Claims Trust.

7.12 **Dispute Resolution**

- (a) Unless otherwise expressly provided for herein, the dispute resolution procedures of this Section 7.12 shall be the exclusive mechanism to resolve any dispute arising under or with respect to this Trust Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 7.12 shall not apply to the Delaware Trustee in any respect.
- (b) **Informal Dispute Resolution**. Any dispute under this Trust Agreement shall first be the subject of informal negotiations. The dispute shall be considered to have arisen when a disputing party sends to the counterparty or counterparties a written notice of dispute ("**Notice of Dispute**"). Such Notice of Dispute shall state clearly the matter in dispute. The period of informal negotiations shall not exceed thirty (30) days from the date the Notice of Dispute is received by the counterparty or counterparties, unless that period is modified by written agreement of the disputing party and counterparty or counterparties. If the disputing party and the counterparty or counterparties cannot resolve the dispute by informal negotiations, then the disputing party may invoke the formal dispute resolution procedures as set forth below.
- (c) **Formal Dispute Resolution**. The disputing party shall invoke formal dispute resolution procedures, within the time period provided in the preceding subparagraph, by serving on the counterparty or counterparties a written statement of position regarding the matter in dispute

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 58 of 65

("Statement of Position"). The Statement of Position shall include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis or opinion supporting the disputing party's position and any supporting documentation and legal authorities relied upon by the disputing party. Each counterparty shall serve its Statement of Position within thirty (30) days of receipt of the disputing party's Statement of Position, which shall also include, but need not be limited to, any factual data, analysis or opinion supporting the counterparty's position and any supporting documentation and legal authorities relied upon by the counterparty. If the disputing party and the counterparty or counterparties are unable to consensually resolve the dispute within thirty (30) days after the last of all counterparties have served its Statement of Position on the disputing party, the disputing party may file with the Bankruptcy Court a motion for judicial review of the dispute in accordance with Section 7.12(d) below.

(d) **Judicial Review**. The disputing party may seek judicial review of the dispute by filing with the Bankruptcy Court (or, if the Bankruptcy Court shall not have jurisdiction over such dispute, such court as has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 1.4 above) and serving on the counterparty or counterparties and the Trustee, a motion requesting judicial resolution of the dispute. The motion must be filed within forty-five (45) days of receipt of the last counterparty's Statement of Position pursuant to the preceding subparagraph. The motion shall contain a written statement of the disputing party's position on the matter in dispute, including any supporting factual data, analysis, opinion, documentation and legal authorities, and shall set forth the relief requested and any schedule within which the dispute must be resolved for orderly administration of the Direct Claims Trust. Each counterparty shall respond to the motion within the time period allowed by the rules of the court, and the disputing party may file a reply memorandum, to the extent permitted by the rules of the court.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 59 of 65

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Trust Agreement, the Direct Claims Trust shall bear the reasonable costs and expenses of the TOC in connection with any material dispute that arises under this Trust Agreement.

7.13 Waiver of Conflicts

To the extent that the Trustee or the TOC seek to retain any Direct Claims Trust Professionals, the Parties agree to waive any conflict of interest claims against such professionals related to such professionals' prior representation of the Committee or any individual member of the Committee during the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases.

7.14 Effectiveness

This Trust Agreement shall become effective on the Effective Date.

7.15 Counterpart Signatures

This Trust Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different Parties on separate counterparts (including by PDF transmitted by e-mail), and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, but all such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same instrument.

7.16 Waiver of Trial by Jury

Each of the parties hereto hereby waives the right to trial by jury with respect to any litigation directly or indirectly arising out of, under or in connection with this Trust Agreement.

	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Trust Agreement this	day
of	, 2025.	

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 60 of 65

TRUSTEE	
Brian F. Gleason	

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 61 of 65

DELAWARE TRUSTEE

[_]	
By:		
Name:		
Title:		

TOC MEMBER	
By:	
TOC MEMBER	
Ву:	
TOC MEMBER	
By:	
TOC MEMBER	
By:	
TOC MEMBER	
Bv:	

EXHIBIT 1

CERTIFICATE OF TRUST OF THE

POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST

This Certificate of Trust of the POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST (the "*Trust*") is being duly executed and filed by the undersigned Trustees of the Trust, to form a statutory trust under the Delaware Statutory Trust Act (12 Del. Code § 3801 *et seq.*) (the "*Act*").

Name. The name of the statutory trust formed hereby is:

POWIN DIRECT CLAIMS TRUST

<u>Delaware Trustee</u>. The name and business address of the Delaware Trustee of the Trust in the State of Delaware is:

[•]

Effective Date. This Certificate of Trust shall be effective on ______, 2025.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-4 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit D - Direct Claims Trust Agreement Page 64 of 65

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned, being all of the trustees of the Trust, have

Title:

not individually.

EXHIBIT 2

INVESTMENT GUIDELINES

Consistent with the provisions of Rev. Proc. 94-45 and notwithstanding any other provision of the Trust Agreement, the investment powers of the Trustee, other than those reasonably necessary to maintain the value of the assets and to further the direct claims purpose of the trust, must be limited to powers to invest in demand and time deposits, such as short-term certificates of deposit, in banks or other savings institutions, or other temporary, liquid investments, such as Treasury bills.

EXHIBIT E

(Service Provider Payments Schedule)

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-5 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit E - Service Provider Payments Schedule Page 2 of 3

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

In re:	Chapter 11
Powin, LLC, et al.,1	Case No. 25-16137 (MBK)
Debtors.	(Jointly Administered)

PAYMENTS TO SERVICE PROVIDERS

The Debtors have identified nine (9) current service providers listed below (the "Service Providers") which are eligible to receive compensation ("Payments") to incentivize such Service Providers to provide services to the Debtors throughout the wind-down period and to assist in the orderly implementation and effectuation of the *Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [D.I. 914] (the "Plan"), which compensation shall be subject to approval by the Committee. The Debtors' pre-existing incentive plans were designed to consummate the sale of substantially all of the Debtors' assets through August 19. Especially in light of the fact that the buyer of those assets hired a number of the Debtors' employees, the Debtors determined that additional incentive compensation was necessary to consummate the Plan.

The Service Providers were previously employed by the Debtors, so the Debtors developed the Payments to correspond to a percentage of the Service Providers' historical base salary with the Debtors. As long as each of the Service Providers continue to provide services to the Debtors through the Effective Date of the Plan, such Service Providers are eligible to receive Payments which will not exceed 15% of each Service Provider's historical base salary while employed by the Debtors. The total aggregate amount of Payments are estimated to be \$262,006 (which amount is exclusive of the Severance Payments (as defined below)).

Eligible Service Providers are the following:

- Mary K. Kahl
- Chad Paulson

¹ The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: (i) Powin Project LLC [1583]; (ii) Powin, LLC [0504]; (iii) PEOS Holdings, LLC [5476]; (iv) Powin China Holdings 1, LLC [1422]; (v) Powin China Holdings 2, LLC [9713]; (vi) Charger Holdings, LLC [15241]; (vii) Powin Energy Ontario Storage, LLC [8348]; (viii) Powin Energy Operating Holdings, LLC [2495]; (ix) Powin Energy Operating, LLC [6487]; (x) Powin Energy Storage 2, Inc. [9926]; (xi) Powin Energy Ontario Storage II LP [5787]; (xii) Powin Canada B.C. Ltd. [2239]; and (xiii) Powin EKS SellCo, LLC [9110]. The Debtors' mailing address is 20550 SW 115th Avenue Tualatin, OR 97062.

² Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning afforded in the Plan.

- Arielle D. Pacheco
- Colin Hutchinson
- Angela Sprecher
- Antonya Johnston
- Moriah Milan
- Christopher Boscawen
- William G. McDonnell

In addition to the Payments described above, Mary K. Kahl and Christopher Boscawen will also receive contractual severance payments (the "Severance Payments") of \$147,533 and \$33,837, respectively, in accordance with the terms of their employment agreements with the Debtors. To be eligible to receive such Severance Payments, Mary K. Kahl and Christopher Boscawen must be available to provide up to five hours of services to be compensated on a hourly basis for a period of two months after confirmation of the Plan.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-6 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit F - Initial Trust Budget Page 1 of 2

EXHIBIT F

(Initial Trust Budget)

Chapter 11 Liquidation Plan: 8-Quarter Budget

U

8-Quarter Budget through 2027 [1]

(Amounts in \$'000s)		202	26			202	27		8 Quarter
Quarter	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Q1	Q2	Q3	Q4	Total
<u>Overhead</u>									
Payroll	(43)	(43)	-	-	-	-	-	-	(85)
Software & IT	(4)	(4)	(4)	(4)	(4)	(4)	(4)	(4)	(31)
Insurance	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(600)
Miscellaneous	(100)	(100)	(100)	(100)	(100)	(100)	(100)	(100)	(800)
Overhead - Total	(221)	(221)	(179)	(179)	(179)	(179)	(179)	(179)	(1,516)
<u>Professional Fees</u>									
Chapter 11 Liquidating Trustee Fee	(150)	(150)	(150)	(150)	(150)	(150)	(150)	(150)	(1,200)
Counsel Fees	(225)	(225)	(225)	(225)	(225)	(225)	(225)	(225)	(1,800)
Other Professionals	(150)	(150)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(75)	(750)
Professional Fees - Total	(525)	(525)	(450)	(450)	(450)	(450)	(450)	(450)	(3,750)
Total Expenses	(746)	(746)	(629)	(629)	(629)	(629)	(629)	(629)	(5,266)

^[1] The figures presented in this budget are preliminary estimates provided for planning purposes only. Final amounts may vary based on updated information or subsequent revisions.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-7 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit G - Liquidation Analysis Page 1 of 10

EXHIBIT G

(Liquidation Analysis)

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-7 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Exhibit G - Liquidation Analysis Page 2 of 10

Powin, LLC - Liquidation Analysis

11/8/2025

Desc

I. Introduction

As part of the chapter 11 process, section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code requires a bankruptcy court to determine that a chapter 11 plan provides, with respect to each class, that each holder of a claim or an equity interest in such class either (i) has accepted the plan or (ii) will receive or retain under the plan, value that is not less than the amount that the holder would receive if the debtors had liquidated under chapter 7. As explained below, the Debtors and Committee respectfully submit that the Plan satisfies the requirement of section 1129(a)(7) because, upon the Effective Date, the Plan will provide all Holders of Allowed Claims and interests with a recovery (if any) that is not less than what they would otherwise receive pursuant to a liquidation of the Debtors under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

However, the Debtors and the Committee must explain their reasons for their conclusion that the Plan satisfies section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code. Upon conversion of the cases to chapter 7, it is anticipated that a chapter 7 trustee would primarily focus on liquidating remaining assets, reconciling liabilities and effectuating the wind-down of the Estates. Remaining assets may include accounts receivable, vendor deposits and refunds, sales tax refunds and litigation claims.

THE INFORMATION SET FORTH IN THIS HYPOTHETICAL LIQUIDATION ANALYSIS PRESENTED AS A SCHEDULE BELOW IS SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION AND SUPPLEMENTATION BY THE DEBTORS AT ANY TIME UP TO THE CONFIRMATION HEARING. THERE CAN BE NO ASSURANCE THAT THE VALUES REFLECTED IN THE LIQUIDATION ANALYSIS WOULD BE REALIZED IF THE DEBTORS WERE, IN FACT, TO UNDERGO SUCH A LIQUIDATION UNDER CHAPTER 7, AND ACTUAL RESULTS COULD VARY MATERIALLY FROM THOSE SHOWN HERE. THE FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN WAS NOT EXAMINED BY ANY INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS AND NO INDEPENDENT APPRAISALS WERE CONDUCTED IN PREPARING THE LIQUIDATION ANALYSIS. THE PRESENTATION OF CLAIMS REPRESENT ESTIMATES, WHICH ESTIMATES ARE SUBJECT TO MATERIAL CHANGE.

IN ADDITION, AS A GENERAL MATTER, WHILE THE DEBTORS HAVE ESTIMATED A RANGE OF RECOVERIES, NOTE THAT (A) FOR COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH LIQUIDATION, THE DEBTORS BELIEVE THAT A CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE'S COSTS WILL MOST LIKELY BE AT THE HIGH END OF THE RANGE, GIVEN THE AMOUNT OF TIME A CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE WOULD REQUIRE TO DEVELOP AN INFORMATIONAL FOUNDATION REGARDING THE DEBTORS' ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AND (B) FOR ESTIMATED DISTRIBUTIONS, THE LOW END OF THE RANGE OF ESTIMATED CLAIMS TAKES INTO ACCOUNT CLAIM SETTLEMENTS UNDER THE PLAN THAT ARE MOST LIKELY NOT AVAILABLE TO A CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE; THEREFORE ALLOWED CLAIMS WOULD LIKELY BE HIGHER IN A HYPOTHETICAL CHAPTER 7 AND FURTHER DILUTE CREDITOR RECOVERIES.

11/8/2025

Desc

A number of factors in a chapter 7 liquidation would affect the chapter 7 trustee's ability to monetize the Debtors' remaining assets. Among other things, the primary anticipated risks would include challenges associated with liquidating the assets in an expedited manner, inability to collect accounts receivables given the required negotiations with various parties, some of whom may have defenses to collection, including the ability to set off these amounts, and costs associated with the monetization of certain assets that may exceed initial expectations. Additionally, there is a risk that personnel necessary to effectuate a wind-down would be unavailable. Absent such personnel, the chapter 7 trustee may be challenged to effectuate certain asset sales and collection of the Debtors' receivables, most of which require some level of institutional knowledge and legacy data.

To achieve the maximum possible recovery, a chapter 7 trustee would need to retain professionals, likely at a cost no less than the costs to be incurred under a liquidating plan. The Debtors' Estates would also incur the additional costs of payment of a statutorily allowed commission to the chapter 7 trustee. The Debtors believe that such amounts, over the same liquidation time period, would exceed the amount of expenses that will be incurred in implementing the Plan and winding up the affairs of the Debtors in the chapter 11 cases. Under the Plan, the Debtors contemplate an orderly administration and winding down of the Estates by certain parties that will be familiar with the Debtors, their assets and affairs, and their creditors and liabilities. Such familiarity will allow the Liquidating Trust to complete liquidation of the remaining assets (including prosecution of Causes of Action) and distribute the net proceeds to creditors more efficiently and expeditiously than a chapter 7 trustee. Additionally, the Estates would likely suffer additional delays, as a chapter 7 trustee and his/her counsel would need time to develop a necessary learning curve to complete the administration of the Estates (including the prosecution of Causes of Action). Also, a new time period for the filing of claims would commence under Bankruptcy Rule 1019(2), possibly resulting in the filing of additional Claims against the Estates.

II. Overview and General Assumptions

Hypothetical chapter 7 recoveries set forth in this Liquidation Analysis were determined through multiple steps, as set forth below. The basis of the Liquidation Analysis is the Debtors' projected cash balance and assets as of December 5, 2025 (the "Conversion Date" or the "Effective Date") and the net costs to execute the administration of the wind-down of the Estates. The Liquidation Analysis assumes that the Debtors would commence a chapter 7 liquidation on or about the Conversion Date under the supervision of a court-appointed chapter 7 trustee. The Liquidation Analysis reflects the wind-down and liquidation of the Debtors' remaining assets not included in the sale, and the distribution of available proceeds to holders of allowed claims during the period after the Conversion Date (the "Wind-Down").

Underlying this Liquidation Analysis are numerous estimates and assumptions that are subject to significant uncertainties. Many of these uncertainties are beyond the control of the Debtors or a chapter 7 trustee. Additionally, various liquidation decisions upon which certain assumptions are based are

11/8/2025

Desc

subject to change. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the assumptions and estimates employed in determining the liquidation values of the Debtors' assets will result in an accurate estimate of the proceeds which would be realized were the Debtors to undergo an actual chapter 7 liquidation. The actual amounts of claims against the Estates could vary significantly from the Debtors' estimate, depending on the claims asserted during the pendency of the chapter 7 case. This Liquidation Analysis does not include liabilities that may arise as a result of litigation, certain new tax assessments or other potential claims.

In addition to the issues discussed above, KPMG historically served as the Debtors' primary external accounting advisor. Without KPMG's support, the Debtors cannot prepare an accurate set of financial statements. Given the Debtors are no longer engaged with KPMG, there are inherent limitations in the accuracy and completeness of the current financial information.¹

For the purposes of this Liquidation Analysis, the book value of the Debtors' assets (the "Adjusted Book Value") have been adjusted to reflect certain purchasers' acquisition of the Debtors' assets pursuant to various orders authorizing the sale of such assets in these chapter 11 cases, including the sale of substantially all of the Debtors' assets to FlexGen Power Systems LLC ("Purchaser"). While every effort has been made to ensure that the Adjusted Book Value provides an accurate presentation of the book value of the Debtors' assets of closing as of these sales, no audit or other procedures have been performed.

The Debtors' Adjusted Book Value was then analyzed to identify potential recoverable value ("Potential Recoverable Value"), taking into consideration impediments to monetization, such as, among other things, known encumbrances on assets, defenses to collection, offset rights and failed conditions precedent. After determining Potential Recoverable Value, probabilities of the likelihood of success of monetization were applied to arrive at distributable value. Given the inherent uncertainty of predicting litigation outcomes, no value has been assigned to potential litigation recoveries; however, such recoveries may be material. For instance, among other things, pursuant to pursuant to Court No. 25-00020 Powin LLC v. The United States in the US Court of International Trade, the Debtors are seeking recovery of approximately \$80 million on account of Harmonized Tariff Schedule reclassification. There can be no assurance of the likelihood of success of such litigation.

As part of the liquidation analysis, administrative and priority claims were analyzed, including a determination of the likelihood of certain administrative and priority claims to be allowed and paid prior to any distributions to general unsecured creditors. While an analysis of general unsecured claims has not yet been performed, the low-case recoveries assume full allowance of all claims filed as liquidated claims. The high-case recoveries assume the midpoint between the Debtors' initial books and records and filed claims, assuming that claims reconciliation will lead to the reduction or disallowance of some filed claims.

¹ See Global Notes to SOFA/SOALs for more information.

Desc

Additionally, the Plan contains a number of settlements, designed to facilitate consummation of the Plan, with certain holders of asserted administrative and priority claims. In the event of a chapter 7 liquidation, it is highly unlikely that the holders of such claims would settle on such terms. Accordingly, the liquidation analysis assumes that recoveries for Class 5 General Unsecured Claims would be further diluted by the realization of additional administrative and priority claims resulting from less favorable settlements.

III. LIQUIDATION ANALYSIS

The schedule below presents the net liquidation proceeds available for distribution in an illustrative chapter 7 wind-down of the Debtors as of the Conversion Date. This Liquidation Analysis should be reviewed with the accompanying notes as well as the other introductory material above.

Conclusion – The Debtors have determined, as summarized in the table below, that, upon the Effective Date, the Plan will provide all Holders of Allowed Claims and Interests with a recovery (if any) that is not less than what they would otherwise receive pursuant to a liquidation of the Debtors under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. Accordingly, the Debtors believe that the Plan satisfies the requirement of section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code.

	Results of	Best interests	Test by Plan Cla	SS		
Class Name	Class	Chapter 1	1 Recovery	Chapter 7	Pass / Fail	
Otabb Hamo	Otabo	Low (%)	High (%)	Low (%)	High (%)	1 455 / 1 410
Administrative Claims	Unclassified	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	Pass
Priority Tax Claims	Unclassified	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	Pass
Settled Priority Claims	Class 4	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	Pass
Priority Non-Tax Claims	Class 1	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	Pass
WARN Act Claims	Class 3	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	Pass
Other Secured Claims	Class 2	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
General Unsecured Claims	Class 5	0.5%	4.4%	0.0%	2.7%	Pass
Intercompany Claims	Class 6	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
Interests	Class 7	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a

N/A

Proceeds for Distribution					1129(a)(7) - Est	imated Reco	very	
Cach Cach Equivalents 1,480,000 11,480,000 10,000 11,500,000 10,000 11,500,000 10,000 11,500,000 10,000 11,500,000 10,0	Estimated Recovery - Assets	Adj BV (\$)	Recoverable	Low (%)	Low (\$)	High (%)	High (\$)	Note
Accounts Receiveshin - Net	Proceeds for Distribution							
Contract asserts	Cash & Cash Equivalents	11,469,000	11,469,000	100.0%	11,500,000	100.0%	11,500,000	1
Advantances to suppliers 22.293,257 2.616,868 0.0% - 25.0% 700,000 1,800,000	Accounts Receivable - Net	76,904,848	15,661,730	0.0%	-	50.0%	7,800,000	2
Inventory 2,216,888 3,513,797 0.0% 50.0% 1,800.000 50.0% 60.000 70	Contract assets	22,451,208	-	0.0%	-	0.0%	-	3
Other current assetts (proposed sopeness and vendor deposits)	Advances to suppliers	22,293,257	2,616,866	0.0%	-	25.0%	700,000	4
Net maniferted cash	Inventory	22,916,868	3,513,797	0.0%	-	50.0%	1,800,000	5
Property and couliment, net 4,019,335 849,764 0.0% - 10.0% 100,000 Investment in substicitions 18,969,008 18,969,008 18,969,008 18,969,008 18,969,008 18,969,008 18,000,000 19,000 19,000,000 19,000,000 19,000,000 19,000 19,000	Other current assets (prepaid expenses and vendor deposits)	2,532,153	1,262,237	20.0%	300,000	50.0%	600,000	6
Invastment in subsidiaries 18,898,308 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.00,000 0.0% 0.0	Net restricted cash	6,733,840	6,733,840	0.0%	-	10.0%	700,000	7
Chief non-current assets (garety bonds and lease deposits)	Property and equipment, net	4,019,395	849,764	0.0%	-	10.0%	100,000	8
Additional assetts (ROC Invoicining, sales tax refund and others) 1,584,095 8,156,329 33.05 50,000 70.07 1,100,000 1,000,0	Investment in subsidiaries	18,596,308	-	0.0%	-	0.0%	-	9
	Other non-current assets (surety bonds and lease deposits)	15,161,485	14,455,000	50.0%	7,200,000	90.0%	13,000,000	10
Professional Fees 3,800,000 3,800,000 1,500,00	Additional assets (ROC Invoicing, sales tax refund and others)	1,594,095	1,594,095	30.0%	500,000	70.0%	1,100,000	11
Professional Fees	Gross Proceeds for Distribution	204,672,456	58,156,329	33.5%	19,500,000	64.1%	37,300,000	12
	Costs Associated with Liquidation							
					3,800,000			
Name Proceeds 14,200,000 32,000,000 1,100,00				_	1,500,000	_	1,500,000	
Committed Name Na	Total Costs Associated with Liquidation / Sale				5,300,000		5,300,000	13
	Net Proceeds			-	14,200,000	-	32,000,000	14
	Chapter 7 Trustee Fees				600,000		1,100,000	15
Catamis Waterfall Came Catamis Waterfall Came Catamis	Total Net Proceeds for Distribution				13,600,000	_	30,900,000	16
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution	Estimated Distributions			I	1129(a)(7) - l	Estimated Di	stributions	
Administrative Claims 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 2,900,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 4,780,000 1,800,000 2,800,000 1,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,800,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 2,900,000 <td>Claims Waterfall</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>Low</td> <td></td> <td>High</td> <td></td>	Claims Waterfall				Low		High	
Recovery Percentage	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				13,600,000		30,900,000	
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 11,800,000 29,100,000 20,00	Administrative Claims				1,800,000		1,800,000	17
Priority Tax Claims 20,000 20,000 100,0%	Recovery Percentage				100.0%		100.0%	
Recovery Percentage 100.0%	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				11,800,000		29,100,000	
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 4 - Settled Priority Claims Recovery Percentage Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 1 - Priority Non-Tax Claims Recovery Percentage Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 1 - Priority Non-Tax Claims Say,000 Class 3 - WARN Act Claims Recovery Percentage Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Recovery Percentage Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distributio	Priority Tax Claims						20,000	18
Class 4 - Settled Priority Claims	Recovery Percentage				100.0%		100.0%	
Class 4 - Settled Priority Claims	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				11,780,000		29,080,000	
Recovery Percentage 100.0%	- '				4,780,000		4,780,000	19
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 7,000,000 24,300,000 Class 1 - Priority Non-Tax Claims 530,000 530,000 Class 2 - WARN Act Claims 3,500,000 3,500,000 Priority Non-Tax and WARN Act Claims - Total 4,030,000 4,030,000 Recovery Percentage 100.0% 100.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Class 2 - Other Secured Claims 0 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,470,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 482,000,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 482,000,000 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Class 6 - Intercompany Claims 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for								
Class 1 - Priority Non-Tax Claims 530,000 530,000 Class 3 - WARN Act Claims 3,500,000 3,500,000 Priority Non-Tax and WARN Act Claims - Total 4,030,000 4,030,000 Recovery Percentage 100.0% 100.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Class 2 - Other Secured Claims 0 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,470,000 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 12,800,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 482,000,000 Recovery Percentage 0.0% 2.7% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Recovery Percentage 0.0% 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0					7 000 000		04 000 000	
Class 3 - WARN Act Claims 3,500,000 3,500,000 Priority Non-Tax and WARN Act Claims - Total 4,030,000 4,030,000 Recovery Percentage 100.0% 100.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Class 2 - Other Secured Claims 0 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,470,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 482,000,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 482,000,000 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Recovery Percentage N/A <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>								
Priority Non-Tax and WARN Act Claims - Total 4,030,000 4,030,000 100.0% 10	•				ŕ			
Recovery Percentage 100.0% 100				-		-		
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 2 - Other Secured Claims 0 0 0 0 100.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,470,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 12,800,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 Recovery Percentage 0.0% 2.7% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	•							20
Class 2 - Other Secured Claims Recovery Percentage 100.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims Recovery Percentage Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 6 - Intercompany Claims Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution O Class 6 - Intercompany Claims Recovery Percentage N/A N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution O O O O O O O O O O O O O	Recovery Percentage				100.0%		100.0%	
Recovery Percentage 100.0% 100.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 2,970,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,470,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,470,000 20,270,000 Additional Dilution Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 12,800,000 A82,000,000 A8	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				2,970,000		20,270,000	
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,4	Class 2 - Other Secured Claims				0		0	21
Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,4	Recovery Percentage				100.0%		100.0%	
Additional Dilution - Less Favorable Administrative and Priority Claims Settlements 7,470,000 7,4	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				2,970,000		20,270,000	
Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 12,800,000 Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims 741,800,000 482,000,000 Recovery Percentage 0.0% 2.7% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 0 Class 6 - Intercompany Claims 0 0 0 Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 0		Settlements						22
Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims Recovery Percentage 0.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 6 - Intercompany Claims Recovery Percentage N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0					., 0,000		.,,	
Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims Recovery Percentage 0.0% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution Class 6 - Intercompany Claims Recovery Percentage N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				0		12,800,000	
Recovery Percentage 0.0% 2.7% Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0 Class 6 - Intercompany Claims 0 0 Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0	Class 5 - General Unsecured Claims				741,800,000		482,000,000	23
Class 6 - Intercompany Claims 0 0 Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0	Recovery Percentage							
Class 6 - Intercompany Claims 0 0 0 Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				0		0	
Recovery Percentage N/A N/A Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution 0 0	Class 6 - Intercompany Claims				0		0	
Total Market Control of Statistics Control o	Recovery Percentage						-	
	Remaining Liquidation Proceeds Available for Distribution				0		0	
	Class 7 - Interests							

Recovery Percentage

Powin, LLC - Liquidation Analysis

11/8/2025

- 1. Cash and Cash Equivalents (as of 12/5/2025) Represents the Debtors' estimated ending unrestricted cash of \$11,500,000 as of the Conversion Date. Ending accessible cash excludes amounts for professional fees incurred during the chapter 11 case as such amounts are separately escrowed. This analysis assumes liquidation proceeds from Cash and Cash Equivalents are 100% of the unaudited book value.
- 2. Accounts Receivables, Net Includes Trade AR, Unbilled Receivables and Intercompany Receivables. The accounts are comprised of balances outstanding from ~30 customers. To assess the Potential Recoverable Value of balances, the outstanding AR amounts for balances greater than \$1.0 million, as indicated in the Company's books and records as of the petition date, were reviewed. Potential liquidated damages, potential other unrecorded adjustments, potential offset rights, conditions to collections and potential known defenses were analysed to determine the Potential Recoverable Value. Based on this analysis, the Debtors expect an effective recovery of 0.0% to 50.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value.
- 3. Contract Assets Represents amounts allowed to be recognized as revenue in excess of the amounts that could be invoiced to the customer based upon milestones achieved. The Debtors do not expect to realize any value from the Contract Assets due to unmet billing milestones as of the Petition Date. Accordingly, no recovery is included for these assets in the Hypothetical Chapter 7 Liquidation Schedule.
- 4. Advances to Suppliers Advances to Suppliers represent prepaid amounts made by the Debtors to vendors. U&L reviewed supplier balances and offset outstanding payables against corresponding advances to determine net positions. Suppliers with a positive net recoverable value after the offset were accordingly considered as Potential Recoverable Value. Based on this analysis, the Debtors expect an effective recovery of 0.0% to 25.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value.
- 5. Inventory Represents inventory remaining after the sale to Purchaser. U&L reviewed the corresponding accounts payable ("AP") for each vendor and deducted those amounts from the Adjusted Book Value. This approach ensures that the residual inventory value is not overstated and that recoveries are measured net of related obligations and liabilities. Based on this analysis, the Debtors expect an effective recovery of 0.0% to 50.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value.
- 6. Other Current Assets Includes software vendor payments and other prepaid expenses, such as prepaid insurance, security deposits for leases and tax receivables. U&L reviewed the vendor prepayments and identified outstanding payables owed to these vendors. These outstanding payables were offset against the corresponding advances to determine the Potential Recoverable Value. Vendors with potential net recoverable value have been considered in the analysis. Based on this analysis, the Debtors estimate an effective recovery of 0.0% to 50.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value for all Other Current Assets.
- 7. Net Restricted Cash Represents the Debtors' restricted cash as of the Conversion Date, comprised of customer escrow accounts. The Debtors expect an effective recovery of 0.0% to 10.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value.
- 8. Property & Equipment Represents the machinery and equipment, furniture and fixtures, and leasehold improvements located at the Debtors leased facilities.
 - a. Machinery and Equipment and Furniture and Fixtures: In the low-case scenario, the costs to access and remove the equipment are assumed to exceed its resale value. In the high-case scenario, it is

11/8/2025

Desc

assumed that the machinery and equipment can be accessed and removed at a reasonable cost within a reasonable timeframe, with a significant portion of the assets expected to have value only as scrap or salvage.

b. Leasehold Improvements: Represents the leasehold improvements made to the Tualatin, Miami and Irvine facilities. Since the facilities are leased and not owned by the Debtors and the leasehold improvements are not transferable, we do not expect any recovery from these improvements.

Based on this analysis, the Debtors expect an effective recovery of 0.0% to 10.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value.

- 9. Investment in Subsidiaries Represents investments made in other subsidiaries. These subsidiaries are no longer operating and have no equity value. Accordingly, no Potential Recoverable Value is identified.
- 10. Other Non-Current Assets Includes bond collateral deposits, prepaid lease deposits and other vendor deposits. The Debtors expect an effective recovery of 50.0% to 90.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value.
- 11. Additional Assets Includes items not recorded in the statement of assets but identified as potentially recoverable. These include litigation claims, sales tax refunds, insurance claims, receivables for post-petition services and deposit returns. The receivables for post-petition services reflect continued service of Powin's Remote Operations Center ("ROC") from the Petition Date to August 18, 2025, the date which Powin was sold to Purchaser. During this period, the ROC continued to provide full system monitoring, data analytics, alerts, and support – helping maintain uptime and safety of customer assets. Based on this analysis, the Debtors expect an effective recovery of 30.0% to 70.0% of the Potential Recoverable Value for all Additional Assets.
- 12. Gross Proceeds for Distribution Represents the gross value generated through the sale / disposition of the Debtors' assets prior to payment of wind-down Expenses, other chapter 7 administrative claims, and other claims.
- 13. Wind-down & Sale Costs Represents the expenses related to maintaining systems during the wind-down, professional fees and other costs of the Estates. Professional fees are assumed to include counsel fees. accountants and other professionals. Other wind-down costs represent software & IT, insurance and the costs required to employ a portion of the Debtors' employee base as independent contractors to support the liquidation. These individuals will primarily be responsible for providing historical knowledge and insight to the chapter 7 Trustee regarding the Debtors' businesses and concluding the administrative liquidation of the businesses after the sale of substantially all of the Debtors' assets. The Debtors estimate that wind-down, sale and professional fee expenses will be up to approximately \$7 million.
- 14. Net Proceeds Represents the net value generated through the sale and disposition of the Debtors' assets after professional fees and wind-down expenses.
- 15. Chapter 7 Trustee Fees Represents the chapter 7 trustee fees incurred for administering the liquidation pursuant to Section 326(a) of the Bankruptcy Code. The fees are determined on a tiered basis: 25% of the first \$5,000, 10% of the next \$45,000, 5% of amounts exceeding \$50,000 up to \$1,000,000, and 3% of all amounts in excess of \$1,000,000. The Debtors estimate total trustee fees to range between \$600,000 under a low-case scenario and \$1,110,000 under a high-case scenario, representing approximately 3.0% of the total gross distributable values under each scenario.

11/8/2025

Desc

- 16. **Total Net Proceeds for Distribution –** Represents the net value generated through the sale and disposition of the Debtors' assets after wind-down expenses and total chapter 7 trustee and professional fees.
- 17. Administrative Claims The estimated administrative expense claims reflect expenses incurred during the post-petition period but paid on or after the Conversion Date. The Liquidation Analysis assumes that Administrative Claims would receive 100% recovery on account of such claims.
- 18. **Priority Tax Claims** Represents the priority tax claims maintained in the Verita claims register, which have been reviewed and reclassified where necessary. The Liquidation Analysis assumes that Priority Tax Claims would receive 100% recovery on account of such claims.
- 19. Class 4 Settled Priority Claims Represents the Settled Administrative Claims with Ace Engineering, RH Shipping and Chartering and Mainfreight. The Liquidation Analysis assumes that Settled Priority Claims would receive 100% recovery on account of such claims. Each holder of a settled priority claim has agreed to reduce the amount of its asserted administrative claim; to defer recovery or account of such claim until additional liquidity proceeds are available under the Plan. As noted above, there can be no guarantee that these settlements would be available to a chapter 7 trustee.
- 20. Class 1 Priority Non-Tax Claims and Class 3 WARN Act Claims
 - a. Class 1 Priority Non-Tax Claims Represents the priority employee claims maintained in the Verita claims register, which have been reviewed and reclassified where necessary. The analysis includes priority employee claims maintained in the Verita claims register for employees not included in the WARN Class, but terminated within 180 days before the Petition Date, with each claim capped at the \$17,150 statutory limit. The Liquidation Analysis assumes that Priority Non-Tax Claims would receive approximately 100% recovery on account of such claims.
 - b. Class 3 WARN Act Claims Represents a settlement negotiated with WARN claimants for \$500,000 paid at emergence and \$3.0 million paid as additional funds as collected post-emergence. The Liquidation Analysis assumes that WARN Act Claims would receive 100% recovery on account of such claims. As noted above, there can be no guarantee that this settlement would be available to a chapter 7 trustee.
- 21. Class 2 Other Secured Claims Represents secured claims listed as per the claims maintained in the Verita claims register. These claims are listed unimpaired in line with the Plan such that the return of the applicable collateral or authorization of a setoff will satisfy the allowed amount of the Other Secured Claims. Following the return of the applicable collateral or setoff, claimants' remaining claim will be limited to a potential unsecured claim for any deficiency. Pursuant to the Plan, each holder of Other Secured Claims will receive turnover of the collateral securing its claim. The value of such collateral is not included in the determination of net proceeds. Accordingly, the satisfaction of Other Secured Claims does not impact the Liquidation Analysis.
- 22. Additional Dilution Represents additional dilution of proceeds available for distribution to General Unsecured Creditors due to higher realization with ACE, Mainfreight, RH Shipping and WARN Act claimants resulting from the failure to achieve the settlements referenced in note 19.
- 23. Class 5 General Unsecured Claims Represents the estimated General Unsecured Claims as maintained in the Verita claims register and estimates made on the basis of the Debtors' books and records.

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-7 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit G - Liquidation Analysis Page 10 of 10

Powin, LLC - Liquidation Analysis

11/8/2025

- a. Low Estimated Distributions Scenario: The low case represents the General Unsecured Claims maintained in the Verita claims register. Duplicate claims filed across multiple entities have been removed to prevent double counting.
- b. **High Estimated Distributions Scenario:** The high case assumes the midpoint between the claims amount as per the Debtors' books and records and the claims maintained in the Verita claims register.

The Liquidation Analysis assumes that under a Chapter 7 liquidation, General Unsecured Claims would receive up to 2.6% recovery on account of such claims.

EXHIBIT H

(Notice of Settled Priority Claim)

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-8 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit H - Notice of Settled Priority Claim Page 2 of 3

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

In re:	Chapter 11
Powin, LLC, et al.,1	Case No. 25-16137 (MBK)
Debtors.	(Jointly Administered)

NOTICE OF SETTLED PRIORITY CLAIM

The Debtors² submit this *Notice of Settled Priority Claim* regarding the following claims and causes of action:

I. <u>ACE Engineering & Co., Ltd.</u>

ACE Engineering & Co., Ltd.'s ("ACE") has asserted an Administrative Claim in an amount of \$13,520,599.26 pursuant to Section 503(b)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code for goods and services provided to the Debtors within twenty (20) days prior to the Petition Date (the "ACE Administrative Claim"). The Debtors have agreed to resolve the ACE Administrative Claim, subject to Bankruptcy Court approval, as follows:

- ACE shall irrevocably contribute all of its Direct Claims (to the extent of any) to the Direct Claims Trust;
- Selection of the Liquidating Trustee and the forms of the Liquidating Trust
 Agreement and Direct Claims Trust Agreement shall be in a form acceptable to

The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: (i) Powin Project LLC [1583]; (ii) Powin, LLC [0504]; (iii) PEOS Holdings, LLC [5476]; (iv) Powin China Holdings 1, LLC [1422]; (v) Powin China Holdings 2, LLC [9713]; (vi) Charger Holdings, LLC [15241]; (vii) Powin Energy Ontario Storage, LLC [8348]; (viii) Powin Energy Operating Holdings, LLC [2495]; (ix) Powin Energy Operating, LLC [6487]; (x) Powin Energy Storage 2, Inc. [9926]; (xi) Powin Energy Ontario Storage II LP [5787]; (xii) Powin Canada B.C. Ltd. [2239]; and (xiii) Powin EKS SellCo, LLC [9110]. The Debtors' mailing address is 20550 SW 115th Avenue Tualatin, OR 97062.

² Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the *Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [Docket No. 914] (the "Plan").

- ACE, and it being agreed the documents attached to the Plan Supplement and the Liquidating Trustee identified in the Plan Supplement are acceptable to ACE;
- ACE shall receive an Allowed Administrative Claim of \$5,000,000.00 (the "Allowed ACE Administrative Claim");
- ACE shall receive an allowed unsecured claim in the amount of \$105,228,644.71;
- ACE shall receive \$1,000,000.00 in cash on account of the Allowed ACE
 Administrative Claim on the Plan Effective Date; and
- The remaining \$4,000,000.00 (the "<u>Liquidating Trust Amount</u>") of the Allowed ACE Administrative Claim shall be recoverable against the Liquidating Trust; and
- Distributions from the Liquidating Trust on account of the Liquidating Trust
 Amount shall be distributed as follows:
 - ACE shall receive 60% of each distribution from the Liquidating Trust until ACE is paid the full Liquidating Trust Amount; and
 - The remaining 40% of each distribution from the Liquidating Trust shall be shared by Allowed General Unsecured Claims and Allowed Priority Claims at the Trustee's discretion.

EXHIBIT I

(Notice of Settlement of WARN Claims)

Case 25-16137-MBK Doc 1038-9 Filed 11/08/25 Entered 11/08/25 15:59:41 Desc Exhibit I - Notice of Settlement of WARN Claims Page 2 of 3

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

In re:	Chapter 11
Powin, LLC, et al.,1	Case No. 25-16137 (MBK)
Debtors.	(Jointly Administered)

NOTICE OF SETTLEMENT OF WARN CLAIMS

The Debtors² submit this *Notice of Settlement of WARN Claims* regarding the following claims and causes of action:

I. WARN Claims.

As described in the Plan, the Debtors face potential liability related to asserted violations of the WARN Act. The Plan contemplates a settlement of the WARN Act Claims to be memorialized in the Plan Supplement. The Debtors and the putative WARN Act class representative³ have agreed to settle the WARN Act Claims, subject to Bankruptcy Court approval, as follows:

Brian Palomino shall serve as the designated class representative of the Allowed WARN Act Claims (the "WARN Act Class Representative");

The Debtors in these Chapter 11 Cases, along with the last four digits of each Debtor's federal tax identification number, are: (i) Powin Project LLC [1583]; (ii) Powin, LLC [0504]; (iii) PEOS Holdings, LLC [5476]; (iv) Powin China Holdings 1, LLC [1422]; (v) Powin China Holdings 2, LLC [9713]; (vi) Charger Holdings, LLC [15241]; (vii) Powin Energy Ontario Storage, LLC [8348]; (viii) Powin Energy Operating Holdings, LLC [2495]; (ix) Powin Energy Operating, LLC [6487]; (x) Powin Energy Storage 2, Inc. [9926]; (xi) Powin Energy Ontario Storage II LP [5787]; (xii) Powin Canada B.C. Ltd. [2239]; and (xiii) Powin EKS SellCo, LLC [9110]. The Debtors' mailing address is 20550 SW 115th Avenue Tualatin, OR 97062.

² Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the *Joint Combined Disclosure Statement and Chapter 11 Plan of Liquidation of Powin, LLC and Affiliates Thereof and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors* [Docket No. 914] (the "<u>Plan</u>").

³ See Adv. No. 25-01249 and related Claim No. 1, Luis Santiago on Behalf of Himself and All Others.

- The WARN Act Claim Reserve shall be funded on the Effective Date in the amount of \$500,000.00, which shall be distributed to the WARN Act Class Representative for the benefit of members of the class; and
- Following the transfer of the Liquidating Trust Assets to the Liquidating Trust, the WARN Act Class Representative shall be entitled to recover against the Liquidating Trust, for the benefit of members of the class, \$3,000,000.00 in net recoveries subject to payment in full of all Allowed Claims recoverable against the Liquidating Trust in accordance with Section 507 of the Bankruptcy Code.